THE CONTRIBUTIONS OF COGNITIVE ABILITIES TO THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INATTENTION AND ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

by

Demetria Tsantilas

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in School Psychology

at

Mount Saint Vincent University Halifax, Nova Scotia September 2020

© Copyright by Demetria Tsantilas

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my thesis advisor, Dr. Penny Corkum, for her longstanding support and guidance throughout my research, and her substantial contribution to my decision to pursue a career in school psychology. Penny's wealth of knowledge and dedication to the field of school psychology and research have been a true inspiration to me, and it has been a great privilege to have had the opportunity to work with her on this project. I would also like to express my gratitude to my committee member, Dr. Melissa McGonnell, for her invaluable feedback and guidance throughout the completion of this thesis, and for her thorough review of this thesis, which undoubtedly contributed to the quality of the final product. I would like to thank my sisters, Karen and Despina, and my nieces and nephew, who, from across the world and an ocean away, always believed in me and continuously motivated me to do my best. I would also like to thank all my friends for their encouragement and support, especially Jenny, to whom I will be eternally grateful for her unconditional support throughout this entire process in more ways than I could possibly count. A special thank you to my work friends: Tommy and his family, for revolving the schedule of an entire business around my availability; and my coworkers, who listened to my endless rants, nodded politely when I vented, and picked up my shifts at a moment's notice on multiple occasions when I had bitten off more than I could chew. Finally, I would like to dedicate this project to my parents, who instilled in me the value of hard work, dedication, and perseverance, and who always encouraged me to follow my dreams. Mum, thank you for all your sacrifices and continuous unconditional support; Dad, I wish you could have been here to see me.

The completion of this thesis would not have been possible without each and every single one of you!

ii

List of Tables	vi
Abstractv	/ii
List of Abbreviations	iii
Chapter 1. An Overview of Academic Achievement: Importance, Indicators, and Predictors of Academic Underachievement	. 1
Academic Underachievement	2
The Importance of Academic Achievement across the Lifespan	4
Indicators of Academic Achievement	6
Reading	6
Spelling	8
Mathematics 1	10
Predictors of Academic Achievement 1	12
Demographic Factors and Academic Underachievement 1	13
Age 1	13
Sex1	14
Low Birthweight 1	16
Socioeconomic Status (SES) 1	19
Family Structure	20
Cognitive Abilities and Academic Underachievement	23
Verbal-Comprehension Index (VCI)	26
Visual Spatial Index (VSI)2	27
Working Memory Index (WMI) 2	27
Processing Speed Index (PSI) 2	28

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Visual-Motor Integration (VMI)	. 30
Behavioural Factors and Academic Underachievement	. 31
Inattention	. 32
Hyperactivity/Impulsivity	. 35
Cognitive Deficits Associated with Inattentive and Hyperactive Behaviours	. 38
Summary	. 39
Chapter 2. The Contributions of Cognitive Abilities to the Relationship Between Inattention and Academic Achievement	. 42
Introduction	. 42
Summary and Rationale	. 47
Research Objectives	. 48
Method	. 49
Participants	. 49
Measures	. 50
Procedure	. 55
Statistical Analyses	. 55
Results	. 57
Sample Characteristics	. 57
Sample Clinical Description	. 58
Cognitive Ability	. 59
Academic Achievement	. 59
Discussion	64
Strengths, Limitations, and Future Direction	. 71

Cl	linical and Educational Implications	75
Co	onclusions	77
Reference	es	86

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of Total Sample 79
Table 2. Clinical Description of Sample Indicating Number and Percentages ofMental Health Disorders Diagnosed in Sample80
Table 3. Clinical Description of Total Sample, Indicating Numbers and Percentages of Comorbid Diagnoses 81
Table 4. Means, Standard Deviations, and Minimum and Maximum Scores for Inattentive and Hyperactive/Impulsive Symptoms Endorsed on PICS and TTI Based on Parent-Rated (PICS) and Teacher-Rated (TTI) Inattentive and Hyperactive/Impulsive Behaviours
Table 5. Means, Standard Deviations, and Minimum/Maximum Scores for WISC and VMI Indices Presented in Standard Scores 83
Table 6. Means, Standard Deviations, and Minimum/Maximum Scores of WIAT Subtest Standard Scores as Indicators of Academic Achievement in Reading, Spelling, and Math 84
Table 7. Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression Analyses Predicting Academic Achievement in Reading, Spelling, and Mathematics from Background Risk Factors, Cognitive Variables, and Total Symptom Count of Parent- and Teacher-Rated Inattention and Hyperactivity/Impulsivity85

ABSTRACT

The main objective of this study was to examine whether increased levels of inattentive and hyperactive behaviours were associated with lower scores on standardized tests of achievement in basic reading, spelling, and math skills, after accounting for certain known background risk factors and cognitive processes. Clinical assessment data from a rigorously diagnosed, stimulant medication naïve sample of 354 elementary school-aged children experiencing academic difficulties and behavioural symptoms of inattention and/or hyperactivity/impulsivity were analyzed. It was expected that higher scores of inattention, not hyperactivity/impulsivity, would be associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills, and that these associations would persist after accounting for known background risk factors and cognitive processing variables. Results indicated that, although higher levels of inattention were significantly associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math scores, these associations did not persist after accounting for cognitive processes. Important factors for school psychologists to consider when conducting assessments, providing recommendations, and determining interventions for students with academic difficulties and perceived parent- and/or teacher-rated inattention are discussed.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- ADHD = Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder
- ASD = Autism Spectrum Disorder
- CD = Conduct Disorder
- CHC = Cattell-Horn-Carroll theory of intelligence
- DSM = Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
- FRI = Fluid Reasoning Index
- FSIQ = Full-Scale Intelligence Quotient
- GAD = Generalized Anxiety Disorder
- Gc = Comprehension Knowledge (Cattell-Horn-Carroll theory broad ability)
- Gf = Fluid Reasoning (Cattell-Horn-Carroll theory broad ability)
- Gs = Processing Speed (Cattell-Horn-Carroll theory broad ability)
- Gsm = Short-Term Memory (Cattell-Horn-Carroll theory broad ability)
- Gv = Visual Processing (Cattell-Horn-Carroll theory broad ability)
- H/I = Hyperactive/Hyperactivity
- ID = Intellectual Disability
- INA = Inattentive/Inattention
- IQ = Intelligence Quotient
- LBW = Low birthweight
- LD = Learning Disability/ies
- M = Mean
- MDD = Major Depressive Disorder
- MH Disorder = Mental Health Disorder

N = Sample size

- OCD = Obsessive Compulsive Disorder
- ODD = Oppositional Defiant Disorder
- OSD = Obstructive Sleep Disorder
- PICS = Parent Interview for Child Symptoms
- PSI = Processing Speed Index
- PTSD = Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
- SD = Standard Deviation
- SES = Socioeconomic Status
- STEM = Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics
- TD = Typically Developing
- TTI = Teacher Telephone Interview
- VCI = Verbal Comprehension Index
- VMI = Visual-Motor Integration
- VSI = Visual Spatial Index
- WIAT = Weschler Individual Achievement Test
- WISC = Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children
- WMI = Working Memory Index

CHAPTER 1. AN OVERVIEW OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT: IMPORTANCE, INDICATORS, AND PREDICTORS OF ACADEMIC UNDERACHIEVEMENT

Academic achievement can be defined as a cumulative process that involves learning new academic skills and improving existing skills (Entwisle & Alexander, 1990; Pungello et al., 1996). Decades of research has established prior academic achievement as an important predictor of future academic achievement (Casillas et al., 2012), as well as future educational, psychosocial, and functional outcomes across the lifespan (Lansford et al., 2016). The importance of academic achievement in multiple domains across the lifespan has led to a substantial amount of research investigating which factors increase the risk of poor academic achievement, and several demographic, cognitive, and behavioural risk factors have been identified. However, academic achievement is a complex, multidimensional structure that is thought to be affected by several factors across development (Arnold et al., 2020), and the relationship between academic achievement and known risk factors is not always clear. For example, students with attention difficulties, which is the focus of the research study that follows this review, have consistently been shown to experience difficulties with academic achievement (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013; Daley & Birchwood, 2010; Mulholland, 2017). However, other factors, such as demographic characteristics or cognitive abilities, are thought to influence this relationship (Polderman et al., 2010). The literature review that follows provides an overview of these relationships.

This literature review will first define academic underachievement and discuss its importance across the lifespan. A brief overview of three important indicators of academic achievement, specifically reading, spelling, and math, will then be provided and the importance of these indicators throughout schooling and into adulthood will be discussed. An overview of specific demographic, cognitive, and behavioural predictors of academic achievement will then be provided. Demographic predictors will focus on age, sex, low birthweight, socioeconomic status, and family structure. Cognitive predictors will focus on cognitive abilities including verbal comprehension, visual spatial ability, working memory, processing speed, and visualmotor integration. Lastly, behavioural predictors will include inattentive and hyperactive/impulsive behaviours. Of note, these factors do not represent the entirety of factors that have been associated with academic achievement.

Academic Underachievement

Academic underachievement can be broadly defined as a negative discrepancy between the level a student is achieving academically relative to the student's cognitive abilities (Preckel & Brunner, 2015) or normative age (Rogers et al., 2011). Although several definitions have been postulated, currently, there is no universally accepted definition of academic underachievement (Shapiro & Schor, 2020). The lack of a universally accepted definition can, in part, be attributed to the inconsistent definitions and the types of outcome measures, namely subjective versus objective measures, used across studies (Preckel, 2006). Objective measures consist of standardized tests of achievement, in which underachievement is defined by scores below a specific cut-off point, typically one or more standard deviations below the mean (Preckel, 2006). Conversely, subjective measures often include grades or Grade Point Averages (GPAs), teacherrated performance or progress, or curriculum-based outcomes (Gray et al., 2017; Langberg et al., 2011). While this type of measurement is typically referred to as academic performance (Langberg et al., 2011), several studies refer to it as academic achievement (e.g., Hoffmann, 2018). Although research has established that academic achievement and academic performance are separate indices that measure separate outcomes (Loe & Feldman, 2007), these terms are often used interchangeably.

Subjective measures are often influenced by factors that are not directly related to academic skills, such as prior grades, behaviour, demographics, motivation, effort, engagement, progress/improvement, and persistence (Brookhart et al., 2016). Factors beyond test scores and academic skills have been shown to determine grades, particularly in elementary school-aged students (Brookhart, 1994; Brookhart et al., 2016). Nevertheless, academic performance is considered to have strong ecological validity (Langberg et al., 2011), and teacher-assigned grades are among the strongest predictors of high school graduation and post-secondary education (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Bowers, 2014; Cliffordson, 2008). Given that university acceptance is most often based on grades, the association between grades and post-secondary education is not surprising.

Objective measures of academic achievement directly quantify academic skills (e.g., reading, math) relative to a student's normative age, which are most accurately measured by standardized achievement test scores (Gray et al., 2017). Standardized tests of achievement are thought to minimize potential confounding factors such as teacher bias, and when administered individually, are thought to minimize the variance associated with student-related factors (e.g., attention, motivation, effort; Kaufmann et al., 2012). The most notable disadvantages of standardized tests of academic achievement are the time and resources required for their administration and their lack of sensitivity to short-term treatment effects (Shapiro, 2011). Additionally, although standardized test scores are thought to be comparable across studies (Kaufman et al., 2012; Watkins et al., 2007), cut-off points vary across studies and are often arbitrarily assigned (Dombrowski et al., 2004; Shaywitz et al., 1992). Similar to subjective

measures, standardized tests of achievement are strong predictors of future academic success and educational attainment (Casillas et al., 2012; Kaufman et. al., 2012).

Despite inconsistencies in definitions and measurement methodologies, existing definitions converge in that students are considered to be underachieving academically when outcome scores are below what would be expected given their cognitive abilities (Preckel & Brunner, 2015)), or normative age (Rogers et al., 2011). Additionally, regardless of definitions and measurement methodologies, academic underachievement has been consistently associated with poor functional outcomes across the lifespan (Brookhart et al., 2016; Lansford et al., 2016).

The Importance of Academic Achievement across the Lifespan

Academic achievement has been a topic of interest for several decades and has been researched extensively by disciplines such as education, sociology, criminology, economics, health, and psychology. Given the wide range of short- and long-term adverse functional outcomes across the lifespan that have been consistently associated with impaired academic achievement, this cross-discipline interest is not surprising. In the short-term (i.e., throughout schooling), academic underachievement has been associated with truancy, suspension, expulsion (Hoffmann et al., 2013; van Lier et al., 2012), grade retention, academic failure, and school dropout (Tremblay et al., 1992; Wagner, 1995). Importantly, the link between early academic underachievement and continued academic difficulties throughout schooling has been well-established in the literature (Casillas et al., 2012). Students who are academically underachieving as early as Grade 1 are more likely to have poor reading and math scores in Grade 12, more likely be suspended and to require remedial education services, and less likely to graduate from high school (Darney et al., 2013). The increased likelihood of high school dropout is of particular importance, as failure to graduate from high school, and subsequent lower levels of educational

attainment, have consistently been associated with a multitude of long-term persistent adverse psychosocial outcomes in adulthood (Lansford et al., 2016).

In the long-term, academic underachievement and failure to graduate from high school have been associated with employment problems, lower income, and dependence on government assistance (Lansford et al., 2016). Lower levels of education have also been associated with an increased likelihood of nicotine dependence, mental health problems, and suicide attempts (Maynard et al., 2015; Vaughn et al., 2014). Additionally, prevalence rates of chronic disease and early death are higher in adults with low levels of education (Vaughn et al., 2014). This association is thought to be influenced by the relationship between lower levels of education, health risk behaviours (e.g., smoking, being overweight, and sedentary lifestyle), and lower income (e.g., unsafe neighborhoods, unhealthy food, lack of high-quality health care; Cuttler, & Lleras-Muney, 2006; Lantz et al., 2010). Furthermore, adults who have not graduated from high school are at increased risk of substance abuse (Ford et al., 2020) and are more likely to be incarcerated. In the United States, 57% of inmates have not received a high school degree (Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2013), with some studies reporting rates as high as 75-80% (Bonczar, 2003; Pettit & Western, 2004; The Sentencing Project, 2004). In Canada, 74% of the prison population has not graduated from high school, with Grade 7 reported as the average education level of newly admitted offenders (Ungerleider & Burns, 2002, as cited in Hankivsky, 2008).

The associations between academic underachievement and adverse short- and long-term outcomes have been well-documented and undisputed in the literature. According to the literature, it appears that academic underachievement creates a cascading effect of conditions that increase the risk of decreased functioning throughout school and into adulthood. Academic

underachievement as early as kindergarten increases the likelihood of experiencing negative consequences (e.g., grade retention, suspension, expulsion) and continued underachievement, which in turn could potentially result in high school dropout and subsequent adverse outcomes in adulthood. Despite decades of research, disentangling the relationships between predictors and outcomes of academic underachievement has proven difficult, and it continues to be a prominent research topic.

Indicators of Academic Achievement

This review will focus on objectively measured academic achievement. The following section provides a brief overview of three academic skills, specifically reading, spelling, and math, that are often measured through standardized tests of academic achievement (such as the Weschler Individual Achievement Test; WIAT; Wechsler, 2009) to assess academic achievement. The importance of these skills in overall academic functioning and their associations with functional outcomes across the lifespan are discussed.

Reading. Reading has been broadly defined as the process of extracting and constructing meaning from written symbols that represent speech (Snow, 2002; Xu et al., 2015). Although the ultimate goal of reading is to understand written text (i.e., reading comprehension), reading can be conceptualized as an overarching term that encompasses several complex, correlated yet separable, processes and skills, such as decoding and reading comprehension skills (Christopher et al., 2012). Decoding, which is considered a basic reading skill and an essential component in the development of vocabulary and reading comprehension skills (Perfetti, 1992; Samuels, 1994; Stanovich, 2000), refers to the ability to rapidly and accurately identify printed words by transforming printed letters, or groups of letters (letter strings), into sounds (Perfetti, 1985). The automatization of decoding skills is thought to free available cognitive resources and facilitate

the acquisition of new vocabulary and new knowledge (National Reading Panel, 2000; Samuels & Flor, 1997; Spear-Swerling & Sternberg, 1994). Difficulty with decoding words is frequently considered a causal factor in reading comprehension problems, with an estimated 85-90% of children with comprehension difficulties also experiencing decoding difficulties (Stothard & Hulme, 1995; Yuill & Oakhill, 1991). Children with good decoding skills are more likely to engage in reading activities than children with decoding difficulties (Cunningham & Stanovich, 1991). Unsurprisingly, increased engagement in reading activities is associated with greater reading competence across development (Guthrie et al., 1999). Also unsurprisingly, decreased reading engagement in early grades has been shown to predict both a general overall aversion to future reading and a specific increased disengagement from reading books that are important to a student's education, such as history, science, and math text books (Grigg et al., 2003; Perie et al., 2005).

Reading is considered one of the most important academic skills a student can learn and a foundational skill necessary for learning school material across all subjects (Lesnick et al., 2010). The importance of reading is understandable given that students require grade-level reading skills in order to read grade-level textbooks and learn most school-related subjects. Consequently, students with reading difficulties will struggle to maintain good grades and to do well academically across most subjects. Early reading difficulties are persistent, with an estimated 75% of students experiencing reading difficulties in Grade 3 continuing to struggle to read in Grade 9 (Francis et al., 1996). Additionally, students with reading difficulties in Grade 3 are more likely to experience behavioural difficulties, social problems, grade retention, and are less likely to graduate from high school or attend university (Feister et al., 2010).

Reading difficulties have not only been associated with subsequent poor academic achievement throughout school (Willcutt et al., 2007b), but also with adverse functional outcomes in adulthood, such as psychosocial difficulties (Copeland et al., 2010; Richards et al., 2001), unskilled employment and lower occupational status (Dubow et al., 2006), and unemployment or income that falls below the poverty level (Kutner et al., 2007). Considering the importance of reading for learning throughout school, the associations between reading difficulties and future academic success, as well as the associations between reading and adult functional outcomes, it is unsurprising that reading is the most studied academic skill.

Spelling. Spelling has been defined as the process of converting oral language into graphically represented symbols based on a set of rules or conventions (Hodges, 1984), and has been conceptualized as a component skill of writing (Juel, 1988; Juel et al., 1986). According to the simple view of writing, writing consists of lower order skills, such as spelling and transcription, and higher order skills, such as generating, planning, and organizing ideas (Hayes & Flower, 1980; Juel, 1988; Juel et al., 1986; Scardamalia & Bereiter, 1986). Spelling skills have been shown to predict writing composition skills consistently from Grade 1 through to Grade 7 (Abbott et al., 2010). Research suggests that students with spelling difficulties may forget writing ideas initially generated because the task of spelling increases cognitive demands and limits the cognitive resources available to integrate and write ideas coherently (Graham, Berninger et al., 1997). Empirical studies have provided support for this theory, suggesting that poor spelling skills can impede an individual's available cognitive resources and create difficulties in efficiently generating writing ideas (Abbott & Berninger, 1993; Moats, 2006). Brain imaging studies have also provided support for increased arousal in brain regions thought to house the

executive functions of working memory in children with spelling difficulties when they are attempting to spell words to compose written text (Richards et al., 2012).

Difficulties with spelling and writing composition have been shown to be strongly associated with impairments visual-motor integration skills (Berninger et al., 1992). Visual-motor integration skills are commonly referred to as a combination of hand-eye coordination skills and fine-motor control (Beery et al., 2010) and will be discussed in greater detail in the *Cognitive Abilities* section below. Briefly, difficulties with these skills are thought to increase cognitive demands necessary for the efficient acquisition of academic skills, such as spelling, writing, and reading (Berninger et al., 1992; Son & Meisels, 2006; Sulik et al., 2018). Spelling and reading skills are thought to develop synergistically and reciprocally (Ehri, 2000), but not in complete parallel (Abbott et al., 2010). For example, children with reading difficulties almost always have difficulties (Fayol et al., 2009). However, children without reading difficulties are typically able to read many more words than they can spell (Berninger et al., 2002) and sometimes continue to experience spelling difficulties (Foorman et al., 2010).

A student's ability to write (i.e., produce legible letters using correct spelling to create written texts) is of major importance throughout school across all subject areas, as a considerable amount of schoolwork consists of written assignments and tests (Abbott, 2010). As students progress through school to increasingly higher grades, the demands for written work increase. Students with spelling and writing difficulties are at increased risk of failing tests, receiving low grades (as a result of incomplete, unsubmitted, or low-quality assignments), and grade retention (Abbott et al., 2010; Jenkins et al., 2004). Spelling difficulties are stable, persisting into adolescents and adulthood, and have been associated with high levels of impairments in day-to-

day literacy-related tasks that often result in adults opting for low-skilled occupations without literacy demands (Maughan et al., 2009). With business leaders currently identifying writing as a necessary skill in the workplace, adults with spelling and writing difficulties are more likely to experience difficulty finding employment (Aschliman, 2016; National Commission on Writing, 2004). Understandably, the ability to communicate ideas in writing is a necessary and critical skill not only in school, but also in the workplace and in everyday life situations (Aschliman, 2016; Capodieci et al, 2018).

Mathematics. Basic math skills consist of procedural and conceptual math skills (National Research Council, 2005). Procedural skills refer to the step-by-step processes applied to solve math tasks, whereas conceptual skills refer to a deep understanding of math facts, relationships, and patterns, and the ability to link newly learned concepts to previously learned concepts (Miller & Hudson, 2007). Procedural and conceptual skills are thought to develop interactively, with improvements in one skill leading to improvements in the other (Rittle-Johnson & Alibali, 1999; Rittle-Johnson et al., 2001). Additionally, math proficiency requires declarative math knowledge, defined as automaticity in retrieving math facts from memory (Miller & Hudson, 2007). Declarative math knowledge has been shown to facilitate skill retention and concept generalization, and to help students progress to more advanced mathematics (Ivarie, 1986; Miller & Heward, 1992). These skills are necessary for math calculations from simple single-digit addition in lower elementary grades, to advanced math problems in upper grades in high school.

Math skills are hierarchical and learned sequentially with each skill increasing in complexity and building upon previously learned skills (Fuchs et al., 2015; Koponen et al., 2016; Miller & Hudson, 2007). Unlike reading, where students "learn to read" by Grade 3 and are

expected to "read to learn" from Grade 3 onwards (Chall, 1983), new and increasingly complex math skills and concepts are learned throughout all levels of school. Given the highly hierarchical nature of math skills, it is unsurprising that early math skills are critical for the acquisition and proficiency of subsequent math skills (Cowan et al., 2011; National Mathematics Advisory Panel, 2008). Difficulties with basic math facts, such as basic addition or subtraction facts, are thought to limit the cognitive resources available for more complex math tasks (Geary & Hoard, 2005). Research suggests that math skills are highly stable across grades (Aunola et al., 2004; Jordan et al., 2006), and mastering basic math skills, such as arithmetic, is essential to learning more complex math skills (Cowan et al., 2011; National Mathematics Advisory Panel, 2008).

Early math skills have been shown to predict not only later math skills, but also later achievement across all academic domains, overall educational attainment, and functional outcomes in adulthood (Duncan et al. 2007). Students with strong math skills are more likely to be involved in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) programs and pursue a post-secondary education within these disciplines (National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, 2000). With STEM disciplines being among the fastest growing occupational clusters (Carnevale, 2014), and with math difficulties persisting into adulthood (Williams et al., 2003), adults with poor math skills are disadvantaged by fewer options occupationally (Ritchie & Bates, 2013). Math difficulties throughout school have also been shown to predict adverse functional outcomes in adulthood, such as low income, poor health, increased vulnerability for depression, and increased criminality (Parsons & Bynner, 2005). Additionally, math skills at 7years old have been shown to be strong predictors of adult socioeconomic status at 42-years old (Ritchie & Bates, 2013). Despite the functional impairments that have been consistently

associated with math difficulties throughout school and across the lifespan, research on math skills is a relatively new and emerging field that has been studied substantially less than reading skills.

Predictors of Academic Achievement

Empirical literature has consistently identified several demographic, cognitive, and behavioural factors that are associated with academic underachievement. The main focus of the research study that follows this review is the relationship between inattention and academic underachievement. The selection of variables in the study that follows was guided by previous research suggesting that demographic and cognitive factors should be taken into account in studies investigating the relationship between inattention and academic achievement to avoid potential confounding (Polderman, 2010). Therefore, this review will focus on factors that previous research has identified as important predictors to include in studies investigating this relationship. Notably, certain demographic variables (e.g., age, sex, socioeconomic status) are commonly included in research investigating this relationship. The factors included in this review do not represent the entirety of factors that have been shown to predict academic achievement.

The following section provides a brief overview of certain demographic factors (age, sex, low birthweight, socioeconomic status, and family structure), cognitive factors (verbal comprehension, visual spatial ability, working memory, processing speed, and visual-motor integration), and behavioural factors (inattention and hyperactivity/impulsivity). The individual contribution of these factors to academic underachievement has been well-established in the literature. However, these factors have not been studied together to determine their overall influence on academic achievement. Importantly, these risk factors not only tend to co-occur but

have also been shown to influence each other. The section that follows will discuss the direct associations between each factor and academic achievement, as well as the relationships between these factors and other key variables.

Demographic Factors and Academic Underachievement

Age. Increasing age has been shown to differentially affect academic functioning across development and throughout schooling (DuPaul & Langberg, 2014; Polderman et al., 2010). Notably, factors such as motivation, peer relationships, social skills, school engagement, and study skills, have been shown to exert a greater effect on academic achievement in higher grades (Abikoff et al., 2013). Given that students suspected of academic underachievement are typically identified by their teachers, teacher perceptions of student progress are an essential component of the identification process (Jenkins & Kilpatrick-Demaray, 2015). However, teacher perceptions of student progress appear to vary as a function of student age. For example, teacher grading practices have been shown to vary by grade level, with lower elementary grade teachers using less formal evidence of learning compared to teachers of older students (Brookhart, 1994). Additionally, teachers are more tolerant of disruptive behaviours and more likely to rate behaviours as less disruptive for students in lower elementary grades than in later grades (Lundervolt et al., 2017). Teacher ratings of behaviour problems in higher elementary grades have been shown to be better predictors of future academic achievement than ratings from lower elementary grades (Lundervolt et al., 2017).

In terms of the associations between age, attention difficulties, and academic achievement, deficits in attentional skills are thought to influence academic functioning at a greater level with increasing age as academic demands increase with grade progression (DuPaul & Langberg, 2014). Similarly, planning and organization skills are also thought to affect

academic functioning with increasing age, as older students are expected to assume greater responsibility for managing and organizing their homework, assignments, and school materials (Abikoff et al., 2013). Parents and teachers typically provide fewer prompts and reminders to children after Grade 3 or 4, which is thought to result in difficulties with planning and organizing becoming more evident at that age (Evans et al., 2005).

Given the relationships between age, inattention, and academic achievement at different developmental stages, it has been suggested that age could potentially confound results, and therefore, should be taken into account in studies investigating academic achievement and inattention (Lundervolt et al, 2017; Polderman et al., 2010; Salla et al., 2016).

Sex. Historically, research has identified differences between boys and girls in several areas of academic functioning. For example, studies suggest that boys receive higher scores than girls on tests of math achievement (Weaver-Hightower, 2003), whereas girls enter school with better developed literacy skills than boys (Ready et al., 2005) and score higher than boys in areas of literacy (Lesnick, et al., 2010; Ready et al., 2005; Reynolds et al., 2015). However, these differences in academic functioning between boys and girls tend to vary across developmental stages, and often depend on the specific skills being assessed (Reynolds et al., 2015). For example, although boys receive higher scores than girls on math concepts and problem-solving tasks, this difference tends to emerge in high school (Lindberg et al., 2010). Similarly, girls tend to score higher than boys on early basic math tasks, but this difference no longer exists in high school (Hyde et al., 1990). Similar trends have been shown in reading tasks. For example, girls score higher than boys on word decoding tasks, whereas boys score higher on nonsense word decoding tasks (Lachance & Mazzocco, 2006). Additionally, although girls enter school with higher reading skills, by Grade 8, the difference between boys and girls in reading skills is more

pronounced in lower achieving students (Robinson & Lubienski, 2011). Although differences between boys and girls in reading and math appear to vary across developmental stage and tasks, girls have consistently been found to perform better than boys in all writing tasks (i.e., spelling, essay composition) across all developmental stages (Hedges & Nowell, 1995; Camarata & Woodcock, 2006; Reynolds et al., 2015).

Differences have also been found in certain cognitive abilities at the elementary school level, with girls receiving higher scores than boys on tasks measuring verbal abilities (Keith et al. 2011; Reynolds et al., 2008) and processing speed (Keith et al. 2011), and boys receiving higher scores than girls on visual processing tasks (Keith et al. 2011; Jirout & Newcombe 2015; Palejwala & Fine 2014). Although these differences tend to decrease with age, girls continue to score higher than boys on measures of processing speed across the lifespan (Keith et al. 2011). Notably, differences in verbal and visual processing abilities, although statistically significant, tend to be small and vary across measures (Scheiber et al., 2016).

Differences have also been noted between boys and girls in other areas that are thought to affect overall academic functioning. For example, research suggests that boys are more likely than girls to have classroom behaviour problems, which are thought to affect literacy skills (Ready et al., 2005). Additionally, compared to girls, boys are more likely to receive lower grades (Dauber et al., 1993; McCoy & Reynolds, 1999) and remedial education services (Oswald et al., 2003), experience grade retention (Meisels & Liaw, 1993; Ready et al., 2005), suspension and expulsion (Gregory et al., 2010), and less be likely to graduate from high school (Dauber et al., 1993; McCoy & Reynolds, 1999). Differences between boys and girls have also been found in the age, trajectory, and rate of brain maturation which are thought to explain the differences in behaviour and onset of puberty (Lenroot et al., 2007). Boys are also overrepresented in certain

mental health disorders, such as Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD), Conduct Disorder (CD), and Learning Disabilities (LD), which are known to affect academic achievement (APA, 2013). Notably, boys and girls diagnosed with mental health disorders tend to present with different symptoms. For example, boys diagnosed with ADHD are more often hyperactive and/or impulsive than girls with ADHD, and girls with ADHD are more often inattentive than hyperactive and/or impulsive (Günther et al., 2010).

Overall, research has identified differences between boys and girls in areas of academic skills, cognitive abilities, behaviour, school functioning, and mental health. Given the differences between boys in girls in a wide range of factors that could potentially influence academic achievement, researchers studying academic achievement have suggested that sex differences could be confounding factors and should be taken into account to avoid potential bias (Polderman et al., 2010).

Low Birthweight. Low birthweight (LBW) is defined as a weight of less than 2500 grams at birth and is typically associated with preterm birth, defined as a gestational age of less than 36 weeks (Taylor et al., 2019). Advancements in technology and improvements in neonatal intensive care have led to a decrease in the gestational age and birthweight at which infants are considered viable, and subsequently, an increase in the survival rates of children born preterm with LBW (Richardson et al., 1998; van Veen et al., 2018). Although this interruption in the natural developmental processes disrupts the development of all vital organs, the brain, the heart, and the lungs are more susceptible to vulnerabilities at this developmental stage than other organs (Goldenberg et al., 2007; Luu et al., 2016; Rees & Inder, 2005). Consequently, this disruption leads to a greater risk of neurological and health-related vulnerabilities across the

lifespan (Van Baar et al., 2005; Saigal & Doyle, 2008). Children born preterm with LBW have been shown to be at an increased risk for developing chronic health problems, cognitive impairments, attention deficits, motor impediments, social emotional problems, and difficulties with academic functioning (Aarnoudse-Moens et al., 2011; Van Baar et al., 2005;; Doyle et al., 2014; Roberts et al., 2011).

Compared to their full-term peers, children born preterm with LBW experience higher rates of developmental delays and impairments that are known to hinder academic progress. For example, preschool children who were born with LBW have higher incidence rates of motor difficulties (Potharst et al., 2011), cognitive impairments (Arpi et al., 2019), and language delays (Barre et al., 2011), and consequently, often meet developmental milestones later than expected (Saigal & Doyle, 2008). Studies report an estimated 30% to 75% of LBW children continue to experience difficulties with motor, cognitive, and language skills at school entry (Aarnoudse-Moens et al., 2011, Arpi et al., 2019). Subsequently, they may enter formal schooling with poor school readiness skills (Shah et al., 2016), which is a known risk factor for continued academic underachievement (Duncan et al., 2007). During their early school years, LBW children often require speech therapy, occupational therapy, physical therapy, and/or remedial education services (van Veen et al., 2018). Although remedial interventions have been shown to improve functioning to varying degrees, these difficulties often persist throughout school and into adulthood (Aarnoudse-Moens et al., 2009; Mulder et al., 2009; Matthewson et al., 2017).

Throughout schooling, a large proportion of children born with LBW have been shown to experience a wide range of cognitive impairments. Compared to their full-term peers, children born with LBW obtain lower scores on tests of cognitive abilities (Hirschberger et al. 2018), with a substantial proportion scoring more than one standard deviation below their same-aged peers

(Hallin et al., 2010; Joseph et al., 2016). Cognitive impairments appear to be global, with deficits noted across all cognitive abilities (Hirschberger et al. 2018; Johnson et al., 2018; Joseph et al., 2016). Given the well-documented association between cognitive impairments and academic functioning (Deary et al., 2007; Kaufman et al., 2012; Lynn & Meisenberg, 2010; Rindermann, 2007), the academic difficulties experienced by this population is unsurprising. Academic underachievement in this population is evident when measured by standardized measures of academic achievement (Joseph et al, 2016; Saigal et al., 2008), as well as when measured by grades (Halin et al., 2010). Although several studies indicate more pronounced difficulties in math skills (Aarnoudse-Moens et al., 2009), difficulties have been noted across all academic domains and often persist into adolescence (Costa et al., 2017; Joseph et al., 2016; Johnson et al., 2011; Saigal et al., 2008). Consequently, high rates of LBW children require remedial academic services and experience grade retention (Pritchard et al., 2014), with rates increasing during middle childhood and adolescence (Saigal et al., 2008).

LBW children also experience high incidence rates of neurodevelopmental and other mental health disorders, which are known to affect academic achievement (Hirschberger et al., 2018). In fact, the prevalence of any psychiatric diagnosis across the lifespan is more than three times higher in preterm or LBW individuals compared to full-term and normal birthweight controls (Burnett et al., 2011). LBW has been associated with high rates of LD, ASD, Intellectual Disability (ID), anxiety and depressive disorders, cerebral palsy, and epilepsy (Burnett et al., 2011; Gardener et al., 2011; Hirschberger et al., 2018; Leavy et al., 2013). Of particular interest, LBW children are approximately three to six times more likely than their full-term peers to be diagnosed with ADHD (Franz et al., 2018). Interestingly, although ADHD is typically characterized by a male predominance in the general population, a recent metanalysis found a

substantially higher prevalence of ADHD in females than in males born at LBW (Franz et al., 2018). Notably, severe attention problems are commonly present in LBW children, even when they do not meet diagnostic criteria for a diagnosis (Matthewson et al., 2017).

Socioeconomic Status (SES). SES can be conceptualized as an indicator of an individual's access to collectively desired resources, such as material goods, wealth, power, friendship networks, healthcare, leisure time, or educational opportunities (Oakes & Rossi 2003). Since SES is a latent variable and cannot be directly measured, contemporary measures typically quantify SES through univariate proxy measures such income, educational attainment, or occupation, or through composite measures that include a combination of these indicators (Conger et al., 2010; Oakes, nd). These indicators of SES are positively correlated (Ensminger & Fothergill, 2003) but demonstrate different levels of stability across time (Duncan & Magnuson, 2003). Although no indicator or composite measure is considered a perfect measure of SES, educational attainment is considered the most stable indicator of SES (Oakes, nd; Sirin, 2005) and has been found to be a strongest predictor of occupational status and income (Becker et al., 2019). Given its influence on subsequent occupation and income, education is thought to be the fundamental component of SES (Krieger et al., 1997; Mueller & Parcel, 1981), and is one of the most frequently used indicators of SES (Conger et al., 2010)

The SES of the family an individual is born into has been shown to be associated with a wide range of outcomes, including academic achievement (Caro, 2009). The association between low SES and academic underachievement has been well-established and undisputed in the literature for decades (Sirin, 2005; White, 1982). Research suggests that low SES backgrounds place students at a disadvantage through their limited access to resources that facilitate learning and academic success (Bradley & Corwyn, 2002). Compared to their higher SES peers, children

from low SES families enter school with fewer academic skills (Washbrook & Waldfogel, 2011). Impairments in the development of early academic skills are thought to be a consequence of a lack of experiences prior to formal education that foster school readiness, such as preschool attendance or the quality of preschool, and an enriched home learning environment (Buckingham et al., 2014). Compared to children from higher SES families, children from low SES families demonstrate less proficient literacy skills at school entry (Henning et al., 2010; Washbrook & Waldfogel, 2011). Research suggests that children with early reading difficulties from low SES backgrounds are more likely to remain poor readers throughout school than children with reading difficulties from higher SES backgrounds (Feinstein & Bynner, 2004). This difference is unsurprising when considering that struggling students from high SES families have access to additional supports, such as tutors or reading remediation programs. Adolescents from low SES families are less likely to graduate from high school and more likely to have behavioural and emotional problems throughout school (Lansford et al., 2016). Overall, low family SES places children at increased risk for academic underachievement through multiple pathways and frequently co-occurring adversities, such as limited access to recreational and learning opportunities (Bradley et al. 2001), deprived home learning environments (Buckingham, 2014), and poor physical and mental health (Bradley & Corwyn, 2002; Braveman et al., 2010).

Family Structure. Family structure, which is often considered a proxy measure for family stress, has been conceptualized as a sociodemographic indicator of a child's living situation based on the number of caregiving adults residing in the household with the child (O'Malley et al., 2015). Contemporary measures typically quantify family structure as single-parent or two-parent families (Huang et al., 2017). Although it is acknowledged that this dichotomous measurement of family structure is unable to represent the complexity and diversity

of modern families (e.g., two biological parents, step-parents, divorced single parents, never married single parents, same-sex married parents), research suggests that the number of caregiving adults in a household is a key component of family structure (Biblarz & Stacey, 2010). Measuring family structure based on single- or two-parent households is a relatively nonintrusive indicator to obtain and has been shown to be a strong indicator of several important child outcomes, including academic achievement (Huang et al., 2017).

Decades of research have demonstrated that children raised in two-parent families fare better in school and across the lifespan than children from one-parent families (McLanahan & Garfinkel, 2000; McLanahan & Sandefur, 1994; Painter & Levine, 2000; Reardon, 2011). Compared to children from two-parent households, children living in single-parent families tend receive lower grades across all academic domains (e.g., reading, math, science, social studies), lower scores on standardized tests of academic achievement (Cataldi & KewalRamani, 2009; Jeynes, 2005; Sigle-Rushton & McLanahan, 2004), as well as lower scores on standardized tests of cognitive functioning (Carlson & Corcoran, 2001). Children from single-parent families are also more likely to experience grade retention (Hughes & Waite, 2002), and less likely to complete high school and pursue a post-secondary education (Cataldi & KewalRamani, 2009; Sigle-Rushton & McLanahan, 2004) than their peers from two-parent families. Additionally, children from single-parent families experience higher rates of long-term behaviour and health problems (Hill et al., 2001; Jeynes, 2005). Overall, family structure affects several aspects of functioning across the lifespan.

Family structure is theorized to exert its effects on academic achievement indirectly, through limited access to financial, parental, and social resources that are often consequences of single parenthood (McLanahan & Sandefur, 1994). In terms of financial resources, research has

demonstrated a strong association between family structure and SES, with single-parent families often having lower incomes and being more likely to be living in poverty than cohabiting parents (Carlson & Corcoran, 2001; Huang et al., 2017; Jeynes, 2005). SES, as previously mentioned, is a strong predictor of academic achievement (Sirin, 2005). In terms of parental resources, single parents often have less time than cohabiting parents to dedicate to their children's education due to the multiple demands single parents face as sole providers and caregivers (Jeynes et al., 2005). On average, children from single-parent families receive less parental support (e.g., attention, guidance, monitoring, and encouragement) in school-related tasks, such as reading or homework assistance (Astone & McLanahan, 1991). Parental time restrictions are thought to lead to decreased parental involvement in daily school activities which in turn has been shown to negatively affect school outcomes (Park et al., 2011). Lastly, in terms of limited access to social resources, single parents often experience difficulties finding time to invest in personal relationships (e.g., scheduling playdates) and school-related activities (e.g., parent-teacher associations, volunteering for school functions; McLanahan & Sandefur, 1994). A child's limited participation in school events and limited access to meaningful relationships have been shown to negatively affect a child's educational outcomes (Park et al, 2011).

In Canada, the number of single-parent families has increased from 289,000 in 1976 to 698,000 in 2014 (Statistics Canada, 2015). Furthermore, the proportion of single-parent families in Canada was estimated to be 22% in 2011, compared to 6% in 1961 (Statistics Canada, 2014). Given the increasing trend of children being raised in single-parent households, as well as the well-documented association between family structure and academic achievement, family structure could be a potential confounding factor in studies investigation academic achievement.

Cognitive Abilities and Academic Underachievement

Cognitive ability, also referred to as intelligence, can be broadly defined as the ability to think abstractly, reason, problem-solve, and learn (Neisser et al., 1996; Snyderman & Rothman, 1987; Sternberg & Detterman, 1986). Given the definition of cognitive ability, it is unsurprising that cognitive ability would be strongly associated with academic achievement. However, considerable debate has historically surrounded the field of intelligence in general (Jung & Haier, 2007), and the association between overall cognitive ability and academic achievement more specifically (Ceci, 1991; Flanagan et al., 1997; Lubinski & Dawis, 1992; Watkins et al., 2007). Despite the controversy in the field, however, empirical evidence provides substantial support for the association between cognitive ability and academic achievement (Deary et a., 2007; Kaufman et al., 2012; Lynn & Meisenberg, 2010; Rindermann, 2007).

Empirical research has shown that psychometrically measured cognitive ability, commonly referred to as Intelligence Quotient (IQ), is highly correlated with standardized tests of academic achievement, with correlation coefficients ranging from the mid- .60s to as high as the mid- .80s (Naglieri & Bornstein, 2003; Weschler, 2003). The strong association between cognitive ability and standardized measures of academic achievement has been found to exist across different test batteries (Kaufman et al., 2012) and continues to persist after accounting for other factors known to influence academic achievement (Fergusson et al., 2005). Cognitive ability has also been shown to predict school grades (Gustafsson & Balke, 1993), with moderate to high correlations ranging from .40 to .70 (Mackintosh, 1998). The relationship between cognitive ability and school grades tends to be lower than the relationship between cognitive ability and standardized measures of academic achievement, which is unsurprising when considering the range of factors that are often included in determining grades (e.g., behaviour,

motivation, prior grades; Brookhart et al., 2016; Kaufman et al., 2012). Besides academic achievement, psychometrically measured cognitive abilities have also been shown to predict a wide range of outcomes across the lifespan, such as level of educational attainment, income, occupational status, job performance, social abilities, and health-related behaviours (Almlund et al., 2011; Hanushek & Woessmann, 2008; Heckman & Vytlacil, 2001; Schmidt & Hunter, 2004; Strenze, 2007).

Contemporary theoretical models of intelligence view intelligence as a hierarchical structure, with overall intelligence consisting of distinct but correlated underlying cognitive processes or functions, which are thought to contribute to overall cognitive ability (Caemmerer et al., 2018; Reynolds & Keith, 2017). Although several theoretical models of intelligence have been proposed, currently the most influential model is the Cattell-Horn-Carroll (CHC) theory of intelligence (Reynolds et al, 2017; Schneider & McGrew 2012). The CHC theory views intelligence as a hierarchical structure, with general intelligence at the highest level, followed by broad cognitive abilities at the level below, and narrow cognitive abilities at the lowest level (Carroll, 1993; Horn & Blankson, 2005). Currently, most contemporary tests of cognitive abilities are, to a certain extent, based on this theoretical model (Kaufman et al. 2009; Newton & McGrew 2010; Scheiber, 2016), in which cognitive abilities are psychometrically measured to determine overall cognitive ability (McCall, 1977; Colom et al., 2002). For example, the conceptual foundation of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children – Fifth Edition (WISC-V; Wechsler, 2014), which is the most recent edition of this measure and the most widely used assessment instrument for children worldwide (Scheiber, 2016), appears closely aligned with the CHC theory (Caemmerer et al., 2018; Reynolds et al., 2017; Scheiber, 2016). According to its creators, the development of the WISC-V was guided by the CHC theory and other

contemporary theories, as well as neurodevelopmental research and clinical utility, but no specific theory determined its structure (Weschler, 2014). Although the creators of the WISC do not explicitly endorse a specific theory (Wechsler, 2014), several researchers have highlighted the similarities with the CHC theory (e.g., Reynolds et al., 2017, Scheiber, 2016).

The hierarchical structure of the most recent edition of the WISC assesses specific cognitive skills that collectively provide a measure of broad cognitive abilities (i.e., Primary Index Scores), and broad cognitive abilities collectively provide a measure of overall cognitive ability, referred to as Full-Scale Intelligence Quotient (FSIQ; Weschler, 2014). This hierarchical structure is consistent with its previous versions, but it differs in the number of specific skills (i.e., subtests) included in the measure of overall cognitive abilities or FSIQ (Weschler, 2014). The five primary indices on the WISC-V are the Verbal Comprehension Index (VCI), the Visual Spatial Index (VSI), the Fluid Reasoning Index (FRI), the Working Memory Index (WMI), and the Processing Speed Index (PSI; Weschler, 2014). These indices measure the cognitive abilities most contemporary structural models consider important components of overall cognitive ability, and according to its developers, are considered comparable to the CHC taxonomy constructs of Comprehension Knowledge (Gc), Visual Processing (Gv), Fluid Reasoning (Gf), Short-Term Memory (Gsm), and Processing Speed (Gs) respectively (Weschler, 2014).

Overall, cognitive ability is considered one of the strongest predictors of achievement across all academic domains (Deary et al., 2007; Kaufman et al., 2012; Kuncel et al., 2001). However, the effect of overall cognitive ability is thought to be mediated by specific broad abilities, which have been shown to have differential effects on specific academic domains (Caemmerer et al., 2018; Floyd et al., 2012; Hajovsky et al., 2014; Niileksela et al., 2016). Empirical studies have used psychometrically measured broad cognitive abilities (i.e., index

scores from tests of cognitive abilities) to understand the relationships between specific cognitive abilities and specific academic domains. The following section will provide an overview of specific cognitive abilities that research has shown to be associated with different areas of academic achievement. These cognitive abilities will be discussed within the context of the WISC, as the study that follows this review includes scores from WISC indices, and the WISC is the most commonly used assessment instrument for children worldwide (Kaufman et al., 2016; Scheiber, 2016). Additionally, a measure of visual-motor integration, which is a cognitive ability that is not a component of the WISC, will be discussed. The relationships between these cognitive abilities and specific academic domains are discussed.

Verbal-Comprehension Index (VCI). The VCI is thought to be aligned with the CHC broad ability Gc (Caemmerer et al., 2018; Reynolds et al., 2017; Weschler, 2014). The VCI measures the ability to retrieve and express acquired verbal knowledge, which involves verbal reasoning (i.e., the ability to think about previously learned verbal information), forming meaningful concepts verbally, and expressing that knowledge. This cognitive ability is thought to be influenced by several underlying skills, such as the ability to acquire word knowledge, the ability to effectively retrieve and communicate that information, general reasoning, and problem-solving abilities (Weschler, 2014).

Empirical literature has consistently identified this cognitive ability as one of the strongest predictors of decoding, fluency, and reading comprehension skills (Benson, 2007; Caemmerer et al., 2018; Evans et al., 2002; Floyd et al., 2012; Glutting et al., 2006; Keith, 1999; McGrew et al., 1997; Niileksela et al., 2016; Oh et al., 2004; Vanderwood et al., 2002). Studies have also found moderate to strong associations between this ability and spelling skills (Caemerer, 2018; Cormier et al., 2016; Floyd et al., 2008) and have found this association to

persist across the lifespan (Niileksela et al., 2016). Additionally, associations have been found with basic math and math problem solving skills (Floyd et al., 2003; Keith, 1999; McGrew & Hessler, 1995; Niileksela et al., 2016; Taub et al., 2008), although the associations with math skills have been found to be weaker for younger ages (Niileksela et al., 2016).

Visual Spatial Index (VSI). The VSI is thought to be aligned with the CHC broad ability Gv (Caemmerer et al., 2018; Reynolds et al., 2017; Weschler, 2014). The VSI measures the ability to perceive visual information, and to analyze, understand, integrate, and synthesize visual spatial relationships and patterns to generate geometric pattern from a model. This skill requires attention to visual details, visual-spatial reasoning (i.e., mentally manipulating or transforming visual information), and visual-motor integration (Weschler, 2014).

Difficulties with visual spatial abilities have been found to be associated with reading fluency in children younger than 13-years old, which is thought to be related to less automatized reading skills at younger ages (Berninger et al., 2006; Caemmerer et al., 2018). Visual spatial ability has been identified as a cognitive ability that is uniquely important for general math skills after accounting for overall cognitive ability (Lubinski et al., 2001). Specifically, visual spatial abilities have been associated with most areas of math, such as geometry (Battista, 1990; Delgado & Prieto, 2004), mental arithmetic (Kyttälä & Lehto, 2008), basic math skills (Thompson et al., 2013), algebra (Tolar et al., 2009), word problems (Hegarty & Kozhevnikov, 1999), and some areas of advanced mathematics (Sorby et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2012). Although associations have been found between visual spatial abilities and other areas of academic achievement, these results have been inconsistent (McGrew & Wendling, 2010).

Working Memory Index (WMI). The WMI is thought to be aligned with the CHC broad ability Gsm (Caemmerer et al., 2018; Reynolds et al., 2017; Weschler, 2014). The WMI
measures the ability to attend to and perceive verbal and visual information, and temporarily retain the information in immediate awareness (i.e., maintenance) in order to process and manipulate (i.e., mentally re-sequence) the information (Weschler, 2014). Given its definition, it is evident that working memory skills are associated with every aspect of cognitive functioning and academic achievement (Bhandari & Badre, 2016). Working memory is thought to be a cognitive ability that exerts effects on academic achievement indirectly by affecting more complex higher order cognitive abilities, such as reasoning and abstract thinking (Luo et al., 2003; Rindermann & Neubauer, 2004; Vock et al., 2011).

Deficits in working memory have been associated with poor academic achievement across all academic domains (Alloway & Alloway, 2010). More specifically, working memory has been associated with decoding skills (Beaujean et al., 2014; Benson, 2007; Cormier et al., 2017; Evans et al., 2002; Hajovsky et al., 2014) and reading comprehension (Evans et al., 2002; Floyd et al., 2012), and is thought to be particularly important for early reading development (Caemmerer et al., 2018; Hajovsky et al., 2014). Working memory has also been found to predict spelling skills throughout schooling (Cormier et al., 2016; Floyd et al., 2008; Niileksela et al., 2016) as well as the ability to compose sentence and essays (Caemmerer et al., 2018). Additionally, studies have found that working memory is a strong predictor of a wide range of math skills (Gathercole et al., 2005; Mazzocco & Kover, 2007; Toll et al., 2011), with this association persisting across time and after controlling for overall cognitive ability (Alloway & Alloway, 2010).

Processing Speed Index (PSI). The PSI is thought to be aligned with the CHC broad ability Gs (Caemmerer et al., 2018; Reynolds et al., 2017; Weschler, 2014). The PSI measures the efficiency (i.e., speed and accuracy) of processing visual information and implementing

decisions about the given information. This skill requires the ability to perceive and identify differences between visual information, attention, and visual-motor integration skills to implement decisions on a pencil-and-paper task rapidly (Weschler, 2014). As a construct, processing speed has not been well defined and has been measured through different methods (Shanahan et al., 2006), such as simple reaction time tasks (Snowling, 2008; Weiler et al., 2000) or more complex tasks that require the integration of information (e.g., Trailmaking task, Rapid Automatized Naming tasks; Shanahan et al., 2006). Simple reaction time tasks are often used with very young children (Child et al., 2019). Similar to working memory, processing speed is thought to mediate the relationship between overall cognitive ability and academic achievement by affecting more complex higher order cognitive abilities, such as reasoning and abstract thinking (Luo et al., 2003; Rohde & Thompson, 2007). Other research suggests that processing speed is the link between working memory and overall cognitive ability (Fry & Hale, 1996; Vernon, 1983).

Processing speed abilities have consistently been shown to predict reading fluency skills (Benson, 2007; Caemmerer et al., 2018; Cormier et al., 2017; Niileksela et al., 2016), as well as decoding and reading comprehension skills (Evans et al., 2002; Niileksela et al., 2016). Processing speed abilities have also been shown to predict spelling skills and other writing skills (Cormier et al., 2016; Floyd et al., 2008; Niileksela et al., 2016). Additionally, processing speed abilities have been found to be strong predictors of basic math skills, math fluency, and math problem solving (Floyd et al., 2003; Keith, 1999; McGrew & Hessler, 1995; Niileksela et al., 2016; Taub et al., 2008). These associations have been found to be stronger for younger students, which suggests that processing speed is more important when acquiring new math skills, before skills become more automatic (Bull & Johnston, 1997; Kirby & Becker, 1988).

Visual-Motor Integration (VMI). VMI measures the ability to effectively coordinate vision, perception, and fine motor movements to execute hand/finger tasks (e.g., writing, drawing). VMI is considered a complex skill requiring attention, planning, and inhibition of extraneous movements, as well as a combination of fine motor coordination skills, spatial perception, and reasoning abilities (Sulik et al., 2018). The Beery-Buktenica Developmental Test of Visual-Motor Integration (Beery et al., 2010) is a standardized measure often used to measure this cognitive ability. Although the CHC theory does not include a similar cognitive ability, VMI abilities have consistently been shown to affect academic achievement (Dinehart & Manfra, 2013).

Empirical evidence suggests that VMI is strongly associated with handwriting skills, which have been found to predict general reading and math achievement (Dinehart & Manfra, 2013). Handwriting difficulties have been found impede word learning (Suggate et al., 2016), which is thought to be a consequence of directing attention to motor control and therefore limiting cognitive resources available to focus on reading skills (Wulf & Prinz, 2001). For example, preschool children learning letters by handwriting have been shown to have stronger letter recognition skills than children learning letters by typing, which is thought to provide support for the association between handwriting and reading skills (Longcamp et al., 2005). VMI skills in early kindergarten have been shown to predict reading achievement at the end of the first grade (Son & Meisels, 2006) and are significantly correlated with reading skills and math skills throughout school (Knight & Rizzuto, 1993; Son & Meisels, 2006). Difficulties with VMI have also been associated with difficulties in spelling and writing composition (Berninger et al., 1992).

Behavioural Factors and Academic Underachievement

Inattentive (INA) and hyperactive/impulsive (H/I) behaviours are inconducive to efficient and productive learning and negatively affect academic functioning (APA, 2013; Daley & Birchwood, 2010; Mulholland, 2017). INA and H/I behaviours are core symptoms of ADHD (APA, 2013), with the association between ADHD and academic underachievement having been well-established in the literature (Molina et al., 2009; Shaw et al., 2012). However, accumulating evidence provides substantial support for a negative linear relationship between levels of INA and/or H/I behaviours and academic achievement, regardless of ADHD diagnosis (Merrell et al., 2017; Polderman et al., 2010). Students experiencing high levels of INA and/or H/I without meeting diagnostic threshold for ADHD have been shown to experience academic difficulties similar to those of children meeting diagnostic criteria for ADHD (Merrell et al., 2017; Polderman et al., 2010). The relationship between increasing levels of INA and/or H/I behaviours and increasing difficulties with academic achievement is consistent with the conceptualization that INA and H/I behaviours are dimensional and exist on a continuum (Coghill & Sonuga-Barke, 2012).

A substantial body of literature suggests that INA and H/I behaviours are best viewed as normally distributed traits within the population, with ADHD representing the extreme end of the distribution (Levy et al., 1997; Lubke et al, 2009; Polderman et al., 2007). This conceptualization has been supported by neurobiology studies, that have found a statistically significant relationship between the level of INA and H/I behaviours and delays in peak cortical maturation in children with and without ADHD (Shaw et al., 2011). Support for a continuously distributed trait has also been provided from neuropsychological studies, that demonstrated a linear relationship between reaction times on basic information processing tasks and levels of INA and

H/I behaviours (Salum et al., 2014). Additionally, intervention studies provide no evidence that the effect of behavioural interventions is associated with diagnostic thresholds (McLennan, 2016). Viewing INA and H/I behaviours as a continuum of normally distributed traits provides a better understanding of how increasing levels of INA and/or H/I behaviours could affect academic achievement.

The following section will provide an overview of INA and H/I behaviours and discuss the means by which these behaviours are thought to directly affect academic achievement. The associations between INA and H/I behaviours and certain cognitive abilities, as well as the implications of these associations for academic achievement, will then be discussed.

Inattention. Inattention (INA) refers to the inability to focus or to sustain focus for an extended period of time while ignoring distractions or disruptions in concentration (APA, 2020). INA manifests in the form of behaviours that include distractibility, carelessness, forgetfulness, problems in sustaining attention, deficits in listening to and following instructions, and difficulties in planning, organizing, and completing tasks (APA, 2013; Niggs & Barkley, 2014). Levels of INA are typically measured as the sum of parent-rated and/or teacher-rated observable INA behaviours (Lundervold et al., 2017). The behavioural manifestations of INA are thought to directly affect academic achievement by interfering with the acquisition of fundamental academic skills (APA, 2013; Daley & Birchwood, 2010; Mulholland, 2017). Additionally, INA behaviours are thought to affect academic performance (e.g., grades, teacher-rated progress) through impairments in classroom and academic functioning (Loe & Feldman, 2007).

In terms of academic skills, research studies have consistently demonstrated associations between elevated levels of INA and difficulties in reading, writing, spelling, and math (Carroll et al., 2005; Currie & Stabile, 2006; Daley & Birchwood, 2010; Frazier et al., 2007; Rapport et al.,

1999). It has been suggested that INA interferes directly with a child's receptivity to instruction, which is thought to affect the acquisition of the specific skills and knowledge that are necessary for the development of cumulative skills across all academic domains (Isbell et al., 2018; Martinussen et al., 2017; Plourde et al., 2018). For example, an INA student may be distracted, consequently missing an important math concept during instructional time, and fail to develop the cumulative skills necessary for subsequent math tasks. Additionally, children with attentional difficulties are reluctant to engage in tasks that involve sustained mental effort (APA, 2013) and, therefore, spend less time engaged in academic tasks and classroom activities than their typically developing (TD) peers (Lauth et al. 2006). This lack of engagement in academic tasks is thought to adversely affect the acquisition of academic skills and knowledge (Martinussen et al., 2014). For example, research has demonstrated that children with elevated levels of INA engage in less independent reading time than their TD peers (Leonard et al., 2009). The lack of exposure to print, which is associated with reading outcomes across grade levels (Mol & Bus, 2011), is thought to impede the development of word recognition skills (Cunningham & Stanovich, 1991; Martinussen et al., 2014). Overall, decades of research have established an association between elevated levels of INA and impairments in academic skills across all academic domains.

INA also affects academic performance through impairments in classroom functioning (Loe & Feldman, 2007). In the classroom, students with attentional difficulties often demonstrate off-task behaviours and are reluctant to begin classroom activities that involve sustained mental effort (APA, 2013; Kofler et al., 2008). INA students often require frequent redirection or reminders from teachers to stay on task or begin working (APA, 2020). INA students are less likely than their TD peers to complete schoolwork efficiently and accurately (Rapport et al., 1994), which is thought to result from difficulties in paying close attention to details and

subsequently making careless mistakes, as well as difficulties listening to and following instructions (DuPaul & Langberg, 2014). Additionally, difficulties with planning and organization behaviours manifest in the form of misplaced homework assignments or school materials necessary to complete tasks, disorganized work areas and schoolbags, difficulties documenting assignment instructions, and impairments in planning strategies to complete assignments (Langberg et al., 2008). Difficulties organizing school materials and behaviours are thought to negatively affect academic functioning (Langberg et al., 2013). Overall, inattentive behaviours are thought to lead to reduced academic productivity, even in the absence of deficits in specific academic skills (DuPaul & Langberg, 2014). These behaviours are often interpreted by parents, teachers, and peers as laziness, disinterest, irresponsibility, non-compliance, or uncooperativeness, and are likely to result in lower grades, familial discord, and peer neglect (APA, 2013).

Research has demonstrated that high levels of INA as early as preschool tend to persist throughout development and often into adolescence (Martel et al., 2012), with some studies reporting increases in INA with increasing age (Larsson et al., 2011; Pingault et al., 2014; Willcutt et al., 2012), particularly during transitions (Langberg et al., 2008). INA behaviours are detected later in the course of development as they become more evident when academic demands increase in formal schooling (Barkley, 1997), which could potentially explain why INA appears to increase with age (Spira & Fischel, 2005). Higher levels of behavioural INA in elementary school are associated with lower scores on standardized tests of academic achievement, lower grades, and continued academic underachievement in high school (Gray et al., 2017). Additionally, high levels of INA as early as kindergarten have been shown to decrease the likelihood of graduating from high school (Pingault et al. 2011). Overall, the presence of

elevated levels of INA behaviours have obvious implications for academic functioning and can directly affect academic achievement by interfering with the development of the fundamental academic and behavioural skills essential to learning (APA, 2013; Daley & Birchwood, 2010; Loe & Feldman, 2007; Mulholland, 2017).

Hyperactivity/Impulsivity. Hyperactivity refers to excessive levels of motor activity that lack conscious control; impulsivity refers to excessively rapid reactions to stimuli without prior thought to the potential consequences associated with the reaction (APA, 2013; Tymms et al., 2011). Hyperactivity/Impulsivity (H/I) is typically measured as a single dimension, quantified by parent-rated and/or teacher rated observable H/I behaviours (APA, 2013). H/I manifests in the form of behaviours that include poor control of motor behaviour, which is often demonstrated through behaviours such as excessive fidgeting, tapping, or squirming; running or climbing when it is not appropriate; difficulty remaining seated when sitting is expected; excessive restlessness; excessive talking; and behaviours that demonstrate difficulty prolonging initial reactions or delaying responses to anticipated rewards (APA, 2013; Niggs & Barkley, 2014). Overall, research indicates that children with elevated levels of H/I demonstrate increased gross motor activity compared to their TD peers across settings (e.g., home, school), while sleeping, and when completing laboratory tasks (Corkum & Coulombe, 2013; Cortese et al. 2009; Dane et al. 2000; Imeraj et al. 2011; Porrino et al. 1983; Rapport et al., 2009), regardless of the measurement methodology (e.g., observations, actigraphs) used (Sarver et al., 2015). Although certain research studies have found an association between high levels of H/I behaviours and academic underachievement, this association is not found consistently (Gray et al., 2017; Polderman et al., 2010; Willcutt et al., 2012).

The inconsistent association between H/I and academic achievement could, in part, be attributed to the developmental course of INA and H/I behaviours, as H/I behaviours have been found to be relatively unstable (Willcutt et al., 2012). Specifically, H/I behaviours are more prominent in younger children and tend to decrease with age (APA, 2013). In addition to H/I behaviours decreasing with age, preschool children with high levels of H/I have been found to demonstrate elevated levels of INA behaviours at older ages (Gresham et al., 2005; Spira & Fischel, 2005; Willcutt et al., 2012). This shift is thought to occur because INA behaviours are detected later in the course of development than H/I behaviours as academic demands increase (Barkley et al., 1997; Spira & Fischel, 2005). This shift could potentially explain why certain studies have found that high ratings of H/I behaviours in preschool predicted reading, spelling, and math difficulties throughout school and an increased likelihood of reading and math disabilities (Fischer et al., 1990; McGee et al, 1991). In other words, it could be that potentially undetected INA, which is a known risk factor for academic difficulties (Polderman et al., 2010), is explaining this relationship. Additionally, it has been suggested that the association between H/I behaviours and impairments in academic achievement varies depending on the measure of academic achievement used (Faraone et al., 1998; Willcutt et al., 2012). Students with elevated H/I tend to receive lower scores than their TD peers on subjective measures of academic achievement (e.g., grades), but not on objective measures (e.g., standardized tests of achievement). Overall, certain studies have found a negative relationship between levels of H/I behaviours and scores on reading and math achievement tests (Currie & Stabile, 2006), and children with high levels of H/I behaviours are more likely to have academic impairments compared to children without elevated levels of H/I behaviours (Garner et al., 2013). However, H/I is not thought to influence the acquisition of academic skills (Gray et al., 2017), or at least

not to the extent that INA is thought to influence their acquisition (Garner et al., 2013; Polderman et al., 2010).

H/I behaviours are thought to exert an effect on academic functioning through disruptive classroom behaviour, which is assumed to lead to lower grades, remedial education services, grade retention, delinquent behaviour, suspension, expulsion, and school drop-out (Currie & Stabile, 2006; Garner et al., 2013 Willcutt et al., 2012). Given the behaviours associated with H/I, the presence of high levels of H/I behaviours have obvious implications for classroom functioning (APA, 2013; Daley & Birchwood, 2010; Loe & Feldman, 2007; Mulholland, 2017). In the classroom, children with elevated H/I behaviours often demonstrate an overall restlessness in terms of physical and verbal overactivity (APA, 2013; Mulholland et al., 2017). For example, they often fidget or squirm in their seats, leave their seats in situations where sitting is expected (often without permission), and have difficulty engaging in individual seatwork quietly. Instead of completing seatwork quietly, they will often be observed tapping their fingers on their desks, tapping their feet on the floor, or playing with their pencils on their desk (Abikoff et al. 2002). These behaviours are thought to interfere with their ability to complete class tasks and assignments (Junod et al., 2005). Group work is also often problematic, as children with high levels of H/I behaviours frequently talk excessively and have difficulty waiting their turn (APA, 2013; Mulholland et al., 2017). Additionally, they will often respond to the teacher's question before the teacher has finished asking the question, or without raising their hand and waiting for the teacher to call on them (APA, 2013). Although relatively minor compared to other disruptive classroom behaviours (e.g., violent outbursts), this behaviour is rated by teachers (Arbuckle & Little, 2004) as the most disruptive behaviour when it occurs frequently and repeatedly interrupts instruction (Gresham, 2002).

H/I behaviours are among the most common and most disruptive of disruptive classroom behaviours (Arbuckle & Little, 2004) and are thought to impede a student's academic progress (Kremer et al., 2016), as well as the academic progress of non-disruptive students in the class (Hoffman & Lee, 2014). These behaviours are often interpreted by parents, teachers, and peers as defiant, intrusive, and attention-seeking, and are likely to result in lower grades, familial discord, and peer rejection (APA, 2013).

Cognitive Deficits Associated with INA and H/I Behaviours. The behavioural manifestations of INA and H/I, as previously mentioned, have been shown to directly affect academic functioning (Merrell et al., 2017; Polderman et al., 2010). However, INA and H/I are also characterized by impairments in certain cognitive abilities (Biederman et al., 1996). Impairments in certain cognitive abilities are thought to further exacerbate the academic impairments experienced by students with elevated levels of INA and H/I behaviours, as cognitive abilities, as discussed previously, are among the strongest predictors of academic achievement across all academic domains (Deary et al., 2007; Kaufman et al., 2012; Kuncel et al., 2001). Notably, children with high levels of INA and/or H/I have been shown to demonstrate significant working memory (WM) deficits (Kasper et al., 2012; Martinussen et al., 2005), have slower processing speed (PS; Calhoun & Mayes, 2005; Jacobson et al., 2011; Nikolas & Nigg, 2013), exhibit impairments in visual spatial (VS) ability (Quintanar et al., 2006), and have problems with visual-motor integration (VMI; Brossard-Racine et al., 2011).

A recent large-scale meta-analysis investigating the associations between INA-H/I and WM noted that research investigating INA and H/I separately is limited, as the majority of studies conducted in this area investigate these associations within the context of ADHD and often fail to specify which behavioural clusters (i.e., INA or H/I) are included (Kasper et al.,

2012). This trend appears to apply to other cognitive abilities as well. Conclusions from the studies that exist appear to demonstrate consistent associations between these cognitive abilities and INA behaviours, and less consistent associations between these abilities and H/I behaviours. For example, associations have consistently been found between high levels of INA behaviours and WM deficits (Rogers et al., 2011), slower PS (Kibby et al., 2019), and difficulties with VS abilities (Chiang et al., 2013; Semrud-Clikeman, 2012). However, the associations between these cognitive abilities and H/I behaviours are less conclusive. Specifically, H/I behaviours have been associated with deficits in aspects of WM (Patros et al., 2017) and slower PS, but this relationship appears to be dependent on the PS measure (Kibby et al., 2019). Associations between H/I and VS abilities have not been found consistently (Chiang et al., 2013; Semrud-Clikeman, 2012). No studies investigating the associations between VMI skills and INA and H/I separately were found. Given the associations between these cognitive abilities and academic achievement, as well as the associations between these cognitive abilities and INA-H/I behaviours, it is important to account for cognitive abilities when investigating the associations between INA-H/I behaviours and academic achievement (Polderman et al., 2010).

Summary

Overall, existing literature has identified several demographic, cognitive, and behavioural factors that are known to predict academic achievement. Although these risk factors have been studied extensively, research investigating these factors together is limited. Studying the associations between academic achievement and each of these risk factors in isolation obscures the interpretation of their unique contributions to academic achievement, as these risk factors not only tend to co-occur, but have also been shown to influence each other. For example, demographic factors such as increasing age, being male, low birthweight, low SES, and single-

parent family structure, are known risk-factors for academic underachievement (Polderman et al., 2010). However, the same demographic risk factors have been shown to predict deficits in cognitive abilities (Reynolds et al., 2015) and behavioural difficulties, such as INA and/or H/I (Polderman et al., 2010). Similarly, deficits in certain cognitive abilities have been shown to predict academic underachievement (Reynolds et al., 2015). However, associations have also been found for the same cognitive deficits and INA and/or H/I behaviours (Biederman et al., 1996). Additionally, while certain studies suggest that INA and H/I directly affect academic achievement through the behavioural manifestations of INA and H/I (Daley & Birchwood, 2010; Loe & Feldman, 2007), other studies suggest that the academic impairment experienced by children with these difficulties is a product of deficits in cognitive abilities (Mayes & Calhoun, 2007a; 2007b).

Research also suggests the INA, which is a more robust predictor of academic underachievement than H/I (Garner et al., 2013), is associated with impairments in the acquisition of academic skills, such as reading, spelling, and math (Daley & Birchwood, 2010; APA, 2013; Mulholland, 2017). Questions remain, however, in relation to whether these impairments are a result of INA behaviours (e.g., distractibility, off-task behaviours) or a result of deficits in underlying cognitive processes associated with INA (Biederman et al., 1996), or both. Additionally, research suggests that INA is a normally distributed trait within the population, with ADHD representing the extreme end of the distribution (Lubke et al, 2009; Levy et al., 1997; Polderman et al., 2007). Although several studies have investigated the association between INA and academic achievement within the context of ADHD, a substantially smaller number of studies have investigated this relationship with INA

conceptualized as a normally distributed trait, where increasing levels of INA would increase the level of academic underachievement.

Given the importance of successful academic achievement across the lifespan and the known association between INA and academic achievement, the research study that follows aimed to determine whether increased levels of INA and H/I are associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills; and whether this relationship would continue to exist after accounting for background risk factors (age, sex, SES, family structure, and low birthweight), and cognitive processing variables (e.g., working memory, processing speed).

CHAPTER 2. THE CONTRIBUTIONS OF COGNITIVE ABILITIES TO THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INATTENTION AND ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

Academic underachievement is a key indicator of long-term negative functional outcomes across the lifespan. Compared to individuals with higher academic achievement, academically underachieving individuals are more likely to experience employment problems, earn a substantially lower income, depend on government assistance, be involved in criminal activity, use illicit substances, and have poorer health (Lansford et al., 2016). These adverse functional outcomes in adulthood lead to persistent interpersonal difficulties, create familial dysfunction, and place a burden on society through costs associated with government assistance, criminal activity, poor health, and low tax contributions (Karoly et al. 2005; Levin & Belfield 2007). Given that prior academic achievement has been found to be one of the best predictors of future academic success and subsequent graduation (Casillas et al., 2012), and the multitude of adverse psychosocial outcomes associated with academic underachievement across the lifespan, it is imperative to understand which factors increase the risk of academic underachievement. Early identification of students at-risk for academic difficulties is essential to developing timely and effective interventions and providing necessary supports to help students succeed academically.

Academic underachievement has been well documented in students diagnosed with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD; Merrell et al., 2017). In fact, academic underachievement is experienced by up to an estimated 80% of students with ADHD (Corkum et al., 2010; DuPaul & Langberg, 2014), and is the main reason students with ADHD are referred for clinical assessment (Loe & Feldman, 2007). ADHD is characterized by persistent, developmentally inappropriate, and functionally impairing levels of inattention and/or

hyperactivity and impulsivity (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). Difficulties with attention, hyperactivity, and/or impulsivity are thought to manifest in the form of behaviours that interfere with the development of the fundamental skills essential to learning (Spira & Fischel, 2005). Unsurprisingly, students experiencing high levels of inattention (INA) and/or hyperactivity/impulsivity (H/I) without meeting diagnostic criteria for ADHD experience academic difficulties similar to those of students with formal diagnoses of ADHD (Galera et al., 2009, Loe & Feldman, 2007; Merrell & Tymms, 2001; Pope, 2010). Importantly, it has been suggested that individuals meeting criteria for ADHD compared to individuals not meeting diagnostic threshold represent a quantitative rather than a qualitative difference in terms of associated impairments (Sonuga-Barke & Halperin, 2010).

Behavioural symptoms of INA and H/I, although considered core symptoms of ADHD, are also evident in other disorders, such as: Learning Disabilities (LD; Mayes et al., 1998); Anxiety Disorders (Britton et al., 2012; White et al., 2011); Major Depressive Disorder (MDD; Levin et al., 2007; Nitschke et al., 2001); Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (OCD; Abramovitch et al., 2013); Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD; Grzadzinski et al., 2011); Obstructive Sleep Disorder (OSD) and other sleep disorders (Precenzano et al., 2016), and exposure to trauma or Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD; Szymanski et al., 2011). Students exhibiting symptoms of INA and/or H/I related to these disorders experience academic difficulties similar to students with a formal ADHD diagnosis (Rapport et al., 1999). Additionally, empirical evidence suggests that high levels of INA and H/I can be present in population-based samples without a diagnosis of ADHD or other mental health disorder (Mous et al., 2014). Given the large number of students with behavioural symptoms of INA and H/I, it is important to understand the association between these behaviours and academic achievement at the symptom level rather than at the

diagnosis level. Investigating INA and H/I behaviours at the symptom level regardless of clinical diagnosis allows for a better understanding of how these behaviours could potentially lead to future functional impairments, as well as a better understanding of the associations between these behaviours and academic achievement (Schwanz et al., 2007).

Previous studies have demonstrated a negative linear relationship between INA symptom severity (i.e., number of symptoms present) and academic achievement (Merrell et al., 2017; Sayal et al., 2015). More specifically, INA has been found to predict literacy and math achievement (Lan et al., 2011) and has been associated with impairments in the acquisition of reading skills, such as difficulties with decoding, fluency, comprehension, phonological awareness, and vocabulary (Plourde et al., 2015; Willcutt et al., 2007a). Additionally, attention has been found to predict spelling accuracy, handwriting fluency (Noda et al., 2013), and finemotor control (Fenollar-Cortés et al., 2017). Higher levels of INA as early as kindergarten have been shown to predict long-term reading impairments that persist throughout elementary and often into high school (Rabiner et al., 2000). Additionally, INA has been found to be a stronger predictor of academic difficulties than the presence of an LD (Garner et al., 2013). Symptoms of INA appear to be persistent and have been shown to intensify in adolescence (Rowe & Rowe, 1992). Higher levels of teacher-rated INA behaviour have consistently been associated with lower scores on standardized tests of academic achievement and classroom performance outcomes (Gray et al., 2017). Furthermore, teacher-rated INA and/or distractibility in upperelementary grades have been associated with an increased likelihood of academic underachievement in high-school (Lundervold et al., 2017).

Symptoms of H/I are more prominent in younger children and tend to decrease with age (APA, 2013). Behavioural symptoms of H/I have weaker associations with academic

impairments (e.g., reading difficulties, standardized achievement scores) than INA behaviours, but are closely related to disruptive classroom behaviour, lower grades, grade retention, delinquent behaviour, suspension, expulsion, and school drop-out (e.g., Garner et al., 2013 Willcutt et al., 2012). H/I symptoms are stronger predictors of these outcomes than physical health problems, with the associations (except for delinquency) persisting even when scores of H/I symptoms are below diagnostic threshold for ADHD (Currie & Stabile, 2006). Despite the general consensus that symptoms of INA are more robustly associated with academic underachievement than H/I symptoms, certain studies have found associations between high ratings of H/I symptoms and academic achievement (e.g., lower scores on reading and math achievement test scores; reading, spelling, and math difficulties throughout school; increased likelihood of reading and math disabilities; Currie & Stabile, 2006; Fischer et al., 1990; McGee et al, 1991). However, these associations tend to exist when H/I is measured dimensionally, as a continuously distributed trait encompassing behavioural difficulties with hyperactivity, impulsivity, and inattentiveness (Merrell & Tymms, 2001; Saudino & Plomin, 2007; Taylor, 1998). Based on a large body of research, the general consensus regarding the association between symptoms of H/I and academic achievement appears to be that children experiencing difficulties with H/I behaviours have greater academic impairments than students without H/I difficulties, but they are not as academically impaired as students with attention difficulties (Garner et al., 2013; Polderman et al., 2010; Salla et al., 2016).

Academic underachievement has also been associated with deficits in cognitive abilities. Specifically, working memory, processing speed, and visuospatial ability have been identified as cognitive abilities that account for a large proportion of the variance in academic achievement (Rohde & Thompson, 2007). Working memory has been associated with reading ability

(Christopher et al., 2012; Moll et al., 2016; Willcutt et al., 2013), reading comprehension (Christopher et al., 2012), spelling (Wimmer & Schurz, 2010), writing ability (Cornoldi et al., 2010; Re et al., 2014), math problem-solving ability (Moll et al., 2016; Swanson, 2016; Swanson et al., 2019; Willcutt et al., 2013), and listening comprehension (Daneman & Merikle, 1996). Similarly, slow processing speed has been shown to predict reading difficulties in decoding, fluency, and comprehension (Norton & Wolf, 2012), as well as math difficulties (Moll et al., 2016). Likewise, deficits in visual-spatial abilities have been associated with difficulties in mathematics (Cheng & Mix, 2014; Hawes et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2014), as well as difficulties in reading acquisition (Bellocchi et al., 2017) and spelling (Longcamp et al., 2008). Additionally, visual-motor integration abilities have been found to predict spelling and writing composition scores (Berninger et al., 1992), as well as handwriting skills (Van Hartingsveldt et al., 2015), and general reading and math achievement (Son & Meisels, 2006). Notably, deficits in cognitive abilities tend to co-occur. For example, deficits in working memory and processing speed are often found concurrently, particularly in children with attention difficulties (Katz et al., 2011; Mayes & Calhoun, 2007a; Moll et al., 2016; Willcutt et al., 2005). Deficits in visual-spatial abilities have also been found to co-occur with deficits in working memory and processing speed (Rohde et al., 2007). Similarly, deficits in visual-motor integration abilities often co-occur with difficulties in visual-spatial skills, working memory, and processing speed (Bellocchi et al., 2017; Sulik et al., 2018; Sutton et al., 2011). However, despite the known associations between deficits in multiple cognitive functions, only meta-analyses and reviews tend to examine more than one or two cognitive functions together (Nikolas & Nigg, 2013).

Existing literature has also identified several demographic factors that are associated with academic achievement, regardless of behaviours related to symptoms of INA and/or H/I, learning

and other mental health disorders, and cognitive abilities. Increasing age (Polderman et al., 2010), being male (Buchmann et al., 2008), low socioeconomic status (SES; Sirin, 2005; Russell et al., 2015), alternative family structures such as single parent families (Shriner et al., 2010), and low birthweight (Taylor, 2010), have all been associated with academic underachievement. To better understand the associations between INA and H/I behaviours and academic achievement, previous research suggests that studies investigating predictors of academic achievement in children experiencing difficulties with INA and H/I should include demographic factors known to influence academic achievement (Polderman et al., 2010).

In summary, empirical literature has identified several factors that are associated with academic underachievement. An abundance of research has demonstrated associations between academic underachievement and background demographic factors, cognitive factors, and behavioural symptoms of INA and H/I. Despite the abundance of literature, however, very few studies have included demographic, cognitive, and behavioural predictors to determine their unique contributions to academic achievement. Importantly, most studies investigating the associations between academic achievement and INA and H/I at the symptom level have been conducted with community samples of children whose symptom counts are measured based on rating scales of parent- or teacher-rated behavioural symptoms, without having undergone rigorous assessment procedures. The absence of multi-informant rigorous assessment procedures is problematic for several reasons. Parents and teachers observe children in different contexts and tend to rate INA and H/I behaviours differently (Achenbach et al., 1987), which is demonstrated from the low (r < .30; Achenbach et al., 1987) to moderate (r = .40-.50; Bussing et al., 2008) interrater agreement typically observed on rating scales. Also, rating scales have been shown to lack the specificity to sufficiently be used as sole diagnostic instruments (Parker & Corkum,

2013). Overall, conducting detailed clinical interviews with multiple informants (e.g., parents and teachers) to determine symptom severity across settings is thought to be the gold standard for the assessment of INA and H/I symptoms (American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry [AACAP], 2007; Farone et al., 2015).

Additionally, most studies investigating academic achievement in students experiencing difficulties with INA and/or H/I have investigated these difficulties within the context of ADHD (i.e., symptoms of INA and/or H/I meeting diagnostic threshold). However, these studies often include samples of children without a formal diagnosis of ADHD (i.e., unconfirmed diagnoses assigned for the purposes of the study based on rating scales), who have not undergone rigorous diagnostic procedures. Notably, studies including children with a formal diagnosis of ADHD frequently use INA and H/I symptom counts based on rating scales for the purposes of the study, and often include children who are taking (or have taken) stimulant medications. However, stimulant medications have been shown to improve INA and H/I behaviours to varying degrees (Faraone et al., 2015), which could potentially confound results (Arnold et al., 2020; Polderman et al., 2010). Furthermore, children not meeting diagnostic threshold for ADHD are often excluded from studies, which limits our understanding of the association between academic achievement and symptoms of INA and H/I at the symptom level, as a continuously distributed trait.

The overall objective of the present study was to examine the associations between academic achievement in specific academic domains (i.e., basic reading, spelling, and math skills) and behavioural symptoms of INA and H/I, after accounting for known background risk factors (age, sex, SES, family structure, and low birthweight) and cognitive processes (such as working memory deficits, slower processing speed, impairments in visual-spatial abilities), in a

rigorously diagnosed, stimulant medication naïve, clinical sample of elementary school-aged children. This study aimed to answer two research questions: 1) Does the severity of INA or H/I symptoms (i.e., number of symptoms present) predict academic achievement in basic reading, spelling, and math skills in elementary school-aged children? 2) Does the association between INA and/or H/I symptom severity and academic achievement continue to exist after accounting for background risk factors and cognitive processing impairments? To answer these research questions, clinical assessment data from a rigorously diagnosed sample of 354 elementary school-aged children experiencing academic difficulties and behavioural symptoms of INA and/or H/I were analyzed. Based on current existing literature, it was hypothesized that higher scores of INA, not H/I (based on symptoms endorsed on diagnostic interviews with parents and teachers), would be associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills (based on standardized achievement test scores) in elementary school-aged children. It was also hypothesized that higher scores of INA, not H/I (based on symptoms endorsed in diagnostic interviews with parents and teachers), would continue to be associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills (based on standardized achievement test scores) in elementary school-aged children, after accounting for background risk factors (age, sex, SES, family structure, and low birthweight), and cognitive processing variables (e.g., working memory, processing speed).

Method

Participants

Participants in this study consisted of children experiencing difficulties with attention, hyperactivity/impulsivity, and/or learning who were referred to and assessed at the Colchester East Hants Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Clinic (ADHD Clinic) from the time the

clinic was developed in 2000 up to June 2019. Children eligible to be assessed at the clinic must have been between 6- and 12-years of age (Grades 1-6) at the time of their assessment; resided within the Colchester East Hants health catchment area; not previously received an ADHD diagnosis; never been on medication for inattention, hyperactivity, impulsivity, or any mental health disorder; and not received a psychoeducational assessment in the two years prior to their clinical assessment. Of note, four participants were enrolled in Grade 7 at the time of their assessment. These students had been referred to the clinic for assessment in prior grades but had progressed to Grade 7 by the time of their assessment due to assessment wait times. It was decided to retain these cases in the analyses as the age of these participants did not exceed 12years, 11-months. Only children whose parents consented at the time of the assessment to the inclusion of their children's assessment/diagnostic data in potential future research were included in this study. Of the 453 cases included in the clinic's database at the time of this study, nine cases for which parents did not provide consent were excluded from the study.

Measures

Background Information Form

The Background Information Form is a standardized parent self-report questionnaire based on the Family and Household Form from the Ontario Child Health Study (Boyle et al., 1987). The Background Information Form was completed by all parents of children assessed by the ADHD Clinic. Background risk factors that were used in this study as predictors of academic achievement were drawn from this measure. Background data drawn from this measure included: sex (categorical dichotomous variable coded as 0 = Female, 1 = Male); age (measured in months); family structure (categorical dichotomous variable coded as 0 = Two-Parent*Household*, 1 = Single-Parent Household); birthweight (measured in ounces); and SES

(measured by the highest level of education of the parent with the highest level of education; categorical variable coded on a scale of 1 to 8 [1 = *some elementary*; 2 = *completed elementary*; 3 = some secondary; 4 = completed secondary; 5 = some community or technical college; <math>6 =*completed community or technical college*; 7 = some university or teachers college; <math>8 =*completed university or teachers college*]). Parent educational attainment was used as a univariate proxy measure of SES, as education has been found to be the strongest predictor of occupational status and income (Becker et al., 2019; Oakes, n.d.).

Diagnostic Interviews

Two semi-structured diagnostic interviews were conducted as part of the clinical assessment.

Parent Interview for Child Symptoms (PICS; Schachar et al., 2000). The PICS is a semi-structured 3-module diagnostic interview designed to systematically assess symptoms of ADHD and other childhood disorders (e.g., oppositional defiant disorder [ODD], conduct disorder [CD], ASD, various anxiety, depressive, and tic disorders), based on DSM-IV/DSM-5 diagnostic criteria. Administration of the PICS typically requires approximately 1.5-2.5 hours to complete. At the ADHD Clinic, the PICS is administered by a clinical psychologist and a pediatrician, who score parent responses describing the child's behaviour in a variety of situations. The severity of each of the nine INA and nine H/I symptoms is rated on a 3-point scale: 0 = absent; 1 = trivial abnormality; 2 = definite abnormality, with symptoms rated as 2 regarded as clinically significant. The PICS has good reliability for diagnosing mental health disorders in children (Ickowicz et al., 2006).

Teacher Telephone Interview (TTI; Tannock et al., 2002). The TTI is a semistructured diagnostic interview designed to systematically assess behaviour and functioning in a

school setting and assess symptoms of ADHD and other childhood mental health disorders (e.g., ODD, CD, anxiety, depression) based on DSM-IV/DSM-5 diagnostic criteria. The TTI, which is designed to be used in conjunction with the PICS, is administered by a clinical psychologist in a telephone interview with the child's teacher prior to the clinic day. Teacher responses describing the child's behaviour in a school setting are scored on the same scale as the PICS (see above). The TTI-IV has good interscorer (r = .96-.98) and test-retest reliability (r = .79-.95) for ADHD (Hum, 2004).

The PICS and the TTI were used for diagnostic purposes and provided INA and H/I symptom counts for analyses. A symptom was considered present if it was rated as a 2, using the above described 3-point scale. Total parent-rated (PICS) and teacher-rated (TTI) symptom counts for INA and H/I symptoms across the two interviews were combined and used as behavioural predictors of academic achievement (discrete variables indicating total symptom counts for INA and total symptom counts for H/I, ranging from 0 to 18).

Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (WISC)

The WISC is an individually administered standardized measure of cognitive ability designed to provide a comprehensive assessment of general intellectual functioning in children from ages 6- to 16-years old. In the current study, standard scores from the four index scores were used as measures of specific cognitive abilities: Verbal Comprehension Index (VCI), Visual Spatial Index (VSI), Working Memory Index (WMI), Processing Speed Index (PSI).

Notably, three versions of the WISC (Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children – Third Edition [WISC-III], Wechsler, 1991; Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children – Fourth Edition [WISC-IV], Wechsler, 2003; and Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children – Fifth Edition [WISC-V], Wechsler, 2014) have been released in the 20 years that the ADHD Clinic has been

in operation, all of which have been used by the clinic as measures were updated to reflect current best practices. Given reported correlations on index scores between the WISC-III and WISC-IV (.72-.88; Wechsler, 2003), as well as reported correlations between the WISC-IV and WISC-V (.58-.85; Wechsler, 2014), standardized data obtained from the WISC-III, WISC-IV, and WISC-V were used in the current study as measures of cognitive abilities.

Also of note, the most recent version of the WISC separated the Perceptual Reasoning Index (PRI) from the previous version (WISC-IV) into the Visual Spatial Index (VSI) and the Fluid Reasoning Index (FRI). Given that the PRI and the VSI are similar conceptually (i.e., measure the ability to evaluate visual details and to understand visual spatial relationships to construct designs from a model; Weschler, 2014), and given the higher reported correlation (Wechsler, 2014) between the PRI and VSI (.73) compared to the correlation between PRI and FRI (.58), it was decided to include VSI (WISC-V) and PRI (WISC-IV) as measures of the same cognitive ability. The FRI from the WISC-V was not included in this study as a measure of cognitive abilities.

Beery-Buktenica Developmental Test of Visual-Motor Integration (VMI)

The VMI is a standardized measure of visual perceptual and motor abilities designed to assess the ability to effectively coordinate vision, perception, and fine motor movements to execute hand/finger tasks (e.g., writing, drawing), referred to as visual-motor integration. The VMI can be administered to children and adults from ages 2- to 100-years and consists of one primary and two supplemental subtests. Only the standard score for the primary subtest (Test of Visual-Motor Integration; VMI), in which the task requires the individual to copy designated geometric shapes of increasing complexity, was used in this study. The VMI has demonstrated good inter-rater and test-retest reliability, and good concurrent and construct validity. Although

three editions of the measure have been used by the clinic in the 20 years it has been in operation, all editions of the VMI contain the exact same items and reported correlations with the two previous editions are high (.98 and .99 respectively; Beery et al., 2010). Therefore, standard scores from the VMI-4, VMI-5, and VMI-6 were used in the current study as a measure of visual-motor integration.

The four WISC indices (VCI, VSI, WMI, PSI) and VMI index, all of which are measured in standard scores (M = 100, SD = 15), were used as cognitive predictors of academic achievement.

Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (WIAT)

The WIAT is an individually administered academic achievement test designed to assess listening, speaking, reading, writing, spelling, and mathematics skills in individuals 4- to 50years old. Standard scores from three WIAT subtests were used as indicators of academic achievement: WIAT Word Reading subtest scores were used as a measure of reading; WIAT Spelling subtest scores were used as a measure of spelling; and WIAT Numerical Operations subtest scores were used as a measure of mathematics. WIAT scores are represented in standard scores (M = 100, SD = 15).

The WIAT–III is a revision of the Wechsler Individual Achievement Test – Second Edition (WIAT–II; Wechsler, 2001), which has also been used in assessments at the ADHD Clinic. The WIAT-II and WIAT-III have been found to have high internal consistency and testretest reliability (Wechsler, 2009; Wechsler, 2001). Each version of the WIAT is co-normed with and empirically linked to the version of the WISC in use during the same period (i.e., WIAT-II with WISC-III and WISC-IV; WIAT-III with WISC-IV and WISC-IV), allowing for valid and reliable comparison between achievement and ability (Wechsler, 1991; Wechsler, 2014;

Wechsler, 2009). Additionally, given reported correlations between the WIAT-II and WIAT-III on subtest scores (.42 to .87; Wechsler, 2009), data obtained from WIAT-II and WIAT-III will be used in the current study as outcome measures of academic achievement.

Procedure

Full ethical approval for this study was granted through the Nova Scotia Health Authority and Mount Saint Vincent University Research Ethics Boards.

The current study is an archival data analysis study. Data for this study were drawn from the ADHD Clinic's clinical/research database, which included assessment and diagnostic data of children assessed by the clinic between 2000-2019. Assessments completed at the clinic were comprehensive and rigorous, using recommended evidence-based assessment guidelines and an interdisciplinary diagnostic approach. In brief, prior to arriving at the ADHD Clinic, the participants' parent/s and teacher/s completed screening measures (Conners Parent and Teacher Rating Scales; Conners, 1997) and a demographic questionnaire (Background Information Form). Each assessment included a review of the child's school records and a classroom observation, semi-structured diagnostic interviews with the child's parent/s (PICS) and teacher/s (TTI), and a standardized psycho-educational assessment battery with the child (WISC, VMI, WIAT). A detailed description of this clinic can be found in McGonnell et al., 2009.

Statistical Analyses

Data for the current study were analyzed using MS Excel (version 16.38) and IBM SPSS software (version 26). Data were drawn from the ADHD Clinic's clinical/research database. Descriptive statistics were first computed to provide an overview of the sample characteristics. Prior to conducting analyses, the pattern of missing data was examined using Little's Missing Completely at Random (MCAR) test (Little, 1988; Little & Ruben, 2002), which indicated that

the data were missing at random, $\chi^2(91) = 94.710$, p = .37. Cases with missing values (n = 90) were excluded from the study. Additionally, assumptions for hierarchical multiple linear regressions were tested (i.e., linear relationship between predictor and outcome variables, multivariate normality, absence of multicollinearity, and homoscedasticity) and all assumptions were met.

Hypothesis 1

Higher scores of INA, not H/I (based on symptoms endorsed in diagnostic interviews with parents and teachers), will be associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills (based on standardized achievement test scores) in elementary school-aged children.

Three multiple linear regressions (reading, spelling, and math) were conducted to evaluate the associations between academic achievement and symptom severity of INA and H/I.

Dependent Variables. Three WIAT subtests (the *Word Reading* subtest as a measure of reading, the *Spelling* subtest as a measure of spelling, and the *Numerical Operations* subtest as a measure of math) were used as dependent variables in each of the regressions respectively.

Independent Variables. Total parent-rated (PICS) and teacher-rated (TTI) symptom counts for INA and H/I symptoms endorsed across the two interviews were used as behavioural predictors of academic achievement.

Hypothesis 2

Higher scores of INA, not H/I (based on symptoms endorsed in diagnostic interviews with parents and teachers), will continue to be associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills (based on standardized achievement test scores) in elementary school-aged children, after accounting for background risk factors (age, sex, SES, family structure, and

low birthweight), and cognitive processing variables (WISC VCI, VSI, WMI, and PSI scores, and VMI score).

Three hierarchical multiple linear regressions were conducted to evaluate the contribution of INA and H/I on reading, spelling, and math (based on standardized achievement test scores) after accounting for background risk-factors and cognitive factors.

Dependent Variables. Three WIAT subtests (the *Word Reading* subtest as a measure of reading, the *Spelling* subtest as a measure of spelling, and the *Numerical Operations* subtest as a measure of math) were used as dependent variables in each of the regressions respectively.

Independent Variables. The same independent variables were entered in each step of each of the three regressions. Background risk-factors were entered in the first step. Variables included in this predictor domain were sex, age, SES, family structure, and birthweight. Cognitive variables were entered in the second step of the regressions. The four WISC index scores (VCI, VSI, WMI, PSI) and the VMI index score were used as cognitive predictors of academic achievement. Behavioural variables were entered in the third step of the regressions. Total parent-rated (PICS) and teacher-rated (TTI) symptom counts for INA and H/I symptoms endorsed across the two interviews were used as behavioural predictors of academic achievement.

Results

Sample Characteristics

Participants consisted of children experiencing difficulties with INA, H/I, and/or learning who were referred to and assessed by the ADHD Clinic. The final sample consisted 354 participants between the ages of 5-years, 5-months and 12-years, 7-months (M = 8.56, SD = 1.62). The majority of participants (n = 247, 70%) were male and 107 (30%) were female.

Participant birthweight ranged from 2 lbs. 4 oz. to 11 lbs. 1 oz. (M = 7.55, SD = 1.41). Twentyeight (0.6%) participants were born at a weight that is considered low birthweight (i.e., below 2500 grams, or 5 lbs. 8 oz.). Participant grade level ranged from Grade Primary to Grade 7 (M =2.82, SD = 1.62). The majority of participants (n = 282, 80%) were from 2-parent families, and on average, parents had completed community or technical college. Demographic characteristics of the final sample (N = 354) are summarized in Table 1.

Sample Clinical Description

Diagnoses and Comorbidities

Overall, 52% of participants (n = 184) met diagnostic criteria for ADHD. Of participants meeting diagnostic criteria for ADHD, 40% (n = 74) did not meet criteria for a comorbid LD or other mental health (MH) disorder. Additionally, 53% of participants (n = 186) met diagnostic criteria for LD. Of participants meeting diagnostic criteria for LD, 38% (n = 70) did not meet criteria for a comorbid MH disorder. Furthermore, 29% of participants (n = 103) met diagnostic criteria for MH disorders other than ADHD or LD. Of participants meeting diagnostic criteria for MH disorders other than ADHD or LD, 25% (n = 26) met criteria for only one other MH diagnosis. Thirty-seven participants (11%) did not meet diagnostic criteria for any MH diagnosis. A clinical description of the sample indicating the number and percentages of the MH diagnoses the sample received is summarized in Table 2. The numbers and percentages of comorbid diagnoses the sample received are summarized in Table 3.

Behavioural Symptoms (INA and H/I)

Combined parent and teacher ratings of INA and H/I symptoms indicated a mean symptom count of 10.23 (SD = 4.44) for INA and 8.10 (SD = 5.20) for H/I. Means, standard

deviations, and minimum and maximum scores for INA and H/I symptoms based on parent-rated (PICS) and teacher-rated (TTI) behaviours are summarized in Table 4.

Cognitive Ability

Participant mean standard scores on WISC and VMI indices ranged from 90.96 to 100.17, with participants scoring the lowest on the PSI and scoring the highest on the VCI. Means, standard deviations, and minimum and maximum scores for WISC and VMI indices are summarized in Table 5.

Academic Achievement

Participants mean standard scores on WIAT subtests ranged from 88.06 to 93.63, with participants scoring the lowest on the *Numerical Operations* subtest and scoring the highest on the *Word Reading* subtest. Overall, underachievement (i.e., scores of one or more standard deviations below the mean) ranged from 31-38% across subtests. Specifically, 31% (n = 108) of participants were underachieving on the *Word Reading* subtest, 34% (n = 120) of participants were underachieving on the *Spelling* subtest, and 38% (n = 136) of participants were underachieving on the *Numerical Operations* subtest. Means, standard deviations, and minimum and maximum scores for WIAT subtests (*Word Reading, Numerical Operations,* and *Spelling*) are summarized in Table 6.

Hypothesis 1

Three multiple linear regression analyses were conducted to test the hypothesis that higher scores of INA, not H/I (based on symptoms endorsed in diagnostic interviews with parents and teachers), will be associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills (based on standardized achievement test scores) in elementary school-aged children. WIAT

reading, spelling, and math subtest standard scores were used as outcome variables in each regression respectively.

Reading (WIAT Word Reading). Results indicated that INA and H/I accounted for 3% of the variance, which was statistically significant, F(2, 351) = 5.11, p = .006, $R^2 = .03$. Both INA and H/I were significant predictors of reading scores. INA, $\beta = -.16$, t(351) = -2.75, p = .006, decreased reading scores by .57 standard scores, 95% C.I. [-.98, -.16], for each symptom increase in INA symptom count. H/I, $\beta = .15$, t(351) = 2.65, p = .008, increased reading scores by .47 standard scores, 95% C.I. [.12, .82], for each symptom increase in H/I symptom count.

Spelling (WIAT Spelling subtest). Results indicated that INA and H/I accounted for 2% of the variance, which was statistically significant, F(2, 351) = 3.70, p = .03, $R^2 = .02$. Both INA and H/I were significant predictors of spelling scores. INA, $\beta = -.13$, t(351) = -2.18, p = .03, decreased spelling scores by .40 standard scores, 95% C.I. [-.75, -.04], for each symptom increase in INA symptom count. H/I, $\beta = .14$, t(351) = 2.40, p = .02, increased spelling scores by .37 standard scores, 95% C.I. [.07, .68], for each symptom increase in H/I symptom count.

Math (WIAT Numerical Operations subtest). Results indicated that INA and H/I accounted for 2% of the variance, which was statistically significant, F(2, 351) = 3.61, p = .03, $R^2 = .02$. INA significantly predicted math scores, $\beta = -.15$, t(351) = -2.56, p = .01, with math scores decreasing .46 standard scores, 95% C.I. [-.81, -.11], for each symptom increase in INA symptom count. H/I was not a significant predictor of math scores.

Hypothesis 2

To test the second hypothesis, that higher scores of INA, not H/I (based on symptoms endorsed in diagnostic interviews with parents and teachers), will continue to be associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills (based on standardized achievement test scores) in elementary school-aged children, after accounting for background risk factors (age, sex, SES, family structure, and low birthweight), and cognitive processing variables (e.g., working memory, processing speed), three hierarchical multiple linear regressions were conducted. WIAT reading, spelling, and math subtest standard scores were used as outcome variables in each regression respectively.

Reading (WIAT Word Reading). Model 1 (background risk-factors) accounted for 3% of the variance and was statistically significant, F(5, 348) = 2.28, p = .047, $R^2 = .03$. Sex was a significant predictor of reading, $\beta = .12$, t(348) = 2.15, p = .03, with males scoring 4.00 points, 95% C.I. [.34, 7.65] higher than females. Age, SES, birthweight, and family structure were not significant predictors in Model 1.

Model 2 (cognitive factors) accounted for 35% of the variance and was statistically significant, $\Delta F(5, 343) = 38.01$, p < .001, $\Delta R^2 = .35$. Significant predictors in Model 2 were: VCI, $\beta = .36$, t(343) = 6.57, p < .001, with reading scores increasing .45 points, 95% C.I. [.31, .58], for every standard score increase in VCI; WMI, $\beta = .29$, t(343) = 5.62, p < .001] with reading scores increasing .36 points, 95% C.I. [.24, .49], for every standard score increase in WMI; and VMI, $\beta = .12$, t(343) = 2.40, p = .02, with reading scores increasing .12 points, 95% C.I. [.03, .30] for every standard score increase in VMI. VSI and PSI were not significant predictors in Model 2. Sex, which was a significant predictor in Model 1, was no longer significant after the cognitive variables were added to Model 2, nor were any of the other background variables entered in step one.

Model 3, in which scores for total INA symptom count and total H/I symptom count were added to the model, accounted for 0.7% of the variance and was not statistically significant, $\Delta F(2, 341) = 2.06, p = .13, \Delta R^2 = .007.$

Spelling (WIAT Spelling subtest). Model 1 (background risk-factors) accounted for 2% of the variance and was not statistically significant, F(5, 348) = 1.47, p > .20, $R^2 = .02$.

Model 2 (cognitive factors) accounted for 28% of the variance and was statistically significant, $\Delta F(5, 343) = 27.10$, p < .001, $\Delta R^2 = .28$. Significant predictors in Model 2 were: VCI, $\beta = .25$, t(343) = 4.20, p < .001, with spelling standard scores increasing .26 points, 95% C.I. [.14, .39] for every standard score increase in VCI; WMI, $\beta = .31$, t(343) = 5.66, p < .001, with spelling standard scores increasing .34 points, 95% C.I. [.22, .45] for every standard score increase in WMI; and VMI, [$\beta = .17$, t(343) = 3.14, p = .002] with spelling standard scores increasing .19 points, 95% C.I. [.07, .31], for every standard score increase in VMI. VSI and PSI scores were not significant predictors in Model 2. Age, which was statistically significant in Model 1 (although Model 1 was not significant), remained significant in Model 2. Additionally, SES (measured by highest level of parent education; 1 = some elementary; 8 = completed university or teacher's college) was a significant predictor of spelling scores, $\beta = .15$, t(343) = .3.11, p = .002, with spelling standard scores decreasing by 1.26 points, 95% C.I. [-2.05, -.46], for every point increase in level of parent education.

Model 3, in which total INA and H/I symptom counts were added to the model, accounted for 0.3% of the variance and was not statistically significant, $\Delta F(2, 341) = .74$, p = .48, $\Delta R^2 = .003$.

Math (WIAT Numerical Operations subtest). Model 1 (background risk-factors) accounted for 9% of the variance and was statistically significant, $F(5, 348) = 6.86, p > .001, R^2 = .09$. Significant predictors in Model 1 were sex, $\beta = .12, t(348) = 2.38, p = .02$, with males scoring 3.65 standard scores, 95% C.I. [.63, 6.66], higher than females; age, $\beta = .21, t(348) = .02$

-4.14, p < .001, with math scores decreasing .15 standard scores, 95% C.I. [-.22, -.08], for each month increase in age; and SES, $\beta = .13$, t(348) = 2.55, p = .01, with math scores increasing 1.10 standard scores, 95% C.I. [.25, 1.95], for every point increase in level of parent education. Birthweight and family structure were not significant predictors in Model 1.

Model 2 (cognitive factors) accounted for 31% of the variance and was statistically significant, $\Delta F(5, 343) = 34.65$, p < .001, $\Delta R^2 = .31$. All cognitive variables entered in Model 2 were significant predictors of math scores. VCI significantly predicted math scores, $\beta = .20$, t(343) = 3.59, p < .001, with math scores increasing .20 standard scores, 95% C.I. [.02, .32], for each standard score increase in VCI; VSI significantly predicted math scores, $\beta = .14$, t(343) =2.41, p = .02, with math scores increasing .14 standard scores [95% C.I. (.03, .25)] for each standard score increase in VSI; WMI significantly predicted math scores, $\beta = .21$, t(343) = 4.12, p < .001, with math scores increasing .22 standard scores 95% C.I. [.12, .33] for each standard score increase in WMI; PSI significantly predicted math scores, $\beta = .13$, t(343) = 2.69, p = .007, with math scores increasing .13 standard scores, 95% C.I. [.04, .23], for each standard score increase in PSI; and VMI significantly predicted math scores, $\beta = .12$, t(343) = 2.31, p = .02, with math scores increasing .13 standard scores, 95% C.I. [.02, .24], for each standard score increase in VMI. Sex and age, which were statistically significant predictors in Model 1 remained significant in Model 2. SES (statistically significant in Model 1) was not a significant predictor in Model 2, nor were family structure or birthweight.

Model 3, in which total INA and H/I symptom counts were added to the model, accounted for 2% of the variance and was statistically significant, ΔF (2, 341) = 4.24, p = .02, ΔR^2 = .02. H/I significantly predicted math scores, β = -.13, t(341) = -2.60, p = .01, with math scores decreasing .34 standard scores, 95% C.I. [-.60, -.08], for each symptom increase in H/I
symptom count. Cognitive scores entered in Model 2 remained significant in Model 3. Additionally, sex and age remained statistically significant predictors in Model 3.

Results of hierarchical multiple linear regression analyses for the three outcome variables (reading, spelling, and mathematics) are summarized in Table 7.

Discussion

The overall goal of the present study was to determine whether increased levels of behavioural symptoms of INA and H/I were associated with lower scores on standardized tests of achievement in basic reading, spelling, and math skills, after accounting for known background risk factors and cognitive processes. Behavioural symptoms of INA and H/I were based on symptoms endorsed on diagnostic interviews with parents and teachers; background risk factors included age, sex, SES, family structure, and low birthweight; and cognitive variables were based on index scores (VCI, VSI, WMI, PSI, and VMI) from standardized measures of cognitive ability. To examine these associations, clinical assessment data from a rigorously diagnosed, stimulant medication naïve sample of 354 elementary school-aged children experiencing academic difficulties and behavioural symptoms of INA and/or H/I were analyzed. It was expected that a) higher scores of INA, not H/I, would be associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills, and that b) these associations would persist after accounting for known background risk factors and cognitive processing variables.

As expected, results indicated that higher levels of INA (before accounting for background risk factors and cognitive variables) significantly predicted lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills, providing support for the first hypothesis. This finding is consistent with an abundance of previous research that has demonstrated a negative linear relationship between INA symptom severity and academic achievement (Lan et al., 2011;

Merrell et al., 2017; Noda et al., 2013; Plourde et al., 2015; Sayal et al., 2015; Willcutt et al., 2007a). This finding provides further support for the well-established association between INA and academic underachievement, as well as the robustness of INA as a predictor of underachievement across academic domains, as increasing levels of INA predicted lower scores in all three academic skills assessed (reading, spelling, and math). Conversely, higher levels of H/I behaviours were not expected to predict academic underachievement (Garner et al., 2013; Polderman et al., 2010). Consistent with previous research (e.g., Merrell et al., 2017), higher levels of H/I were not associated with lower scores in math. Interestingly however, higher scores of H/I significantly predicted higher scores in reading and spelling skills. This finding was unexpected.

A possible explanation for this unexpected finding comes from a body of research suggesting that certain H/I behaviours could potentially be advantageous to academic achievement (Tymms & Merrell, 2011). Specifically, it has been suggested that the DSM-IV/DSM-5 item "Often blurts out an answer before a question has been completed" (APA, 2013, p. 60) could be conceptualized as a form of cognitive impulsivity, potentially indicating the ability to compute answers rapidly, manifesting in the form of an overt impulsive behaviour (Merrell & Tymms, 2005; Oades et al., 2008; Tymms & Merrell, 2011). A study conducted by Tymms and Merrell (2011) that investigated the relationships between academic achievement and INA and H/I by examining the unique contributions of specific DSM-IV/DSM-5 items separately found that impulsivity was positively associated with reading and math outcomes. Specifically, they found that while higher levels of INA were strongly associated with lower scores in reading and math, higher levels of hyperactivity were not associated with math scores

and weakly associated with reading scores, and higher levels of impulsivity were associated with higher scores in both outcomes. This study then compared each of the three DSM-IV/DSM-5 impulsivity items separately and found that the item "Often blurts out an answer before a question has been completed" had the strongest positive associations with reading and math scores after controlling for INA. Although the authors note that further research is necessary before concluding that specific impulsive behaviours could be advantageous to academic achievement, this research offers a potential explanation to the finding of the current study, where higher levels of H/I were associated with higher scores in reading and spelling. The data available from the current study, however, do not allow for this analysis.

It was also expected that higher scores of INA, not H/I, would continue to be associated with lower scores in basic reading, spelling, and math skills after accounting for background risk factors and cognitive processing variables (hypothesis 2). This hypothesis was not supported. More specifically, although higher scores of INA were significantly associated with lower scores in reading, spelling, and math initially (confirming the first hypothesis), these associations did not persist when cognitive variables were added to the models. Overall, cognitive variables accounted for the majority of the variance across the three academic domains (basic reading, spelling, math skills). Specifically, VCI, WMI, and VMI were statistically significant predictors for reading and spelling, and all cognitive variables (VCI, VSI, WMI, PSI, and VMI) were statistically significant predictors for math. Although the hypothesis that higher levels of INA would continue to predict basic reading, spelling, and math scores after accounting for background and cognitive variables was not supported, several potential interpretations could explain this finding.

One interpretation of this finding is based on a body of literature that suggests that subjectively measured INA behaviours alone cannot solely account for the academic underachievement experienced by students with high levels of INA behaviours (Preston et al., 2009; Steele et al., 2012). Notably, INA behaviour reduction through treatment with stimulant medication produces questionable improvements on academic achievement, particularly on standardized measures of achievement (Barnard-Brak & Brak, 2011; Corkum et al., 2010; Currie et al., 2013; Loe & Feldman, 2007). Continued academic underachievement despite the reduction of INA behaviours raises the question of which other factors are contributing to the academic impairments evident in students with high levels of INA behaviours. Empirical research has suggested that academic underachievement experienced by children with high levels of INA is a product of deficits in cognitive abilities, as INA is thought to be characterized by underlying impairments in cognitive abilities (Mayes & Calhoun, 2007a; 2007b; Preston et al., 2011).

Specifically, research has consistently demonstrated associations between INA and deficits in working memory, processing speed, visual spatial abilities, and visual-motor integration skills (Brossard-Racine et al., 2011; Chiang et al., 2013; Semrud-Clikeman, 2012; Kibby et al., 2019; Rogers et al., 2011). Deficits in these cognitive abilities, however, have also been associated with academic underachievement in reading (Bellocchi et al., 2017; Christopher et al., 2012; Moll et al., 2016; Norton & Wolf, 2012; Son & Meisels, 2006; Willcutt et al., 2013), spelling (Berninger et al., 1992; Longcamp et al., 2008; Wimmer et al., 2010), and math (Cheng & Mix, 2014; Hawes et al., 2017; Moll et al., 2016; Son & Meisels, 2006; Swanson, 2016; Swanson et al., 2019; Willcutt et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2014). Given the associations between high levels of INA and deficits in cognitive abilities, as well as the associations between academic underachievement and deficits in cognitive abilities, it is likely that deficits in

cognitive abilities associated with INA are driving the relationship between high levels of INA and academic underachievement, as previously suggested by Mayes and Calhoun (2007a; 2007b). This conceptualization of the associations between INA, cognitive deficits, and academic underachievement is consistent with the results of the present study, in which cognitive variables accounted for the largest proportion of the variance in academic achievement.

Another interpretation of this finding could be that cognitive factors are stronger predictors of academic achievement than INA at the developmental stage of the present sample. The majority of the sample consisted of children in lower elementary grades (Grade 2 on average), and INA is thought to exert a greater effect on academic achievement as academic demands increase in higher grades (Barkley et al., 1997; Spira & Fischel, 2007). The age of the participants could also potentially explain the relatively low proportion of the variance (2-3%) that INA accounted for initially before including the demographic and cognitive variables to the models. Additionally, research including subjectively measured INA behaviours (i.e., based on parent- and/or teacher-rated behaviours) as well as objectively measured INA (i.e., based on tasks thought to be tapping into distinct aspects of attentional processes, namely sustained, selective, and executive attention) demonstrated that, while objective measures significantly predicted reading and math outcomes, subjective measures did not predict these outcomes after accounting for cognitive factors (Preston et al., 2011; Steele et al., 2012). The finding that subjectively measured INA behaviours were not associated with reading and math outcomes is consistent with the present study.

Higher levels of H/I behaviours were not expected to be associated with lower scores on basic reading, spelling, and math skills, as previous research suggests that H/I is an inconsistent predictor of academic achievement (Garner et al., 2013; Gray et al., 2017; Polderman et al.,

2010). As expected, higher levels of H/I did not significantly predict reading and spelling scores. However, results indicated that higher levels of H/I significantly predicted lower scores in math. Although this finding was unexpected, it is not entirely surprising. Several studies have demonstrated associations, albeit inconsistently, between increasing levels of H/I and decreased math scores (Currie & Stabile, 2006; Saudino & Plomin, 2007). Furthermore, students with high levels of H/I behaviours tend to make careless mistakes on math tasks, which could potentially explain this association.

Previous research has stressed the importance of including background risk factors as covariates in research investigating INA and academic achievement to avoid potential confounds (Polderman et al., 2010). In the present study, background demographic variables were not consistently associated with academic achievement across academic domains, with associations varying across outcomes. For example, no background variable was significantly associated with reading scores after cognitive variables were added to the model. For spelling, age and SES were significant predictors when cognitive variables were added to the model. The association between spelling and SES (measured by the highest level of educational attainment of the parent with the highest education), however, was in the opposite direction than what would be expected. Specifically, spelling scores decreased as SES increased. This finding was unexpected and counterintuitive, and no precedence was found in the literature to explain this association. Furthermore, although math scores were initially associated with age, sex, and SES, only age and sex continued to be associated with math scores when cognitive and behavioural variables were added to the model. Overall, background demographic variables identified by previous research as risk factors for academic achievement were inconsistently associated with reading, spelling, and math scores. Specific background risk factors were associated with specific academic

outcomes, with a greater number of background risk factors associated with math scores. Nevertheless, it was decided to retain the background risk factors as covariates in the models as research suggests that these variables are known to affect both, INA and academic achievement, to varying degrees (Duncan et al., 2007; Warner-Rogers et al., 2000).

Notably, although the entire sample consisted of children suspected of having ADHD who were referred for an ADHD assessment, only approximately half the sample met diagnostic criteria for ADHD. An almost equal proportion of children met diagnostic criteria for LD, and close to one third of the sample met criteria for Mental Health (MH) disorders other than ADHD or LD (such as ODD, GAD, ASD, Sleep Disorders, and other MH disorders). Of note, close to two thirds of children meeting diagnostic criteria for ADHD or LD also met criteria for at least one comorbid diagnosis. Importantly, during screening procedures implemented to determine eligibility for clinical assessment, the entire sample met criteria for ADHD based on parentand/or teacher-rated behaviours on rating scales. In sum, although the entire sample appeared to present with high levels of INA and H/I behaviours and were considered to have ADHD based on behavioural rating scales, comprehensive clinical assessment procedures determined that not all INA and H/I behaviours warranted an ADHD diagnosis. This finding highlights the fact that parent- and/or teacher-rated INA and H/I behaviours are not necessarily indicative of ADHD, as INA and H/I behaviours are also characteristic of conditions and MH disorders other than ADHD. Additionally, rating scales lack the specificity to sufficiently be used as a sole diagnostic instrument (Parker & Corkum, 2013). The clinical description of this sample underscores the importance of comprehensive, evidence-based, differential diagnostic procedures to determine accurate diagnoses and appropriate interventions.

Additionally, between 31-38% of children in this sample were underachieving (i.e., scores of one or more standard deviation below the mean) in specific academic domains, with the greatest proportion underachieving in math, and the lowest proportion underachieving in reading (31% in reading, 34% in spelling, and 38% in math). Given that the sample in this study consisted of children experiencing teacher-rated academic difficulties and high levels of INA and/or H/I behaviours, it would be expected that this proportion would be higher, as studies have reported that as many as 80% of students with these difficulties experience academic impairments (Corkum et al., 2010; DuPaul & Langberg, 2014). This finding highlights the importance of standardized testing, as teacher-rated underachievement based on subjective measures (commonly referred to as academic performance; e.g., grades, assignment quality, homework completion, classroom functioning) do not necessarily indicate deficits in academic skills (Langberg et al., 2011). Although subjective measures are important indicators of future academic success and educational attainment (Casillas et al., 2012), they are often unable to accurately quantify academic skills (Langberg et al., 2011). Therefore, when deficits in academic skills are suspected, standardized achievement tests should be included in comprehensive assessments to determine the presence or absence of academic impairments. Importantly, identifying deficits in specific skills is essential to determining appropriate interventions.

Strengths, Limitations, and Future Direction

The present study had several strengths. This study included a large, rigorously diagnosed, stimulant medication naïve clinical sample. Notably, very few studies investigating the association between INA and H/I behaviours and academic achievement include rigorously diagnosed samples, and even fewer studies include rigorously diagnosed samples of this size. The large sample size (N = 354) increases the generalizability and accuracy of the results.

Additionally, the comprehensive, evidence-based assessment methods implemented during the assessment process, which included diagnostic interviews based on parent- and teacher-rated behaviours and classroom observations, are considered the gold standard in assessment and diagnosis of ADHD (AACAP, 2007; Farone et al., 2015), and increase the accuracy and validity of the INA and H/I symptom counts included in this study. Also, although the sample in the current sample was a clinical sample, INA and H/I behaviours were measured as a continuously distributed trait and participants not meeting diagnostic threshold were not excluded, as research suggests that these behaviours exist across a continuum (Coghill & Sonuga-Barke, 2012). This dimensional approach to measuring INA and H/I behaviours allows for a better understanding of the impairments associated with increasing levels of these behaviours, and increases the generalizability of the study, as INA and H/I behaviours are thought to be a continuously distributed trait (Lubke et al, 2009; Levy et al., 1997; Polderman et al., 2007).

Previous research has highlighted the importance of including risk factors known to influence both, academic achievement, as well as INA and H/I behaviours, as covariates in studies investigating the associations between these behaviours and academic achievement (Polderman et al., 2010). This issue was addressed in the present study, which included known risk factors and accounted for their unique contribution to academic achievement. Also of note, academic achievement in this study was measured by standardized achievement tests, which provide accurate quantifications of deficits in academic skills, and can be compared across studies. Additionally, the use of standardized achievement measures holds clinical utility, as they are frequently used to determine diagnoses in clinical and educational settings, and therefore increase the ecological validity of this study.

Certain limitations to the present should be acknowledged. Notably, although the dimensional measurement of INA and H/I behaviours allowed for the inclusion of all participants assessed by the clinic, the sample in this study was, nonetheless, a clinically referred sample of children suspected of ADHD. Therefore, it is likely that the INA and H/I symptom counts in this study were elevated compared to INA and H/I behaviours in the general population. Future research should consider including non-referred children in addition to clinically referred children to investigate these associations. Additionally, the present sample consisted of children in lower elementary grades who were, on average, enrolled in Grade 2. However, research suggests that INA is more important to academic achievement as academic demands increase in higher grades, and INA behaviours often become more evident at later developmental stages (Barkley et al., 1997; Spira & Fischel, 2007). Additionally, symptoms of H/I are thought to be relatively unstable, as research indicates that they are more prominent in younger children and tend to decrease with age (APA, 2013). Given the young age of the participants in this study and the developmental course of INA and H/I symptoms, it is possible that the results in this study would not generalize to an older sample. It would be interesting to investigate the same research questions in a follow-up study that would include a subsample of this sample at a later developmental stage, or to investigate adult outcomes of this sample. Also, future research could consider investigating these results in comparison with older children.

A substantial amount of research has consistently identified INA as a robust predictor of academic achievement (Merrell et al., 2017; Sayal et al., 2015). However, results from the present study indicated that higher levels of INA did not significantly predict academic achievement after accounting for cognitive abilities. The present study measured INA based on parent- and teacher-rated behaviours and did not use objective measures of INA, which is a

limitation in this study, and could potentially explain this finding. Future research could consider including objective measures of INA (e.g., Continuous Performance Task, Visual Search Task, Spatial Conflict Task) to examine the associations between INA and academic achievement. Additionally, while the present study found an association between higher levels of INA and academic underachievement, this association did not persist after accounting for cognitive abilities. Cognitive abilities are known to influence both, academic achievement, as well as INA (Polderman et al., 2010). Despite the known associations between deficits in cognitive abilities and INA, however, the direction of this relationship remains unclear. It would be interesting to investigate whether INA mediates or moderates the relationship between cognitive abilities and academic achievement, or whether cognitive abilities mediate or moderate the relationship between INA and academic achievement.

An additional limitation of this study was the limited number of indicators of academic achievement that were included, which may limit the generalizability of the results to overall academic achievement. Specifically, the objective of this study was to investigate the associations between increasing levels of INA and basic reading, spelling, and math skills, as these basic skills are known to influence the acquisition of more complex skills. For example, decoding skills are known to influence reading comprehension skills (Perfetti, 1992; Samuels, 1994; Stanovich, 2000); basic spelling skills are known to influence writing composition skills (Hayes & Flower, 1980; Juel, 1988; Juel et al., 1986; Scardamalia & Bereiter, 1986); and basic math skills are known to influence math problem-solving skills (Geary & Hoard, 2005). However, it is possible that INA exerts a greater influence on more complex skills than it exerts on basic skills. Basic skills tend to become more automatized with increasing exposure (Geary & Hoard, 2005; National Reading Panel, 2000) and could potentially require fewer attentional

skills. Therefore, future research could consider investigating the associations between increasing levels of INA and complex academic skills, such as reading comprehension, writing composition, and math problem solving skills, in addition to basic skills, after accounting for known risk factors. A final limitation to note is that, although the present study accounted for several risk factors known to influence the relationship between INA and academic achievement, certain important risk factors were not included. For example, the presence of an LD or other comorbid MH diagnoses are known to influence academic achievement but were not included in this study. Similarly, background risk factors, such as childhood adversity (e.g., trauma, caregiver neglect, maltreatment, abuse, domestic violence) and physical health conditions are also known to influence academic achievement. Additionally, cognitive variables, such as overall memory abilities or phonological processing skills are known to influence academic achievement but, similarly, were not included in this study. Future research could examine these associations including these known predictors of academic achievement as covariates.

Clinical and Educational Implications

The present study underscores several important implications for the practice of school psychology. Results from the current study indicated that, although INA significantly predicted academic achievement, the association did not persist after accounting for cognitive abilities. This finding highlights the importance and contribution of cognitive factors to academic achievement, which in turn, emphasizes the importance of administering psycho-educational batteries to students demonstrating high levels of INA and/or H/I behaviours and academic difficulties. The early identification of deficits in specific cognitive abilities and impairments in specific academic skills is essential to guiding instruction and interventions. Although cognitive abilities are generally not considered malleable, understanding the challenges a student with

specific cognitive deficits experiences is essential to a school psychologist's recommendations. For example, breaking complex tasks into smaller, more manageable steps reduces demands on cognitive load and is helpful to students with working memory deficits. Importantly, although deficits in cognitive abilities have been consistently associated with academic impairments, with the appropriate instructional modifications and classroom supports in place, deficits in cognitive abilities are not deterministic of academic underachievement (Gottfredson, 1997).

Additionally, standardized tests of academic achievement, which are typically included in standard psycho-educational assessments, are thought to accurately identify impairments in specific academic skills (Kaufmann et al., 2012). In contrast, subjective measures of achievement, which rely on classroom performance and teacher-rated progress, are often unable to quantify skills deficits (Langberg et al., 2011). For example, a student who is unable to remain seated or on-task long enough to complete a classroom task will most likely receive low grades. However, a low grade would not necessarily indicate a skills deficit. Similarly, non-disruptive students receiving additional support from teachers and assistance from parents would likely receive satisfactory grades. However, a satisfactory grade would not necessarily indicate the absence of a skills deficit. Early identification of deficits in specific academic skills is essential to guiding appropriate interventions, as undetected skills deficits could potentially be detrimental to a student's academic progress.

Notably, although deficits in academic skills are important factors for school psychologists to consider when determining appropriate interventions and supports, INA and H/I behaviours should be taken into consideration in conjunction with skills deficits. The present study underscores the importance of understanding INA and H/I behaviours at the symptom level rather than the diagnosis level. Specifically, although the entire sample was thought to be

experiencing academic difficulties and suspected of ADHD, only half the sample met diagnostic criteria for ADHD. This finding demonstrates that high levels of INA and/or H/I behaviours are not necessarily indicators of ADHD, as students can appear INA or H/I for several reasons other than ADHD. For example, a student could appear distracted or off-task due to lack of sleep or a sleep disorder, due to MH disorders other than ADHD, such MDD, OCD, ASD, or PTSD, or due to an LD when presented with a difficult academic task (Abramovitch et al., 2013; Grzadzinski et al., 2011; Levin et al., 2007; Nitschke et al., 2004; Precenzano et al., 2016; Szymanski et al., 2011). Similarly, a student with an LD demonstrating out of seat behaviours when expected to complete seat work could potentially be attempting to avoid a difficult academic task. In sum, although INA and H/I behaviours are core symptoms of ADHD, they are also characteristic of other conditions or MH disorders, which underscores the importance of identifying the factors underlying the INA or H/I behaviour through differential diagnosis procedures. When school psychologists are confronted with the challenging task of interpreting parent- and teacher-rated INA and H/I behaviours, a differential diagnosis is necessary to determine accurate diagnoses and appropriate interventions. It is the responsibility of the school psychologist to help parents and teachers understand the factors underlying INA and H/I behaviours. Importantly, interventions and supports should be guided by symptoms and factors underlying behaviours, and not be based solely on diagnoses.

Conclusions

The present study indicated that, while increasing levels of INA behaviours were associated with academic underachievement in basic reading, spelling, and math skills, these associations did not persist when cognitive abilities were taken into accounted. This finding highlights the importance of looking beyond observable INA and H/I behaviours to determine

the underlying factors influencing academic achievement. Importantly, accurate identification of deficits in specific academic skills and the underlying factors influencing achievement in these skills are essential components in determining appropriate recommendations and targeted interventions. Targeted interventions could, in turn, lead to greater academic success in students with academic difficulties. Given the well-established association between academic underachievement and decreased educational, psychosocial, and functional outcomes across the lifespan, improving a student's academic functioning can potentially lead to subsequent improved life outcomes.

Demographic Characteristics	N (%)	M(SD)	Minimum	Maximum
Sex				
Male	247 (70%)	-	-	-
Female	107 (30%)	-	-	-
Age	-	8.56 (1.62)	5.42	12.58
Grade	-	2.80 (1.65)	0	7
Parental Education	-	5.95 (1.63)	3	8
Family Structure				
1-Parent Family	72 (20%)	-	-	-
2-Parent Family	282 (80%)	-	-	-
Birthweight	-	7.55 (1.41)	2.25	11.06

Demographic Characteristics of Total Sample (N = 354)

Note. Age measured in years. Grade measured in numeric grade level (0 = Grade Primary). Parental Education was used as a univariate proxy measure of SES, and was measured by the highest level of education attained by the parent with the highest education on a scale of 1 to 8 (1 = some elementary; 2 = completed elementary; 3 = some secondary; 4 = completed secondary; 5 = some community or technical college; 6 = completed community or technical college; 7 = some university or teachers college; 8 = completed university or teachers college}. Birthweight measured in pounds.

	Total Sa $N = 3$	mple 54	
Mental Health Diagnosis	N	%	
ADHD Total	184	52	
ADHD Presentation			
ADHD-PI	56	16	5
ADHD-HI	15	4	ŀ
ADHD-C	113	32	2
Learning Disability (LD)	186	53	
MH Dx other than ADHD and/or LD	103	29	
Oppositional Defiant Disorder	21	6	5
Generalized Anxiety Disorder	20	6	5
Autism Spectrum Disorder	16	5	5
Sleep Disorders	15	4	ŀ
Specific Phobia	10	3	;
Enuresis	9	3	;
Tourette's Disorder	9	3	;
Chronic Motor Tics	6	2	2
Stereotypical Movements	5	1	
Conduct Disorder	4	1	-
Obsessions	4	1	
Other MH Disorders ^a	19	5	5
No Diagnosis	37	11	

Clinical Description of Sample Indicating Number and Percentages of Mental Health Disorders Diagnosed in Sample

Note. ADHD = Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. ADHD-PI = Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Predominantly Inattentive Presentation. ADHD-HI = Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Hyperactive/Impulsive Presentation. ADHD-C = Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Combined Presentation. LD = Learning Disability. LD includes students considered at-risk for Learning Disability. MH Dx = Mental Health Diagnosis/es.

a. Other MH Disorders = Disorders that were diagnosed in less than 1% (3 or less counts per diagnosis) of the total sample and include diagnoses of Acute Traumatic Stress, Body Dysmorphic Disorder, Chronic Vocal Tics, Compulsions, Dysthymic Disorder, Encopresis, Major Depressive Disorder, Mania/Hypomania, Separation Anxiety Disorder, Social Phobia, Transient Tic Disorder

Number of		Total N	Sample 354
Diagnoses	Diagnoses	Ν	%
	ADHD-only	74	21
1 Diagnosis	LD-only	70	20
n = 170 (48%)	Other MH Diagnosis ^a	26	7
	ADHD + LD	70	20
	ADHD + 1 Additional MH Diagnosis ^a	19	5
2 Diagnoses	LD + 1 Additional MH Diagnosis	19	5
n = 112 (31%)	2 Other MH Diagnoses	4	1
	ADHD + LD + 1 Additional MH Diagnosis	16	5
	ADHD + 2 Additional MH Diagnoses	3	1
3 Diagnoses	LD + 2 Additional MH Diagnoses	7	2
n = 29(9%)	3 Other MH Diagnoses	3	1
4 Diagnoses	ADHD + LD + 2 Additional MH Diagnoses	2	1
n = 3(1%)	LD + 3 Additional MH Diagnoses	1	<1
5-6 Diagnoses	LD + 4 Additional MH Diagnoses	1	<1
n = 3(1%)	5-6 Other MH Diagnoses	2	1
No Diagnosis		37	11

Clinical Description of Total Sample, Indicating Numbers and Percentages of Comorbid Diagnoses

Note. ADHD = Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. LD = Learning Disability. LD includes students considered at-risk for Learning Disability. MH Diagnosis/es = Mental Health Diagnosis/es.

a. Other/Additional MH Diagnosis/es = Disorders other than ADHD and LD, including Acute Traumatic Stress, Autism Spectrum Disorder, Body Dysmorphic Disorder, Chronic Motor Tics, Chronic Vocal Tics, Compulsions, Conduct Disorder, Dysthymic Disorder, Encopresis, Enuresis, Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Major Depressive Disorder, Mania/Hypomania, Obsessions, Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Separation Anxiety Disorder, Sleep Disorders, Social Phobia, Specific Phobia, Stereotypical Movements, Transient Tic Disorder, Tourette's Disorder.

Means, Standard Deviations, and Minimum and Maximum Scores for Inattentive and Hyperactive/Impulsive Symptoms Endorsed on PICS and TTI Based on Parent-Rated (PICS) and Teacher-Rated (TTI) Inattentive and Hyperactive/Impulsive Behaviours

Behavioral Symptoms	Mean	SD	Minimum Score	Maximum Score
Inattention Total				
(PICS + TTI)	10.23	4.44	0	18
Parent-Rated (PICS)	4.72	2.86	0	9
Teacher-Rated (TTI)	5.52	2.72	0	9
Hyperactivity/Impulsivity				
(PICS + TTI)	8.10	5.20	0	18
Parent-Rated (PICS)	4.41	3.04	0	9
Teacher-Rated (TTI)	3.69	3.14	0	9

Note. PICS = Parent Interview for Child Symptoms (Schachar et al., 2000); TTI = Teacher Telephone Interview (Tannock et al., 2002). Scores range from 0-9 on each measure.

Means, Standard Deviations, and Minimum/Maximum Scores for WISC and VMI Indices
Presented in Standard Scores ($M = 100$; $SD = 15$)

			Minimum	Maximum
Index	Mean	SD	Score	Score
VCI	96.74	12.89	63	137
POI/PRI/VSI	100.17	14.08	64	136
FDI/WMI	91.32	12.75	56	130
PSI	90.96	13.36	53	128
VMI	92.16	12.24	59	133

Note. WISC = Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (Third Edition - WISC-III; Fourth Edition – WISC-IV; Fifth Edition – WISC-V; Wechsler 1991; Wechsler 2003; Wechsler 2014). VCI = Verbal Comprehension Index, WISC-III, WISC-IV, WISC-V; POI = Perceptual Organization Index, WISC-III; PRI = Perceptual Reasoning Index, WISC-IV; VSI = Visual Spatial Index, WISC-V; FDI = Freedoms from Distraction Index, WISC-III; WMI = Working Memory Index, WISC-IV, WISC-V; PSI = Processing Speed Index, WISC-III, WISC-IV, WISC-V; VMI = Visual Motor Integration Index, Beery-Buktenica Developmental Test of Visual-Motor Integration (Fourth Edition – VMI-4; Fifth Edition – VMI-5; Sixth Edition – VMI-6; Beery, 1997; Beery, 2006; Beery & Beery, 2010).

Means, Standard Deviations, and Minimum/Maximum Scores of WIAT Subtest Standard Scores (M = 100; SD = 15) as Indicators of Academic Achievement in Reading (Word Reading Subtest), Spelling (Spelling Subtest), and Math (Numerical Operations Subtest)

WIAT Subtest	Mean	SD	Minimum Score	Maximum Score
Word Reading	93.63	15.92	54	143
Spelling	89.91	13.83	44	131
Numerical Operations	88.06	13.54	40	127

Note. WIAT = Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (Second Edition – WIAT-II; Third Edition-WIAT–III; Wechsler, 2005; Wechsler, 2009). WIAT scores are presented using index composite scores (M = 100; SD = 15).

Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression Analyses Predicting Academic Achievement in Reading (WIAT Word Reading Subtest), Spelling (WIAT Spelling Subtest), and Mathematics (WIAT Numerical Operations Subtest) from Background Risk Factors, Cognitive Variables, and Total Symptom Count of Parent- and Teacher-Rated Inattention and Hyperactivity/Impulsivity

		Do	main of Acc	damia Achiar	romont	ont			
		Do	main of Aca	define Achiev					
	Re	ading	Sp	belling	Math	nematics			
Predictor	ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β			
Step 1									
Background Risk Factors	.03*		.02		.09***				
Sex		.12*		04		.12*			
Age		06		14*		21***			
Birthweight		.06		.03		.03			
SES		.07		03		.13*			
Family Structure		03		.00		05			
Step 2									
Cognitive Variables	.35***		.28***		.31***				
VCI		.36***		.24***		.20***			
VSI		07		03		.14*			
WMI		.29***		.31***		.21***			
PSI		.09		.03		.13**			
VMI		.12*		.17**		.12*			
Step 3									
Behavioural Variables	.007		.003		.02*				
INA-Total		04		02		002			
HI-Total		.11*		.07		13**			
Total R^2	.38***		.30***		.41***				
n	354		354		354				

Note. WIAT = Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (Second Edition – WIAT-II; Third Edition-WIAT-III; Wechsler, 2005; Wechsler, 2009; M = 100; SD = 15). Background Risk Factors: Sex was coded as 0 = Female, 1 =Male; Age was measured in months; Birthweight was measured in ounces; SES: Parent Educational Attainment was used as a univariate proxy measure of SES, where the highest level of education of the parent with the highest level of education was coded on a scale of 1 to 8 (1 = some elementary; 8 = completed university or teachers college); Family Structure was coded as 0 = 2-parent family, 1 = 1-parent family. Cognitive variables: VCI = Verbal Comprehension Index on Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (Third Edition - WISC-III; Fourth Edition -WISC-IV; Fifth Edition – WISC-V; Wechsler 1991; Wechsler 2003; Wechsler 2014); VSI = Visual Spatial Index, WISC-V (VSI includes Perceptual Organization Index, WISC-III, and Perceptual Reasoning Index, WISC-IV); WMI = Working Memory Index, WISC-IV, WISC-V (WMI includes Freedom from Distraction Index, WISC-III); PSI = Processing Speed Index, WISC-III, WISC-IV, WISC-V; VMI = Visual Motor Integration Index, Beery-Buktenica Developmental Test of Visual-Motor Integration (Fourth Edition - VMI-4; Fifth Edition - VMI-5; Sixth Edition - VMI-6; Beery, 1997; Beery, 2006; Beery & Beery, 2010). WISC and VMI scores are presented using index composite scores (M = 100; SD = 15). Behavioural Variables: INA-Total = Total symptom count of parentand teacher-rated inattention; HI-Total = Total symptom count of parent- and teacher-rated hyperactivity/impulsivity.

* p < .05 ** p < .01 *** p < .001.

References

- Aarnoudse-Moens, C. S. H., Weisglas-Kuperus, N., van Goudoever, J. B., & Oosterlaan, J. (2009). Meta-analysis of neurobehavioral outcomes in very preterm and/or very low birth weight children. *Pediatrics, 124*, 717–728. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-2816.</u>
- Aarnoudse-Moens, C., Oosterlaan, J., Duivenvoorden, H., Van Goudoever, J., & Weisglas-Kuperus, N. (2011). Development of preschool and academic skills in children born very preterm. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 158(1), 51-6.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.06.052.

- Abbott, R., & Berninger, V. (1993). Structural equation modeling of relationships among developmental skills and writing skills in primary- and intermediate-grade writers. *Journal* of Educational Psychology, 85(3), 478-508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.85.3.478.</u>
- Abbott, R., Berninger, V., & Fayol, M. (2010). Longitudinal relationships of levels of language in writing and between writing and reading in Grades 1 to 7. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(2), 281-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019318.</u>
- Abikoff, H., Gallagher, R., Wells, K., Murray, D., Huang, L., Lu, F., & Petkova, E. (2013).
 Remediating organizational functioning in children with ADHD: Immediate and long-term effects from a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *81*(1), 113-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029648.</u>

- Abikoff, H., Jensen, P., Arnold, L., Hoza, B., Hechtman, L., Pollack, S., & Martin, D., Alvir, J., March, J., Hinshaw, S., Vitiello, B., Newcorn, J., Greiner, A., Cantwell, D., Conners, C., Elliott, G., Greenhill, L., Kraemer, H., Pelham, W., Severe, J., Swanson, J., Wells, K., Wigal, T. (2002). Observed classroom behavior of children with ADHD: Relationship to gender and comorbidity. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *30*, 349–359. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015713807297.
- Abramovitch, A., Dar, R., Mittelman, A., & Schweiger, A. (2013). Don't judge a book by its cover: ADHD-like symptoms in obsessive compulsive disorder. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, 2, 53-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2012.09.001</u>.
- Achenbach, T., McConaughy, S., & Howell, C. (1987). Child/Adolescent Behavioral and Emotional Problems: Implications of Cross-Informant Correlations for Situational Specificity. *Psychological Bulletin*, 101(2), 213-232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 2909.101.2.213.
- Alloway, T. P., & Alloway, R. G. (2010). Investigating the predictive roles of working memory and IQ in academic attainment. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 106(1), 20-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2009.11.003</u>.
- Almlund, M., Duckworth, A., Heckman, J., & Kautz, T. (2011). Personality Psychology and Economics. Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA) Discussion Paper No. 5500. Available at: <u>http://ftp.iza.org/dp5500.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- American Academy of Pediatrics. (2011). ADHD: Clinical Practice Guideline for the Diagnosis, Evaluation, and Treatment of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in Children and Adolescents. Pediatrics, 128, 1007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2654</u>

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5* (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2020). *Students experiencing inattention and distractibility*. Center for Psychology in Schools and Education. Available at: https://www.apa.org/ed/schools/primer/inattention.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Arbuckle, C., & Little, E. (2004). Teachers' perceptions and management of disruptive classroom behaviour during the middle years (years five to nine). *Australian Journal of Educational* & *Developmental Psychology, 4,* 59-70. Available at https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ815553.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Arnold, L., Hodgkins, P., Kahle, J., Madhoo, M., & Kewley, G. (2020). Long-term outcomes of ADHD: Academic achievement and performance. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 24(1), 73-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054714566076</u>
- Arpi, E., D'Amico, R., Lucaccioni, L., Bedetti, L., Berardi, A., & Ferrari, F. (2019). Worse global intellectual and worse neuropsychological functioning in preterm-born children at preschool age: A meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatrica*, 108(9), 1567-1579.

https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.14836

Aschliman, C. (2016). Write to Work: The Use and Importance of Writing as Perceived by Business Leaders. [Doctoral dissertation, Virginia Commonwealth University]. VCU Scholars Compass. <u>https://doi.org/10.25772/QMNR-5231</u>

Astone, N. M., & McLanahan, S. S. (1991). Family structure, parental practices and high school completion. *American Sociological Review*, 56, 309 – 320. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2096106</u>

- Atkinson, R. C., & Geiser, S. (2009). Reflections on a century of college admissions tests. *Educational Researcher*, *38*, 665–676. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x09351981</u>
- Aunola, K., Leskinen, E., Lerkkanen, M.-L., & Nurmi, J.-E. (2004). Developmental dynamics of math performance from pre-school to Grade 2. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 96(4), 699–713. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.96.4.699
- Barkley, R. (1997). Behavioral inhibition, sustained attention, and executive functions: constructing a unifying theory of ADHD. *Psychological Bulletin*, *121*(1), 65-94.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.121.1.65</u>
- Barnard-Brak, L., & Brak, V. (2011). Pharmacotherapy and academic achievement among children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology, 21(6), 597-603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/cap.2010.0127</u>.
- Barre, N., Morgan, A., Doyle, L., & Anderson, P. (2011). Language abilities in children who were very preterm and/or very low birth weight: A meta-analysis. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 158(5), 766-774.e1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.10.032</u>
- Battista, M. (1990). Spatial visualization and gender differences in high school geometry.
 Journal for Research in Mathematics Education, 21(1), 47-60.
 https://doi.org/10.2307/749456.
- Beaujean, A. A., Parkin, J., & Parker, S. (2014). Comparing Cattell–Horn–Carroll factor models:
 Differences between bifactor and higher order factor models in predicting language
 achievement. *Psychological Assessment*, 26(3), 789–805. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036745</u>

Becker, M., Baumert, J., Tetzner, J., Maaz, K., & Köller, O. (2019). Childhood intelligence, family background, and gender as drivers of socioeconomic success: The mediating role of education. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(10), 2231-2248.

https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000766

- Beery, K. E., Buktenica, N. A., & Beery, N. A. (2010). Beery VMI: The Beery-Buktenica Developmental Test of Visual-Motor Integration. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Bellocchi, Muneaux, Huau, Lévêque, Jover, & Ducrot. (2017). Exploring the link between visual perception, visual–motor integration, and reading in normal developing and impaired children using DTVP-2. *Dyslexia*, 23(3), 296-315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dys.1561</u>.
- Benson, N. (2007). Cattell–Horn–Carroll cognitive abilities and reading achievement. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment, 26*(1), 27–41.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0734282907301424.

- Berninger, V. W, Abbott, R. D, Abbott, S. P, Graham, S., & Richards, T. (2002). Writing and reading: Connections between language by hand and language by eye. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 35(1), 39-56. https://doi.org/10.1177/002221940203500104
- Berninger, V. W., Abbott, R. D., Thomson, J., Wagner, R., Swanson, H. L., Wijsman, E. M., & Raskind, W. (2006). Modeling phonological core deficits within a working memory architecture in children and adults with developmental dyslexia. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 10(2), 165–198. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s1532799xssr1002_3</u>.
- Berninger, V., Yates, C., Cartwright, A., Rutberg, J., Remy, E., & Abbott, R. (1992). Lowerlevel developmental skills in beginning writing. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 4(3), 257-280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01027151.</u>

- Bhandari, A., & Badre, D. (2016). A nimble working memory. *Neuron*, *91*(3), 503–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.07.030.
- Biblarz, T. J., & Stacey, J. (2010). How does the gender of parents matter? *Journal of Marriage* and the Family, 72, 3–22. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j .1741-3737.2009.00678.x.
- Biederman J, Faraone S, Milberger S, Guite J, Mick E, Chen L, Mennin D, Marrs A, Ouellette C,
 Moore P, Spencer T, Norman D, Wilens T, Kraus I, Perrin J. (1996). A prospective 4-year
 follow-up study of Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity and related disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 53(5), 437–46.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1996.01830050073012.

- Bonczar, T. C. (2003). Prevalence of imprisonment in the U.S. population, 1974-2001.
 Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. Available at https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/piusp01.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Bowers, A. J. (2014). Student risk factors. In D. J. Brewer & L. O. Picus (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of education economics and finance*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Boyle, M., Offord, D., Hofmann, H., Catlin, G., Byles, J., Cadman, D., Crawford, J., Links, P.,
 Rae-Grant, N., & P., Szatmari. (1987). Ontario Child Health Study: I Methodology.
 Archives of General Psychiatry. 44(9). 826-831.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1987.01800210078012.

Bradley, R. H., & Corwyn, R. F. (2002). Socioeconomic status and child development. *Annual review of Psychology*, *53*(1), 371-399.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135233.

- Bradley, R., Corwyn, R., Burchinal, M., McAdoo, H., & García Coll, C. (2001). The home environments of children in the United States Part II: Relations with behavioral development through age thirteen. *Child Development*, 72(6), 1868-1886. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.t01-1-00383.
- Braveman, P., & Barclay, C. (2009). Health disparities beginning in childhood: a life-course perspective. *Pediatrics*, *124*, 163–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2009-1100D</u>.
- Britton, J., Bar-Haim, Y., Carver, F., Holroyd, T., Norcross, M., Detloff, A., Leibenluft, E., Ernst, M., & Pine, D. (2012). Isolating neural components of threat bias in pediatric anxiety. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 53(6), 678-686.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02503.x

- Brookhart, S. (1994). Teachers' Grading: Practice and Theory. *Applied Measurement in Education*, 7(4), 279-301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324818ame0704_2</u>
- Brookhart, S. M., Guskey, T. R., Bowers, A. J., Mcmillan, J. H., Smith, J. K., Smith, L. F,
 Stevens, M. T., & Welsh, M. E. (2016). A Century of Grading Research: Meaning and
 Value in the Most Common Educational Measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(4),
 803-848. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654316672069</u>
- Brossard-Racine, M., Majnemer, A., Shevell, M., Snider, L., & Bélanger, S. (2011). Handwriting capacity in children newly diagnosed with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 32(6), 2927-2934.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2011.05.010.

Buchmann, C., DiPrete, T. A., & McDaniel, A. (2008). Gender inequalities in education. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *34*, 319–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.34.040507.134719</u>.

- Buckingham, J., Beaman, R., & Wheldall, K. (2014). Why poor children are more likely to become poor readers: The early years. *Educational Review*, 66(4), 428-446. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2013.795129
- Bull, R., & Johnston, R. S. (1997). Children's arithmetical difficulties: Contributions from processing speed, item identification, and short-term memory. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 65(1), 1–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/jecp.1996.2358</u>
- Bureau of Justice Statistics (2013). *National inmate survey*, 2011–2012. Washington, DC: United States Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.
- Burnett, A., Anderson, P., Cheong, J., Doyle, L., Davey, C., & Wood, S. (2011). Prevalence of psychiatric diagnoses in preterm and full-term children, adolescents and young adults: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 41(12), 2463-2474.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S003329171100081X.

- Bussing, R., Fernandez, Harwood, Wei Hou, Garvan, Eyberg, & Swanson. (2008). Parent and teacher SNAP-IV ratings of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder symptoms:
 Psychometric properties and normative ratings from a school district sample. *Assessment*, 15(3), 317-328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191107313888.</u>
- Bynner, J., & Parsons, S. (2006). Does numeracy matter more? National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy, Institute of Education, University of London: London. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Sam_Parsons/publication/245969683_Does_Numerac_y_Matter_More.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.

- Caemmerer, J., Maddocks, D., Keith, T., & Reynolds, M. (2018). Effects of cognitive abilities on child and youth academic achievement: Evidence from the WISC-V and WIAT-III. *Intelligence*, 68, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2018.02.005.</u>
- Calhoun, S., & Mayes, S. (2005). Processing speed in children with clinical disorders. *Psychology in the Schools, 42*(4), 333-343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20067</u>.

Camarata, S., & Woodcock, R. (2006). Sex differences in processing speed: Developmental effects in males and females. *Intelligence*, 34(3), 231-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2005.12.001.</u>

- Carlson, M., & Corcoran, M. (2001). Family structure and children's behavioral and cognitive outcomes. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 63(3), 779-792. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2001.00779.x</u>
- Carnevale, A. P., Smith, N., & Strohl, J. (2013). Recovery: Job growth and education requirements through 2020. Available at:
 <u>https://repository.library.georgetown.edu/bitstream/handle/10822/559311/Recovery2020.F</u>
 <u>R.Web.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Caro, D., Mcdonald, J., & Willms, J. (2009). Socio-economic Status and Academic Achievement Trajectories from Childhood to Adolescence. *Canadian Journal of Education / Revue Canadienne De L'éducation*, 32(3), 558-590. Available at: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ859263.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Carroll, J. B. (1993). *Human cognitive abilities: A survey of factor-analytic studies*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

- Carroll, J., Maughan, B., Goodman, R., & Meltzer, H. (2005). Literacy difficulties and psychiatric disorders: Evidence for comorbidity. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 46(5), 524-532. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00366.x</u>.
- Casillas, A., Robbins, S., Allen, J., Kuo, Y., Hanson, M., & Schmeiser, C. (2012). Predicting early academic failure in high school from prior academic achievement, Psychosocial Characteristics, and Behavior. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *104*(2), 407-420. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027180.
- Cataldi, E. F., & KewalRamani, A. (2009). *High school dropout and completion rates in the United States: 2007 compendium report (NCES Report No. 2009 – 064)*. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics. Available at: <u>https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2009/2009064.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.

Ceci, S. J. (1991). How much does schooling influence general intelligence and its cognitive components? A reassessment of the evidence. *Developmental Psychology*, 27, 703–722.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.27.5.703.

Chall, J. S. (1983). Stages of reading development. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Cheng, Y.-L., & Mix, K. S. (2014). Spatial training improves children's mathematics ability. Journal of Cognition and Development, 15, 2–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15248372.2012.725186</u>.

Chiang, H., Huang, L., Gau, S., & Shang, C. (2013). Associations of symptoms and subtypes of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder with visuospatial planning ability in youth.

Research in Developmental Disabilities, 34(9), 2986-2995.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2013.06.020.

Child, A., Cirino, P., Fletcher, J., Willcutt, E., & Fuchs, L. (2019). A cognitive dimensional approach to understanding shared and unique contributions to reading, math, and attention skills. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 52(1), 15-30.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219418775115.

- Christopher, M., Miyake, A., Keenan, J., Pennington, B., DeFries, J., Wadsworth, S., Willcutt, E., & Olson, R. (2012). Predicting word reading and comprehension with executive function and speed measures across development: a latent variable analysis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 141*(3), 470-488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027375</u>
- Cliffordson, C. (2008). Differential prediction of study success across academic programs in the Swedish context: The validity of grades and tests as selection instruments for higher education. *Educational Assessment*, 13, 56–75.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10627190801968240.

- Coghill, D., & Sonuga-Barke, E. (2012). Annual research review: categories versus dimensions in the classification and conceptualisation of child and adolescent mental disorders implications of recent empirical study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 53(5), 469-489. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02511.x.
- Colom, R., Abad, F., Garcia, L., & Juan-Espinosa, M. (2002). Education, Wechsler's Full-Scale IQ, and g. *Intelligence*, *30*(5), 449-462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-2896(02)00122-8</u>
- Conger, R. D., Conger, K. J., & Martin, M. J. (2010). Socioeconomic status, family processes, and individual development. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 72(3), 685-704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00725.x</u>.
- Conners, C. K. (1997). *Conners' Rating Scales-Revised: Technical manual*. North Tonawanda, NY: Multi-Health Systems.

- Copeland, W. E., Shanahan, L., Costello, E. J., & Angold, A. (2009). Childhood and adolescent psychiatric disorders as predictors of young adult disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66(7), 764–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.85.</u>
- Corkum, P., & Coulombe, J. A. (2013). Sleep in the context of ADHD: A review of reviews to determine implications for research and clinical practice. In H. Montgomery-Downs & A.
 R. Wolfson (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of infant, child, and adolescent sleep:*Development and problems (pp. 495- 514). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Corkum, P., McGonnell, M., & Schachar, R. (2010). Factors affecting academic achievement in children with ADHD. *Journal of Applied Research on Learning*, 3(9), 1-14. Available at: <u>http://en.copian.ca/library/research/jarl/factors/factors.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Cormier, D. C., Bulut, O., McGrew, K. S., & Frison, J. (2016). The role of Cattell–Horn–Carroll (CHC) cognitive abilities in predicting writing achievement during the school-age year.
 Psychology in the Schools, 53(8), 787–803. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pits.21945</u>.
- Cormier, D. C., McGrew, K. S., Bulut, O., & Funamoto, A. (2017). Revisiting the relations between the WJ-IV measures of Cattell-Horn-Carroll (CHC) cognitive abilities and reading achievement during the school-age years. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment, 35*(8), 731–754. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734282916659208.
- Cornoldi, C., Del Prete, F., Gallani, A., Sella, F., & Re, A. M. (2010). Components affecting expressive writing in typical and disabled writers. *Advances in Learning and Behavioral Disabilities*, 23, 269–286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/S0735-004X(2010)0000023012</u>.

- Cortese, S., Faraone, S. V., Konofal, E., & Lecendreux, M. (2009). Sleep in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: meta-analysis of subjective and objective studies. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 48, 894–908. https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181ac09c9.
- Costa, D. S., Miranda, D. M., Burnett, A. C., Doyle, L. W., Cheong, J. L. Y., Anderson, P. J., & Victorian Infant Collaborative Study Group. (2017). Executive function and academic outcomes in children who were extremely preterm. *Pediatrics*, 140(3). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-0257.
- Cowan, R., Donlan, C., Shepherd, D.-L., Cole-Fletcher, R., Saxton, M., & Hurry, J. (2011).
 Basic calculation proficiency and mathematics achievement in elementary school children.
 Journal of Educational Psychology, *103*, 786–803. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0024556</u>.
- Cunningham, A., & Stanovich, K. (1991). Tracking the unique effects of print exposure in children: associations with vocabulary, general knowledge, and spelling. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 83(2), 264-274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.83.2.264.</u>
- Currie, J., & Stabile, M. (2006). Child mental health and human capital accumulation: The case of ADHD. *Journal of Health Economics*, 25(6), 1094-1118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2006.03.001</u>.
- Currie, J., Stabile, M., & Jones, L. E. (2013, June). Do stimulant medications improve educational and behavioral outcomes for children with ADHD? (NBER Working Paper No. 19105). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. Available at: https://www.nber.org/papers/w19105.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.

- Cutler, D. M., Lleras-Muney, A. Education and health: Evaluating theories and evidence. NBER working paper No. W12352. Cambridge (MA): National Bureau of Economic Research;
 2006. Available at: <u>https://econpapers.repec.org/paper/nbrnberwo/12352.htm</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Daley, D. & Birchwood (2010). ADHD and academic performance: Why does ADHD impact on academic performance and what can be done to support ADHD children in the classroom? *Child: Care, Health and Development, 36*(4), 455-464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-</u>2214.2009.01046.x.
- Dane, A. V., Schachar, R. J., & Tannock, R. (2000). Does actigraphy differentiate ADHD subtypes in a clinical research setting? *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 39, 752–760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200006000-00014</u>.
- Daneman, M., & Merikle, P. (1996). Working memory and language comprehension: A metaanalysis. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 3(4), 422-433. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03214546.
- Darney, D., Reinke, W., Herman, K., Stormont, M., & Ialongo, N. (2013). Children with cooccurring academic and behavior problems in first grade: Distal outcomes in twelfth grade. *Journal of School Psychology*, 51(1), 117-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2012.09.005</u>.
- Dauber, S. L., Alexander, K. L., & Entwisle, D. R. (1993). Characteristics of retainees and early precursors of retention in grade: Who is held back? *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly, 39*, 326–343. Available at: <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/23087424</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Deary, I. J., Strand, S., Smith, P., & Fernandes, C. (2007). Intelligence and educational achievement. Intelligence, 35, 13–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2006.02.001.</u>
- Delgado, A. R., & Prieto, G. (2004). Cognitive mediators and sex-related differences in mathematics. *Intelligence*, *32*(1), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-2896(03)00061-8.
- Dinehart, L., & Manfra, L. (2013). Associations between low-income children's fine motor skills in preschool and academic performance in second grade. *Early Education & Development*, 24, 138–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2011.636729</u>.
- Dombrowski, S. C., Kamphaus, R. W., & Reynolds, C. R. (2004). After the demise of the discrepancy: Proposed learning disabilities diagnostic criteria. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *35*, 364–372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7028.35.4.364</u>
- Doyle, L., Callanan, C., Campbell, C., Chandler, S., Cheong, J., Anderson, P., Battin, M.,
 Bowen, J., Brown, N., Darlow, B., Davis, P., DePaoli, T., French, N., McPhee, A., Morris,
 A., O'Callaghan, M., Rieger, I., Roberts, G., Spittle, A., Wolke, D., & Woodward, L.
 (2014). Long term follow-up of high risk children: Who, why and how? *BMC Pediatrics*, *14*(1), 279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2431-14-279</u>.
- Dubow, E., Huesmann, L., Boxer, P., Pulkkinen, L., & Kokko, K. (2006). Middle childhood and adolescent contextual and personal predictors of adult educational and occupational outcomes: A mediational model in two countries. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(5), 937-949. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.5.937</u>.
- Duncan, G. J., Dowsett, C. J., Claessens, A., Magnuson, K., Huston, A. C., Klebanov, P., et al. (2007). School readiness and later achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(6), 1428–1446. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.6.1428.</u>

- Duncan, G. J., Magnuson, K. A. (2003). Off with Hollingshead: Socioeconomic resources, parenting, and child development. In M. Bornstein & R. H. Bradley (Eds.), *Socioeconomic status, parenting, and child development*, (pp. 83-106). Monographs in parenting series. Mahwah, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- DuPaul, G. J., & Langberg, J. M., (2014). Educational impairments in children with ADHD. InG. DuPaul & G. Stoner (Eds), ADHD in the schools: Assessment and interventionstrategies (3rd ed.). New York: Guilford Press.

 Ehri, L. C. (2000). Learning to read and learning to spell: two sides of a coin. *Topics in Language Disorders*, 20(3), 19–36. Available at https://journals.lww.com/topicsinlanguagedisorders/Citation/2000/20030/Learning_To_Re https://journals.lww.com/topicsinlanguagedisorders/Citation/2000/20030/Learning_To_Re https://journals.lww.com/topicsinlanguagedisorders/Citation/2000/20030/Learning_To_Re https://journals.lww.com/topicsinlanguagedisorders/Citation/2000/20030/Learning_To_Re https://journals.lww.com/topicsinlanguagedisorders/Citation/2000/20030/Learning_To_Re

- Ensminger, M. E., Fothergill, K. (2003). A decade of measuring SES: What it tells us and where to go from here. In M. Bornstein & R. H. Bradley (Eds.), *Socioeconomic status, parenting, and child development*, (pp. 13-27). Monographs in parenting series. Mahwah, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Entwisle, D. R., & Alexander, K. L. (1990). Beginning school math competence: Minority and majority comparisons. *Child Development*, 61, 454–471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1990.tb02792.x.</u>
- Evans, J. J., Floyd, R. G., McGrew, K. S., & Leforgee, M. H. (2002). The relations between measures of Cattell–Horn–Carroll (CHC) cognitive abilities and reading achievement during childhood and adolescence. *School Psychology Review*, *31*, 246–262. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2002.12086154.

Evans, S. W., Serpell, Z., & White, C. (2005, June 29-31). The transition to middle school:
 Preparing for challenge and success. *Attention Magazine (CHADD)*, 29-31. Available at:
 https://chadd.org/wp-

<u>content/uploads/2018/06/ATTN_06_05_TheTransitiontoMiddleSchool.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.

- Faraone, S. V., Asherson, P., Banaschewski, T., Biederman, J., Buitelaar, J.K., Ramos-Quiroga, J. A., Rohde, L. A., Sonuga-Barke, E.J.S., Tannock, R., Franke, B. (2015). Attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*. 1. <u>https://doi.org/15020.</u> <u>10.1038/nrdp.2015.20</u>.
- Faraone, S., Biederman, J., Weber, W., & Russell, R. (1998). Psychiatric, neuropsychological, and psychosocial features of DSM-IV subtypes of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity
 Disorder: Results from a clinically referred sample. *Journal of The American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *37*(2), 185-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199802000-00011.</u>
- Fayol, M., Zorman, M., Lété, B., & Veyssiere, D. (2008). Associations and dissociations in reading and spelling French. Unexpectedly good spellers too. British Journal of Educational Psychology, *British Journal of Educational Psychology Monograph Series*, 2(6), 63–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/000709909X421973.</u>
- Feinstein, L., & Bynner, J. (2004). The importance of cognitive development in middle childhood for adulthood socioeconomic status, mental health, and problem behavior. *Child Development*, 75(5), 1329-1339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00743.x.</u>

- Feister, L. (2010). Early Warning! Why reading by the end of third grade matters. A Kids Count Special Report from the Annie E. Casey Foundation. Available at <u>https://www.ccf.ny.gov/files/9013/8262/2751/AECFReporReadingGrade3.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Fenollar-Cortés, J., Gallego-Martínez, A., & Fuentes, L. (2017). The role of inattention and hyperactivity/impulsivity in the fine motor coordination in children with ADHD. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 69, 77-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2017.08.003</u>.
- Fergusson, D.M., Horwood, L.J., & Ridder, E.M. (2005). Show me the child at seven II: Childhood intelligence and later outcomes in adolescence and young adulthood. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 46(8), 850-858. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> 7610.2005.01472.x.
- Fischer, M., Barkley, R.A., Edelbrock, C.S., & Smallish, L. (1990). The adolescent outcome of hyperactive children diagnosed by research criteria: II. Academic, attentional, and neuropsychological status. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 58, 580–588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.58.5.580.</u>
- Flanagan, D. P., Andrews, T. J., & Genshaft, J. L. (1997). The functional utility of intelligence tests with special education populations. In D. P. Flanagan, J. L. Genshaft, & P.L. Harrison (Eds.), *Contemporary intellectual assessment: Theories, tests, and issues* (pp. 459–483). New York: Guilford.
- Floyd, R. G., Evans, J. J., & McGrew, K. S. (2003). Relations between measures of Cattell-Horn-Carroll (CHC) cognitive abilities and mathematics achievement across the schoolage years. *Psychology in the Schools, 40*(2), 155–171. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pits.10083</u>.

Floyd, R. G., McGrew, K. S., & Evans, J. J. (2008). The relative contributions of the Cattell-Horn-Carroll cognitive abilities in explaining writing achievement during childhood and adolescence. *Psychology in the Schools*, 45(2), 132–144.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pits.20284.

- Floyd, R. G., Meisinger, E., Gregg, N., & Keith, T. Z. (2012). An explanation of reading comprehension across development using models from Cattell-Horn-Carroll theory:
 Support for integrative models of reading. *Psychology in the Schools, 49*(8), 725–743. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pits.21633.
- Foorman, B., & Petscher, Y. (2010). Development of spelling and differential relations to text reading in Grades 3-12. Assessment for Effective Intervention, 36(1), 7-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1534508410379844.</u>
- Ford, J., Pomykacz, C., Ortiz, K., Mccabe, S., & Schepis, T. (2020). Educational attainment and prescription drug misuse: The importance of push and pull factors for dropping out. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2019.101636.</u>
- Francis, D., Shaywitz, S., Stuebing, K., Shaywitz, B., & Fletcher, J. (1996). Developmental lag versus deficit models of reading disability: A longitudinal, individual growth curves analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 88(1), 3-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> 0663.88.1.3.
- Franz, A. P., Bolat, G. U., Bolat, H., Matijasevich, A., Santos, I. S., Silveira, R. C., Procianoy, R. S., Rohde, L. A., Moreira-Maia, C. R. (2018). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and very preterm/very low birth weight: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 141(1). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-1645.

- Frazier, T. W., Demaree, H. A., and Youngstrom, E. A. (2004). Meta-analysis of intellectual and neuropsychological test performance in attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity disorder. *Neuropsychology 18*, 543–555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0894-4105.18.3.543</u>.
- Fry, A., & Hale, S. (1996). Processing Speed, Working Memory, and Fluid Intelligence: Evidence for a Developmental Cascade. *Psychological Science*, 7(4), 237-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.1996.tb00366.x</u>.
- Fuchs, L. S., Fuchs, D., Compton, D. L., Wehby, J., Schumacher, R. F., Gersten, R., & Jordan, N. (2015). Inclusion versus specialized intervention for very-low-performing students:
 What does access mean in an era of academic challenge? *Exceptional Children*, *81*, 134–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402914551743</u>.
- Galéra, C., Melchior, M., Chastang, J., Bouvard, M., & Fombonne, E. (2009). Childhood and adolescent hyperactivity-inattention symptoms and academic achievement 8 years later: The GAZEL Youth study. *Psychological Medicine*, *39*(11), 1895-1906. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291709005510.</u>
- Gardener, H., Spiegelman, D., & Buka, S. L. (2011). Perinatal and neonatal risk factors for autism: a comprehensive meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 128(2), 344–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2010-1036.</u>
- Garner, A. A., O'Connor, B. C., Narad, M. E., Tamm, L., Simon, J., & Epstein, J. N. (2013). The relationship between ADHD symptom dimensions, clinical correlates and functional impairments. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics: JDBP*, *34*(7), 469.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e3182a39890

Gathercole, S. E., Tiffany, C., Briscoe, J., Thorn, A., & The ALSPAC team (2005).
Developmental consequences of poor phonological short-term memory function in childhood: a longitudinal study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 46, 598–611. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00379.x.

- Geary, D. C., & Hoard, M. K. (2005). Learning disabilities in arithmetic and mathematics: Theoretical and empirical perspectives. In J. I. D. Campbell (Ed.), *Handbook of mathematical cognition*. Psychology Press.
- Glutting, J., Watkins, M., Konold, T., & McDermott, P. (2006). Distinctions without a difference: The utility of observed versus latent factors from the WISC-IV in estimating reading and math achievement on the WIAT-II. *The Journal of Special Education*, 40(2), 103-114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00224669060400020101</u>.
- Goldenberg, R., Culhane, J. F., Iams, J., Romero, R. (2007). Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. *Lancet*, *371*, 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60074-4.
- Gottfredson, L. (1997). Why g matters: The complexity of everyday life. *Intelligence*, 24(1), 79-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-2896(97)90014-3</u>.
- Graham, S., Berninger, V. W, Abbott, R. D., Abbott, S. P., & Whitaker, D. (1997). Role of mechanics in composing of elementary school students: A new methodological approach. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 89(1), 170-182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> 0663.89.1.170.
- Gray, S. A., Dueck, K., Rogers, M., & Tannock, R. (2017). Qualitative review synthesis: The relationship between inattention and academic achievement, *Educational Research*, 59:1, 17-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2016.1274235</u>.

- Gregory, A. G., Skiba, R. J., & Noguera, P. A. (2010). The achievement gap and the discipline gap: Two sides of the same coin. *Educational Researcher*, *39*, 59–68. http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0013189X09357621.
- Gresham, F., Lane, K., & Beebe-Frankenberger, M. (2005). Predictors of hyperactive– impulsive–inattention and conduct problems: A comparative follow-back investigation. *Psychology in the Schools, 42*(7), 721-736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20117</u>.
- Gresham, F.M., Lane, K.L., & Lambros, K.M. (2002). Children with conduct and hyperactivity– impulsivity–attention problems: Identification, assessment, and intervention. In K.L. Lane,
 F.M. Gresham, & T.E. O'Shaughnessy (Eds.), *Interventions for children with or at-risk for emotional and behavioral disorders* (pp. 210–222). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Grigg, W. S., Ryan, R. M., Jin, Y., & Campbell, J. R. (2003). *The nation's report card: Reading 2002 (Publication No. NCES 2003–521)*. Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office. Available at: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED471794.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Grzadzinski, R., Di Martino, A., Brady, E., Mairena, M., O'Neale, M., Petkova, E., Lord, C., Castellanos, F. (2011). Examining autistic traits in children with ADHD: Does the autism spectrum extend to ADHD? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *41*(9), 1178-1191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-1135-3.</u>
- Günther, T., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., & Konrad, K. (2010). Sex differences in attentional performance and their modulation by methylphenidate in children with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of child and adolescent psychopharmacology*, 20(3), 179-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/cap.2009.0060</u>.

- Gustafsson, J. E., & Balke, G. (1993). General and specific abilities as predictors of school achievement. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 28(4), 407–34. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327906mbr2804_2.
- Guthrie, J., Wigfield, A., Metsala, J., & Cox, K. (1999). Motivational and cognitive predictors of text comprehension and reading amount. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 3(3), 231-256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532799xssr0303_3</u>.
- Hajovsky, D., Reynolds, M., Floyd, R., Turek, J., & Keith, T. (2014). A multigroup investigation of latent cognitive abilities and reading achievement relations. *School Psychology Review*, 43(4), 385-406. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2014.12087412
- Hallin, A., Hellström-Westas, L., & Stjernqvist, K. (2010). Follow-up of adolescents born extremely preterm: Cognitive function and health at 18 years of age. *Acta Paediatrica (Oslo, Norway: 1992), 99*(9), 1401-1406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-</u>2227.2010.01850.x
- Hankivsky, O., & Canadian Electronic Library. (2008). Cost estimates of dropping out of high school in Canada (DesLibris. Documents collection). Victoria, B.C.]: Canadian Council on Learning. Available at:

https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.510.4857&rep=rep1&type=pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.

Hanushek, E., & Woessmann, L. (2008). The role of cognitive skills in economic development. Journal of Economic Literature, 46(3), 607-668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/jel.46.3.607</u>

- Hawes, Z., Moss, J., Caswell, B., Naqvi, S., & MacKinnon, S. (2017). Enhancing children's spatial and numerical skills through a dynamic spatial approach to early geometry instruction: Effects of a 32-week intervention. *Cognition and Instruction*, 35, 236–264. https://doi.org/10.1080/07370008.2017.1323902.
- Hayes, JR.; Flower, LS. Identifying the organization of writing processes. In: Gregg, LW.;
 Steinberg, ER., editors. *Cognitive processes in writing*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum; 1980. p. 3-30.
- Heckman, James, & Vytlacil, Edward. (2001). Identifying the role of cognitive ability in explaining the level of and change in the return to schooling. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 83(1), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/003465301750159993</u>.
- Hedges, L. V., & Nowell, A. (1995). Sex differences in mental test scores, variability, and numbers of high-scoring individuals. *Science*, 269(5220), 41-45. <u>http://www.jstor.com/stable/2889145</u>.
- Hegarty, M., & Kozhevnikov, M. (1999). Types of visual-spatial representations and mathematical problem solving. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91(4), 684–689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.91.4.684</u>.
- Henning, C., McIntosh, B., Arnott, W., & Dodd, B. (2010). Long-term outcome of oral language and phonological awareness intervention with socially disadvantaged preschoolers: The impact on language and literacy. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 33(3), 231-246.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9817.2009.01410.x.
- Hill, M. S., Yeung, W.-J. J., & Duncan, G. J. (2001). Childhood family structure and young adult behaviors. *Journal of Population Economics*, *14*, 271–299.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s001480000039.

- Hirschberger, R., Kuban, K., O'Shea, T., Joseph, R., Heeren, T., Douglass, L., Stafstrom, C., Jara, H., Frazier, J., Hirtz, D., Rollins J., Paneth, N. (2018). Co-occurrence and Severity of Neurodevelopmental Burden (Cognitive Impairment, Cerebral Palsy, Autism Spectrum Disorder, and Epilepsy) at Age Ten Years in Children Born Extremely Preterm. *Pediatric Neurology*, *79*, 45-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2017.11.002</u>
- Hodges, R. E. (1984). *Spelling*. ERIC Digest. Available at <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED250695.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Hoffman, K., & Lee, S. (2014). A CIT Investigation of disruptive student behaviors: The students' perspective. *Marketing Education Review*, 24(2), 115-126.

https://doi.org/10.2753/MER1052-8008240203.

- Hoffmann, J. (2020). Academic underachievement and delinquent behavior. *Youth & Society*, 52(5), 728-755. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X18767035.</u>
- Hoffmann, J. P., Erickson, L. D., & Spence, K. R. (2013). Modeling the association between academic achievement and delinquency: An application of interactional theory. *Criminology*, 51, 629-660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9125.12014</u>.
- Horn, J. L., & Blankson, N. (2005). Foundations for better understanding of cognitive abilities.
 In D. P. Flanagan, & P. L. Harrison (Eds.), *Contemporary intellectual assessment: Theories, tests, and issues* (pp. 41–68) (2nd ed.). New York: Guilford.
- Huang, F., Eklund, K., & Cornell, D. (2017). Authoritative school climate, number of parents at home, and academic achievement. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 32(4), 480-496. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000182.

- Hughes, M. E., & Waite, I. I. (2002). Health in household context: Living arrangements and health in late middle age. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour*, 43(1), 1-21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3090242.</u>
- Hum, M. (2005). Psychometric properties of a teacher semi-structured interview for childhood externalizing disorders (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada.
- Hyde, J. S., Fennema, E., & Lamon, S. (1990). Gender differences in mathematics performance: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 107, 139–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.139.</u>
- Ickowicz, A., Schachar, R. J., Sugarman, R., Chen, S. X., Millette, C., & Cook, L. (2006). The parent interview for child symptoms: A situation-specific clinical research interview for attention-deficit hyperactivity and related disorders. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 50, 325-328.
- Imeraj, L., Antrop, I., Roeyers, H., Deschepper, E., Bal, S., & Deboutte, D. (2011). Diurnal variations in arousal: a naturalistic heart rate study in children with ADHD. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 20, 381–392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-011-0188-y</u>.
- Isbell, E., Calkins, S., Swingler, M., & Leerkes, E. (2018). Attentional fluctuations in preschoolers: Direct and indirect relations with task accuracy, academic readiness, and school performance. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *167*, 388-403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2017.11.013
- Ivarie, J. J. (1986). Effects of proficiency rates on later performance of a recall and writing behavior. *Remedial and Special Education*, 7(5), 25–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/074193258600700506</u>

- Jacobson, L., Ryan, M., Martin, R., Ewen, J., Mostofsky, S., Denckla, M., & Mahone, E. (2011).
 Working memory influences processing speed and reading fluency in ADHD. *Child Neuropsychology*, *17*(3), 209-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2010.532204</u>
- Jenkins, J., Johnson, E., & Hileman, J. (2004). When is reading also writing: sources of individual differences on the new reading performance assessments. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 8(2), 125-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532799xssr0802_2</u>.
- Jenkins, L., & Demaray, N. (2016). Teachers' judgments of the academic achievement of children with and without characteristics of inattention, impulsivity, and hyperactivity. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 20(2), 183-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-015-</u> 0073-7
- Jeynes, W. H. (2005). Effects of parent involvement and family structure on the academic achievement of adolescents. *Marriage & Family Review*, 37, 99–116. https://doi.org/10.1300/J002v37n03_06.
- Jirout, J., & Newcombe, N. (2015). Building blocks for developing spatial skills: Evidence from a large, representative U.S. sample. *Psychological Science*, 26(3), 302-310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797614563338</u>.
- Johnson, S., Wolke, D., Hennessy, E., & Marlow, N. (2011). Educational Outcomes in Extremely Preterm Children: Neuropsychological Correlates and Predictors of Attainment. Developmental Neuropsychology: The Consequences of Being Born Very Early or Very Small, 36(1), 74-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/87565641.2011.540541.</u>
- Jordan, N. C., Kaplan, D., Olàh, L. N., & Locuniak, M. N. (2006). Number sense growth in kindergarten: A longitudinal investigation of children at risk for mathematics difficulties. *Child Development*, 77(1), 153-175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00862.x.</u>

- Joseph, R. M., O'Shea, T. M., Allred, E. N., Heeren, T., Hirtz, D., Jara, H., Leviton, P., Kuban, K. (2016). Neurocognitive and academic outcomes at age 10 years of extremely preterm newborns. *Pediatrics*, 137(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-43.</u>
- Juel, C. (1988). Learning to Read and Write: A longitudinal study of 54 children from first through fourth grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 80(4), 437-447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.80.4.437</u>.
- Juel, C., Griffith, P., & Gough, P. (1986). Acquisition of literacy: A longitudinal study of children in first and second grade. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 78(4), 243-255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.78.4.243</u>
- Jung, R., & Haier, R. (2007). The Parieto-Frontal Integration Theory (P-FIT) of intelligence: Converging neuroimaging evidence. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 30(2), 135-154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X07001185.</u>
- Junod, R., Dupaul, G., Jitendra, A., Volpe, R., & Cleary, K. (2006). Classroom observations of students with and without ADHD: Differences across types of engagement. *Journal of School Psychology*, 44(2), 87-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2005.12.004</u>.
- Karoly, L., Kilburn, M. Rebecca, & Cannon, Jill S. (2005). *Early childhood interventions: Proven results, future promise.* Santa Monica, CA: RAND.
- Kasper, L., Alderson, R., & Hudec, K. (2012). Moderators of working memory deficits in children with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD): A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 32(7), 605-617. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.07.001</u>.

Katz, L., Brown, F., Roth, R., & Beers, S. (2011). Processing speed and working memory performance in those with both ADHD and a reading disorder compared with those with ADHD alone. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 26(5), 425-433.

https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acr026.

- Kaufman, S., DeYoung, C., Gray, R., Brown, J., & Mackintosh, N. (2009). Associative learning predicts intelligence above and beyond working memory and processing speed.
 Intelligence, 37(4), 374-382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2009.03.004.
- Kaufman, S., Reynolds, M., Liu, X., Kaufman, A., & McGrew, K. (2012). Are cognitive g and academic achievement g one and the same g? An exploration on the Woodcock-Johnson and Kaufman tests. *Intelligence*, 40(2), 123-138.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2012.01.009.

- Keith, T. Z. (1999). Effects of general and specific abilities on student achievement: Similarities and differences across ethnic groups. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 14(3), 239–262. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0089008</u>.
- Keith, T. Z., Reynolds, M. R., Roberts, L. G., Winter, A. L., & Austin, C. A. (2011). Sex differences in latent cognitive abilities ages 5 to 17: Evidence from the Differential Ability Scales – Second Edition. *Intelligence*, *39*(5), 389–404.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2011.06.008.

Kibby, M., Vadnais, S., & Jagger-Rickels, A. (2019). Which components of processing speed are affected in ADHD subtypes? *Child Neuropsychology*, 25(7), 964-979. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2018.1556625.</u> Kirby, J. R., & Becker, L. D. (1988). Cognitive components of learning problems in arithmetic. *Remedial and Special Education*, 9(5), 7–15.

https://doi.org/10.1177/074193258800900504.

- Knight, D., & Rizzuto, T. (1993). Relations for children in Grades 2, 3, and 4 between balance skills and academic achievement. *Perceptual & Motor Skills*, 76, 1296–1298. <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1993.76.3c.1296.</u>
- Kofler, M., Rapport, M., & Matt Alderson, R. (2008). Quantifying ADHD classroom inattentiveness, its moderators, and variability: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(1), 59-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u>
 7610 2007 01800 r.

<u>7610.2007.01809.x.</u>

- Koponen, T., Salmi, P., Torppa, M., Eklund, K., Aro, T., Aro, M., & Nurmi, J.-E. (2016).
 Counting and rapid naming predict the fluency of arithmetic and reading skills.
 Contemporary Educational Psychology, 44-45, 83–94.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2016.02.004.
- Kremer, K., Flower, A., Huang, J., & Vaughn, M. (2016). Behavior problems and children's academic achievement: A test of growth-curve models with gender and racial differences. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 67, 95-104.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.06.003.

Krieger, N., Williams, D., & Moss, N. (1997). Measuring social class in US public health research: Concepts, methodologies, and guidelines. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 18, 341-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.18.1.341</u>.

- Kuncel, N., Hezlett, S., & Ones, D. (2004). Academic performance, career potential, creativity, and job performance: Can one construct predict them all? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86(1), 148-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.86.1.148</u>.
- Kutner, M., Greenberg, E., Jin, Y., Boyle, B., Hsu, Y., and Dunleavy, E. (2007). *Literacy in Everyday Life: Results From the 2003 National Assessment of Adult Literacy (NCES 2007-480)*. National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC. Available at: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED495996.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Kyttälä, M., & Lehto, J. (2008). Some factors underlying mathematical performance: The role of visuospatial working memory and non-verbal intelligence. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 23(1), 77-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03173141</u>.
- Lachance, J. A., & Mazzocco, M. M. M. (2006). A longitudinal analysis of sex differences in math and spatial skills in primary school age children. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 16(3), 195–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2005.12.001.</u>
- Lan, X., Legare, C. H., Ponitz, C. C., Li, S., & Morrison, F. J. (2011). Investigating the links between the subcomponents of executive function and academic achievement: A crosscultural analysis of Chinese and American preschoolers. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 108, 677–692. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2010.11.001</u>.

Langberg, J., Dvorsky, M., & Evans, M. (2013). What specific facets of executive function are associated with academic functioning in youth with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity
 Disorder? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *41*(7), 1145-1159.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-013-9750-z.

- Langberg, J., Epstein, J., Altaye, M., Molina, B., Arnold, L., & Vitiello, B. (2008). The transition to middle school is associated with changes in the developmental trajectory of ADHD symptomatology in young adolescents with ADHD. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *37*(3), 651-663, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15374410802148095</u>.
- Langberg, J., Molina, B., Arnold, L., Epstein, J., Altaye, M., Hinshaw, S., Swanson, J., Wigal, T., Hechtman, L. (2011). Patterns and predictors of adolescent academic achievement and performance in a sample of children with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 40(4), 519-531. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2011.581620.
- Lansford, J.E., Dodge, K.A., Pettit, G.S., & Bates, J.E. (2016). A public health perspective on school dropout and adult outcomes: A prospective study of risk and protective factors from age 5 to 27 years. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *58*, 652-658.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.01.014.
- Lantz, P., Golberstein, E., House, J., & Morenoff, J. (2010). Socioeconomic and behavioral risk factors for mortality in a national 19-year prospective study of U.S. adults. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 70(10), 1558-1566. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.02.003</u>
- Larsson, H., Dilshad, R., Lichtenstein, P., Barker, E.D., 2011. Developmental trajectories of DSM-IV symptoms of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Genetic effects, family risk and associated psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 52, 954–963. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02379.x.</u>
- Lauth, G., Heubeck, B., & Mackowiak, K. (2006). Observation of children with attention-deficit hyperactivity (ADHD) problems in three natural classroom contexts. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76(2), 385-404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/000709905X43797.</u>

- Leavey, A., Zwaigenbaum, L., Heavner, K., & Burstyn, I. (2013). Gestational age at birth and risk of autism spectrum disorders in Alberta, Canada. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 162(2), 361-368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.07.040.</u>
- Lenroot, R. K., Gogtay, N., Greenstein, D. K., Wells, E. M., Wallace, G. L., Clasen, L. S.,
 Blumenthal, J. D., Lerch, J., Zijdenbos, A. P., Evans, A. C., Thompson, P. M. & Giedd, J.
 N. (2007). Sexual dimorphism of brain developmental trajectories during childhood and adolescence. *Neuroimage*, *36*(4), 1065–1073.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.03.053.

- Leonard, M. A., Lorch, E. P., Milich, R., & Hagans, N. (2009). Parent child joint picture-book reading among children with ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 12, 361–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054708315135.</u>
- Lesnick, J., Goerge, R., Smithgall, C., & Gwynne J. (2010). *Reading on grade level in third grade: How is it related to high school performance and college enrollment?* Chicago:
 Chapin Hall at the University of Chicago. Available at: https://www.chapinhall.org/wp-content/uploads/Reading_on_Grade_Level_111710.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Levin, H.M., and Belfield, C.R. (2007). Educational Interventions to Raise High School Graduation Rates. In C.R. Belfield and H.M. Levin (Eds.), *The price we pay: Economic and social consequences of inadequate education* (pp. 177–199). Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Levin, R., Heller, L., Mohanty, W., Herrington, A., & Miller, J. (2007). Cognitive deficits in depression and functional specificity of regional brain activity. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 31(2), 211-233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-007-9128-z.</u>

- Levy, F., Hay, D., Mcstephen, M., Wood, C., & Waldman, I. (1997). Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A category or a continuum? Genetic analysis of a large-scale twin study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *36*(6), 737-744. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199706000-00009.
- Lindberg, S., Hyde, J., Petersen, J., & Linn, M. (2010). New trends in gender and mathematics performance: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *136*(6), 1123-1135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021276</u>.
- Little, R. J. A. (1988) A test of missing completely at random for multivariate data with missing values. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *83*, 1198-1202.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1988.10478722.

- Little, R. J. A., & Rubin, D. B. (2002). *Statistical analysis with missing data (2nd ed.)*. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Loe, I., & Feldman, H. (2007). Academic and educational outcomes of children with ADHD. Journal of Pediatric Psychology. 32, 643-654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsl054</u>.
- Longcamp, M., Boucard, C., Gilhodes, J. C., Anton, J. L., Roth, M., Nazarian, B., Velay, J-L.
 (2008). Learning through hand- or typewriting influences visual recognition of new graphic shapes: Behavioral and functional imaging evidence. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20(5), 802–815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2008.20504</u>.
- Longcamp, M., Zerbato-Poudou, M., & Velay, J. (2005). The influence of writing practice on letter recognition in preschool children: A comparison between handwriting and typing. *Acta Psychologica*, 119(1), 67-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2004.10.019</u>

- Lubinski, D., & Dawis, R. V. (1992). Aptitudes, skills, and proficiencies. In M. D. Dunnette &
 L.M. Hough (Eds.), *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology, Vol. 3* (2nd ed., pp. 1–59). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychology Press.
- Lubinski, D., Webb, R. M., Morelock, M. J., & Benbow, C. P. (2001). Top 1 in 10,000: A 10year follow-up of the profoundly gifted. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(4), 718–729. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.86.4.718.
- Lubke, G., Hudziak, J., Derks, E., Van Bijsterveldt, T., & Boomsma, D. (2009). Maternal ratings of attention problems in ADHD: Evidence for the existence of a continuum. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 48(11), 1085-1093.

https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181ba3dbb.

- Lundervold AJ, Bøe T, Lundervold A. (2017) Inattention in primary school is not good for your future school achievement A pattern classification study. PLoS ONE 12(11): e0188310. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0188310.
- Luo, D., Thompson, L., & Detterman, D. (2003). The causal factor underlying the correlation between psychometric g and scholastic performance. *Intelligence*, *31*(1), 67-83.
- Luu, T., Katz, S., Leeson, P., Thébaud, B., & Nuyt, A. (2016). Preterm birth: Risk factor for early-onset chronic diseases. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 188(10), 736-746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.150450</u>.
- Lynn, R., & Meisenberg, G. (2010). National IQs calculated and validated for 108 nations. *Intelligence, 38*, 353–360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2010.04.007.</u>

Mackintosh, N. J. (1998). IQ and human intelligence. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Martel, M., Von Eye, A., & Nigg, J. (2012). Developmental differences in structure of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) between childhood and adulthood. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 36(4), 279-292.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025412444077.

- Martinussen, R., Grimbos, T., & Ferrari, J. (2014). Word-level reading achievement and behavioral inattention: Exploring their overlap and relations with naming speed and phonemic awareness in a community sample of children. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 29(7), 680-690. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acu040</u>.
- Martinussen, R., Hayden, J., Hogg-Johnson, S., & Tannock, R. (2005). A meta-analysis of working memory impairments in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 44(4), 377–384. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.chi.0000153228.72591.73.
- Mathewson, K., Chow, C., Dobson, K., Pope, E., Schmidt, L., & Van Lieshout, R. (2017).
 Mental Health of Extremely Low Birth Weight Survivors: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(4), 347-383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000091</u>.
- Maughan, B., Messer, J., Collishaw, S., Pickles, A., Snowling, M., Yule, W., & Rutter, M. (2009). Persistence of literacy problems: Spelling in adolescence and at mid-life. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 50(8), 893-901. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02079.x.</u>
- Mayes, S. & Calhoun, S. L. (2007a). Wechsler intelligence scale for children third and –fourth edition predictors of academic achievement in children with attention- deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 22(2), 234-239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1045-3830.22.2.234</u>.

Mayes, S. D., & Calhoun, S. L. (2007b). Learning, attention, writing, and processing speed in typical children and children with ADHD, autism, anxiety, depression, and oppositionaldefiant disorder. *Child Neuropsychology*, 13, 469-493.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09297040601112773.

- Mayes, S. D., Calhoun, S. L., & Crowell, E. (1998). WISC-III profiles for children with and without learning disabilities. *Psychology in the Schools*, 35, 309-316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6807(199810)35:4<309::AID-PITS1>3.0.CO;2-V.</u>
- Maynard, B.R., Salas-Wright, C.P., Vaughn, M.G. (2015). High school dropouts in emerging adulthood: Substance use, mental health problems, and crime. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 51, 289-299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-014-9760-5</u>.
- Mazzocco, M. M. M., & Kover, S. T. (2007). A longitudinal assessment of executive functioning skills and their association with math performance. *Child Neuropsychology: A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, *13*(2007), 18–45.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09297040600611346.
- McCall, R. (1977). Childhood IQ's as predictors of adult educational and occupational status. *Science*, *197*(4302), 482-483. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.197.4302.482.
- McCoy, A. R., & Reynolds, A. J. (1999). Grade retention and school performance: An extended investigation. *Journal of School Psychology*, *37*, 273–298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4405(99)00012-6</u>.
- McGee, R., Partridge, F., Williams, S., & Silva, P.A. (1991). A twelve-year follow-up of preschool hyperactive children. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30, 224–232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199103000-00010.</u>

McGonnell, M., Corkum, P., McKinnon, M., MacPherson, M., Williams, T., Davidson, C., Jones, D., Stephenson, D. (2009). Doing it right: An interdisciplinary model for the diagnosis of ADHD. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 18, 283-6. Available at :

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2765379/pdf/ccap18_4p0283.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.

- McGrew, K. S., & Hessler, G. L. (1995). The relationship between the WJ-R Gf-Gc cognitive clusters and mathematics achievement across the life-span. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 13, 21–38. https://doi.org/10.1177/073428299501300102.
- McGrew, K. S., Flanagan, D. P., Keith, T. Z., & Vanderwood, M. (1997). Beyond g: The impact of Gf-Gc specific cognitive abilities research on the future use and interpretation of intelligence tests in the schools. *School Psychology Review*, 26(2), 189–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.1997.12085858</u>.
- McGrew, K. S., Wendling, B., & Newton, Jocelyn H. (2010). Cattell–Horn–Carroll cognitiveachievement relations: What we have learned from the past 20 years of research. *Psychology in the Schools*, 47(7), 651-675. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20497.</u>
- McLanahan, S., & Garfinkel, I. (2000). The fragile families and child well-being study:*Questions, design, and a few preliminary results*. Princeton, NJ: Center for Research onChild Wellbeing. Available at:

https://www.irp.wisc.edu/publications/dps/pdfs/dp138710.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.

McLanahan, S., & Sandefur, G. (1994). *Growing up with a single parent: What hurts, what helps.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- McLennan, J. (2016). Understanding Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder as a continuum.
 Canadian Family Physician, 62(12), 979-982. Available at:
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5154646/pdf/0620979.pdf. Accessed
 September 7, 2020.
- Meisels, S. J., & Liaw, F. (1993). Failure in grade: Do retained students catch up? *The Journal of Educational Research*, 87, 69–77. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00220671.1993.9941169</u>.
- Merrell, C., & Tymms, P. (2001). Inattention, hyperactivity and impulsiveness: Their impact on academic achievement and progress. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 71, 43-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/000709901158389</u>
- Merrell, C., & Tymms, P. (2005). Rasch analysis of inattentive, hyperactive and impulsive behaviour in young children and the link with academic achievement. *Journal of Applied Measurement*, 6(1), 1–18. Available at <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15701941/</u>.
 Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Merrell, C., Sayal, K., Tymms, P., & Kasim, A. (2017). A longitudinal study of the association between inattention, hyperactivity and impulsivity and children's academic attainment at age 11. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 53, 156-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2016.04.003</u>.
- Miller, A. D., & Heward, W. L. (1992). Do your students really know their math facts? using daily time trials to build fluency. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 28(2), 98–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/105345129202800205</u>

- Miller, S., & Hudson, P. (2007). Using evidence-based practices to build mathematics competence related to conceptual, procedural, and declarative knowledge. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 22(1), 47-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5826.2007.00230.x</u>
- Moats, L. C. (2005). How spelling supports reading: and why it is more regular and predictable than you may think. *American Educator*, 29(4), 12–16. Available at: <u>http://www.orianit.edu-negev.gov.il/english/files/reading/articles/Moats.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Mol, S. E., & Bus, A. G. (2011). To read or not to read: A meta-analysis of print exposure from infancy to early adulthood. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137(2), 267 296.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021890.
- Molina, B., Hinshaw, S., Swanson, J., Arnold, E., Vitiello, B., Jensen, P., Epstein, J., Hoza, B., Hechtman, L., Abikoff, H., Elliott, G., Greenhill, L., Newcorn, J., Wells, K., Wigal, T., Gibbons, R., Hur, K., Houck, P., (The MTA Cooperative Group). (2009). The MTA at 8 years: Prospective follow-up of children treated for combined-type ADHD in a multisite study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *48*(5), 484-500. https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e31819c23d0.
- Moll, K., Göbel, S. M., Gooch, D., Landerl, K., & Snowling, M. J. (2016). Cognitive risk factors for specific learning disorder: Processing speed, temporal processing, and working memory. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 49(3), 272–281.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219414547221.

Mous, S. E., Muetzel, R. L., El Marroun, H., Polderman, T. J. C., Van Der Lugt, A., Jaddoe, V.
W., Hofman, A., Verhulst, F. C., Tiemeier, H., Posthuma, D., White, T. (2014). Cortical thickness and inattention/hyperactivity symptoms in young children: A population-based study. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(15), 3203-3213.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291714000877.

- Mueller, C., & Parcel, T. (1981). Measures of socioeconomic status: Alternatives and recommendations. *Child Development*, *52*(1), 13-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1129211</u>.
- Mulder, H., Pitchford, N. J., Hagger, M. S., & Marlow, N. (2009). Development of executive function and attention in preterm children: A systematic review. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 34, 393–421. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/87565640902964524</u>.
- Mulholland, S. (2017). ADHD: The untold truths of the ADEP (Australian Deficit in Educational Policy). *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 64(1), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2016.1164835</u>.
- Naglieri, J. A., & Bornstein, B. T. (2003). Intelligence and achievement: Just how correlated are they? *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, *21*, 244–260.

https://doi.org/10.1177/073428290302100302.

National Commission on Writing. (2004). *Writing: A ticket to work... or a ticket out*. New York, NY: The College Entrance Examination Board. Available at: <u>https://archive.nwp.org/cs/public/download/nwp_file/21479/writing-ticket-to-work.pdf?x-</u>

<u>r=pcfile_d</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.

National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2000). Principles and standards for school mathematics: E-standards version 1.0. NCTM. Available at: <u>https://www.aps.edu/academics/common-core-state-standards/documents/comm-</u>

ferrini.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.

National Mathematics Advisory Panel. (2008). Foundations for success: The final report of the National Mathematics Advisory Panel. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
Available at: <u>https://www2.ed.gov/about/bdscomm/list/mathpanel/report/final-report.pdf</u>.
Accessed September 7, 2020.

National Reading Panel. (2000). Teaching children to read: An evidence-based assessment of the scientific research literature on reading and its implications for reading instruction.
Washington, DC: The National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.
Available at:

https://www.nichd.nih.gov/sites/default/files/publications/pubs/nrp/Documents/report.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.

National Research Council. (2005). *How students learn: history, mathematics, and science in the classroom.* Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

https://doi.org/10.17226/10126.

Neisser, U., Boodoo, G., Bouchard, T., & Boykin, A. (1996). Intelligence: Knowns and unknowns. American Psychologist, 51(2), 77-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-</u> 066X.51.2.77.

Newton, J. H., & McGrew, K. S. (2010). Introduction to the special issue: Current research in Cattell-Horn-Carroll-based assessment. *Psychology in the Schools*, 47(7), 621 – 634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20495</u>.

- Niggs J.R., & Barkley R.A. (2014). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. In E.J. Mash & R.A. Barkley (Eds.), *Child psychopathology* (3rd ed., 75-144). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Niileksela, C. R., Reynolds, M. R., Keith, T. Z., & McGrew, K. S. (2016). A special validity study of the WJ IV: Acting on evidence for specific abilities. In D. P. Flanagan, & V. C. Alfonso (Eds.). *WJ IV clinical use and interpretation: Scientist-practitioner perspectives* (pp. 65–106). Boston, MA: Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802076-0.00003-7.</u>
- Niileksela, C., & Reynolds, M. (2014). Global, broad, or specific cognitive differences? Using a mimic model to examine differences in CHC abilities in children with learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 47(3), 224-236.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219412453172.

- Nikolas, M. A., & Nigg, J. T. (2013). Neuropsychological performance and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder subtypes and symptom dimensions. *Neuropsychology*, 27(1), 107– 120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030685</u>.
- Nitschke, J., Heller, B., Imig, W., McDonald, J., & Miller, C. (2001). Distinguishing Dimensions of Anxiety and Depression. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 25(1), 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026485530405.</u>
- Noda, W., Ito, H., Fujita, C., Ohnishi, M., Takayanagi, N., Someki, F., Nakajima, S., Ohtake, S., Mochizuki, N., & Tsujii, M. (2013). Examining the relationship between attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder and developmental coordination disorder symptoms, and writing performance Japanese second grade students. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 34, 2909–2916. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2013.05.023</u>.

- Norton, E. S., & Wolf, M. (2012). Rapid automatized naming (RAN) and reading fluency: Implications for understanding and treatment of reading disabilities. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63, 427-452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100431</u>.
- O'Malley, M., Voight, A., Renshaw, T., & Eklund, K. (2015). School climate, family structure, and academic achievement: A study of moderation effects. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 30(1), 142-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000076</u>
- Oades, R. D., Lasky-Su, J., Christiansen, H., Faraone, S. V., Sonuga-Barke, E. J., Banaschewski, T., et al. (2008). The influence of serotonin- and other genes on impulsive behavioural aggression and cognitive impulsivity in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): Findings from a family-based association test (FBAT) analysis.
 Behavioural and Brain Functions, 4, 48, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-9081-4-48</u>.
- Oakes, J., & Rossi, P. (2003). The measurement of SES in health research: Current practice and steps toward a new approach. *Social Science & Medicine*, 56(4), 769-784. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00073-4</u>.
- Oakes, M., (n.d). *Measuring Socioeconomic Status*. Office of Behavioural and Social Sciences
 Research [OBSSR], National Institutes of Health [NIH]. Available at:
 http://www.esourceresearch.org/Portals/0/Uploads/Documents/Public/Oakes_FullChapter.
 http://www.esourceresearch.org/Portals/0/Uploads/Documents/Public/Oakes_FullChapter.
 http://www.esourceresearch.org/Portals/0/Uploads/Documents/Public/Oakes_FullChapter.
- Oh, H. J., Glutting, J. J., Watkins, M. W., Youngstrom, E. A., & McDermott, P. A. (2004). Correct interpretation of latent versus observed abilities: Implications from structural equation modeling applied to the WISC-III and WIAT linking sample. *The Journal of Special Education*, 38(3), 159–173. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/00224669040380030301</u>.

- Oswald, D. P., Coutinho, M. J., Best, A. M., & Nagle, H. (2003). Trends in the special education identification rates of boys and girls: A call for research and change. *Exceptionality*, 11, 223–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327035EX1104_3</u>.
- Painter, G., & Levine, D. I. (2000). Family structure and youths' outcomes: Which correlations are causal? *The Journal of Human Resources*, 35, 524–549. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/146391</u>
- Palejwala, M. H., & Fine, J. G. (2015). Gender differences in latent cognitive abilities in children aged 2 to 7. *Intelligence*, 48, 96–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2014.11.004</u>
- Park, H., Byun, S., & Kim, K. (2011). Parental involvement and students' cognitive outcomes in Korea: Focusing on private tutoring. *Sociology of Education*, 84(1), 3-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040710392719</u>.
- Parker, A., & Corkum, P. (2016). ADHD diagnosis: As simple as administering a questionnaire or a complex diagnostic process? *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 20(6), 478-486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054713495736</u>
- Patros, C., Alderson, R., Hudec, K., Tarle, S., & Lea, S. (2017). Hyperactivity in boys with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: The influence of underlying visuospatial working memory and self-control processes. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 154, 1-12. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2016.09.008</u>

Perfetti, C. A. (1985). Reading ability. New York: Oxford University Press.

Perfetti, C. A. (1992). The representation problem in reading acquisition. In P. B. Gough, L. C.Ehri, & R. Treiman (Eds.), *Reading acquisition* (pp. 145–174). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

- Perie, M., Grigg, W., & Donahue, P. (2005). The nation's report card: Reading 2005 (U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Educational Statistics, NCES 2006–451).
 Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. Available at: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED486463.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Pettit, B. & Western, B. (2004). Mass Imprisonment and the Life Course: Race and Class Inequality in U.S. Incarceration. *American Sociological Review*, 69, 151–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/000312240406900201</u>
- Pingault, J., Côté, S., Vitaro, F., Falissard, B., Genolini, C., & Tremblay, R. (2014). The developmental course of childhood inattention symptoms uniquely predicts educational attainment: A 16-year longitudinal study. *Psychiatry Research*, 219(3), 707-709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2014.06.022.
- Pingault, J., R. Tremblay, F. Vitaro, R. Carbonneau, C. Genolini, B. Falissard, and S. Côté. 2011. Childhood trajectories of Inattention and Hyperactivity and prediction of educational attainment in early adulthood: A 16-year longitudinal population-based study. *American Journal of Psychiatry 168* (11): 1164–1170.

https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.10121732.

Plourde, V., Boivin, M., Forget-Dubois, N., Brendgen, M., Vitaro, F., Marino, C., Tremblay, R., Dionne, G. (2015). Phenotypic and genetic associations between reading comprehension, decoding skills, and ADHD dimensions: Evidence from two population-based studies. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 56(10), 1074-1082.
<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12394</u>.

- Polderman, T. J. C., Boomsma, D. I., Bartels, M., Verhulst, F. C., & Huizink, A. C. (2010). A systematic review of prospective studies on attention problems and academic achievement. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 122*(4), 271-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2010.01568.x</u>
- Polderman, T., Derks, E., Hudziak, J., Verhulst, F., Posthuma, D., & Boomsma, D. (2007).
 Across the continuum of attention skills: A twin study of the SWAN ADHD rating scale.
 Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 48(11), 1080-1087.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01783.x
- Pope, D. (2010). The impact of inattention, hyperactivity and impulsivity on academic achievement in UK university students. Journal of Further and Higher Education, 34(3), 335-345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2010.484053</u>
- Porrino, L. J., Rapoport, J. L., Behar, D., Sceery, W., Ismond, D. R., & Bunney, W. E., Jr. (1983). A naturalistic assessment of the motor activity of hyperactive boys. I. Comparison with normal controls. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 40, 681–687. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1983.04390010091012

Potharst, E., Van Wassenaer, A., Houtzager, B., Van Hus, J., Last, B., & Kok, J. (2011). High incidence of multi-domain disabilities in very preterm children at five years of age. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *159*(1), 79-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.12.055</u>

Precenzano, F., Ruberto, M., Parisi, L., Salerno, M., Maltese, A., D'alessandro, I., Valle, I., Visco, G., Magliulo, R., Messina, G., & Roccella, M. (2016). ADHD-like symptoms in children affected by obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: a case-control study. *Acta Medica Mediterranea, 32*, 1755-1759. <u>https://doi.org/10.19193/0393-6384_2016_6_159</u>

- Preckel, F., & Brunner, M. (2015) Academic self-concept, achievement goals, and achievement: Is their relation the same for academic achievers and underachievers?, *Gifted and Talented International*, 30:1-2, 68-84, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332276.2015.1137458</u>
- Preckel, F., Holling, H., & Vock, M. (2006). Academic underachievement: Relationship with cognitive motivation, achievement motivation, and conscientiousness. *Psychology in the Schools, 43,* 401–411. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20154</u>
- Preston, A., Heaton, S., Mccann, S., Watson, W., & Selke, G. (2009). The Role of Multidimensional Attentional Abilities in Academic Skills of Children With ADHD. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 42(3), 240-249.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219408331042.

- Pritchard, V. E., Bora, S., Austin, N. C., Levin, K. J., & Woodward, L. J. (2014). Identifying very preterm children at educational risk using a school readiness framework. *Pediatrics*, 134(3), 825–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-3865</u>
- Pungello, E. P., Kuperschmidt, J. B., Burchinal, M. R., & Patterson, C. (1996). Environmental risk factors and children's achievement from middle childhood to adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 32, 755–767. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.32.4.755</u>
- Quintanar, L., Solovieva, Y., & Bonilla, R. (2006). Analysis of visuospatial activity in preschool children with attention deficit disorder. *Human Physiology*, 32(1), 43-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1134/S0362119706010063</u>.
- Rabiner D., & Coie, J. (2000). Early attention problems and children's reading achievement: A longitudinal investigation. The Conduct Problems Prevention Research Group. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 39,* 859-867. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200007000-00014</u>.

- Rapport, M. D., Bolden, J., Kofler, M. J., Sarver, D. E., Raiker, J. S., & Alderson, R. M. (2009).
 Hyperactivity in boys with ADHD: A ubiquitous core symptom or manifestation of working memory deficits? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *37*, 521–534.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-008-9287-8.
- Rapport, M. D., Denney, C. B., DuPaul, G. J., & Gardner, M. J. (1994). Attention deficit disorder and methylphenidate: Normalization rates, clinical effectiveness, and response prediction in 76 children. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *33*, 882-893. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199407000-00015</u>.
- Rapport, M., Scanlan, S., & Denney, C. (1999). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Scholastic Achievement: A Model of Dual Developmental Pathways. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 40(8), 1169-1183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-7610.00534</u>.
- Re, A., Mirandola, C., Esposito, S., & Capodieci, A. (2014). Spelling errors among children with ADHD symptoms: The role of working memory. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 35(9), 2199-2204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2014.05.010</u>.
- Ready, D. D., LoGerfo, L. F., Burkam, D. T., & Lee, V. E. (2005). Explaining girls' advantage in kindergarten literacy learning: Do classroom behaviors make a difference. *The Elementary School Journal*, 106, 21–38. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/496905</u>
- Reardon, S. (2011). The widening achievement gap between the rich and the poor: New evidence and possible explanations. In G. J. Duncan & R. J. Murnane (Eds.), *Whither opportunity? Rising inequality, schools and children's life chances* (pp. 91–116). New York, NY:
 Russell Sage Foundation. Available at: <u>http://www.aypf.org/wp-</u>
 <u>content/uploads/2014/12/reardon-whither-opportunity-chapter-5.pdf</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.

- Rees, S., Inder, T., (2005). Fetal and neonatal origins of altered brain development. *Early Human* Development. 81, 753–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2005.07.004</u>.
- Reynolds, M., & Keith, T. (2017). Multi-group and hierarchical confirmatory factor analysis of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children-Fifth Edition: What does it measure? *Intelligence*, 62, 31. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2017.02.005</u>
- Reynolds, M., Keith, T., Ridley, K., & Patel, P. (2008). Sex differences in latent general and broad cognitive abilities for children and youth: Evidence from higher-order MG-MACS and MIMIC models. *Intelligence*, *36*(3), 236-260.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2007.06.003

- Reynolds, M., Scheiber, C., Hajovsky, D., Schwartz, B., & Kaufman, A. (2015). Gender differences in academic achievement: Is writing an exception to the gender similarities hypothesis? *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *176*(4), 211-234.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325.2015.1036833
- Richards, M., Maughan, B., Hardy, R., Hall, I., Strydom, A., & Wadsworth, M. (2001). Longterm affective disorder in people with mild learning disability. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 179(6), 523–527. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.179.6.523</u>
- Richards, T., Berninger, V., & Fayol, M. (2009). fMRI activation differences between 11-yearold good and poor spellers' access in working memory to temporary and long-term orthographic representations. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 22(4), 327-353. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2008.11.002</u>.
- Richardson, D. K., Gray, J. E., Gortmaker, S. L., Goldmann, D. A., Pursley, D. M., & McCormick, M. C. (1998). Declining severity adjusted mortality: Evidence of improving neonatal intensive care. *Pediatrics*, 102, 975–976.
- Rindermann, H. (2007). The big G-factor of national cognitive ability. *European Journal of Personality*, 21, 767–787. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/per.658</u>.
- Rindermann, H., & Neubauer, A. (2004). Processing speed, intelligence, creativity, and school performance: Testing of causal hypotheses using structural equation models. *Intelligence*, 32(6), 573-589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2004.06.005</u>.
- Ritchie, S. J., & Bates, T. C. (2013). Enduring links from childhood mathematics and reading achievement to adult socioeconomic status. *Psychological Science*, 24(7), 1301–1308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612466268</u>
- Rittle-Johnson, B., & Alibali, M. (1999). Conceptual and procedural knowledge of mathematics: does one lead to the other? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91(1), 175-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.91.1.175</u>
- Rittle-Johnson, B., Siegler, R., & Alibali, M. (2001). Developing conceptual understanding and procedural skill in mathematics: An iterative process. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 93(2), 346-362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-0663.93.2.346</u>
- Roberts, G., Lim, J., Doyle, L. W., & Anderson, P. J. (2011). High rates of school readiness difficulties at 5 years of age in very preterm infants compared with term controls. *Journal of developmental & behavioral pediatrics*, *32*(2), 117-124.

https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e318206d5c9

 Robinson, J., & Lubienski, S. (2011). The development of gender achievement gaps in mathematics and reading during elementary and middle school: Examining direct cognitive assessments and teacher ratings. *American Educational Research Journal*, 48(2), 268-302.
 https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831210372249

- Rogers, M., Hwang, H., Toplak, M., Weiss, M., & Tannock, R. (2011) Inattention, working memory, and academic achievement in adolescents referred for Attention
 Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), *Child Neuropsychology*, *17*:5, 444-458.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2010.544648.
- Rohde, T., & Thompson, L. (2007). Predicting academic achievement with cognitive ability. *Intelligence (Norwood)*, *35*(1), 83-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2006.05.004</u>.
- Rowe, K. J., & Rowe, K. S. (1992). The relationship between inattentiveness in the classroom and reading achievement (Part B): An explanatory study. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent *Psychiatry*, 30(6), 357-368.

https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199203000-00026.

- Russell, A. E., Ford, T., Williams, R., & Russell, G. (2016). The association between socioeconomic disadvantage and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): A systematic review. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 47(3), 440–458. <u>https://doiorg/10.1007/s10578-015-0578-3</u>
- Saigal, S., & Doyle, L. (2008). An overview of mortality and sequelae of preterm birth from infancy to adulthood. *Lancet*, 371(9608), 261-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-</u> 6736(08)60136-1.
- Salla, J., Michel, G., Pingault, J., Lacourse, E., Paquin, S., Galéra, C., Falissard, B., Boivin, M., Tremblay, R., & Côté, S. (2016). Childhood trajectories of inattention-hyperactivity and academic achievement at 12 years. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 25(11), 1195-1206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-016-0843-4</u>.

- Salum, G. A., Sonuga-Barke, E., Sergeant, J., Vandekerckhove, J., Gadelha, A., Moriyama, T. S., Graeff-Martins, A. S., Manfro, G. G., Polanczyk, G., & Rohde, A. P. (2014).
 Mechanisms underpinning inattention and hyperactivity: Neurocognitive support for ADHD dimensionality. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(15), 3189-3201.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291714000919.
- Samuels, S. J. (1994). Word recognition. In R. B. Ruddell, M. R., Ruddell, & H. Singer (Eds.), *Theoretical models and processes of reading* (pp. 359–380). Newark, DE: International Reading Association.
- Samuels, S., & Flor, R. (1997). The importance of automaticity for developing expertise in reading. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 13(2), 107-121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057356970130202.</u>
- Sarver, D., Rapport, E., Kofler, M., Raiker, D., & Friedman, M. (2015). Hyperactivity in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD): Impairing deficit or compensatory behavior? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 43(7), 1219-1232. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0011-1.
- Saudino, K., & Plomin, R. (2007). Why are hyperactivity and academic achievement related? *Child Development*, 78(3), 972-986. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01044.x</u>
- Sayal, K., Washbrook, E., & Propper, C. (2015). Childhood behavior problems and academic outcomes in adolescence: Longitudinal population-based study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 54(5), 360-8.e2.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2015.02.007.

Scardamalia, M., Bereiter, C. (1986). Research on written composition. In: Wittrock, M. C., editor. *Handbook on research on teaching* (pp. 778-803.). New York: Macmillan;

- Schachar, R., Ickowicz, A., & Sugarman, R. (2000). Parent Interview for Child Symptoms (P.I.C.S.-4): Revised for DSM-IV (1995). The Hospital for Sick Children Department of Psychiatry.
- Scheiber, C. (2016). Is the Cattell–Horn–Carroll-based factor structure of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children—Fifth Edition (WISC-V) construct invariant for a representative sample of African-American, Hispanic, and Caucasian male and female students ages 6 to 16 years? *Journal of Pediatric Neuropsychology*, 2(3), 79-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40817-016-0019-7.</u>
- Schmidt, F., & Hunter, J. (2004). General mental ability in the world of work: Occupational attainment and job performance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86(1), 162-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.86.1.162</u>.
- Schneider, W. J., & McGrew, K. S. (2012). The Cattell–Horn–Carroll model of intelligence. In
 D. P. Flanagan, & P. L. Harrison (Eds.), *Contemporary intellectual assessment: Theories, tests, and issues* (3rd ed., pp. 99–144). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Schwanz, K., Palm, L., & Brallier, S. (2007). Attention problems and hyperactivity as predictors of college grade point average. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 11(3), 368-373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054707305155</u>.
- Semrud-Clikeman, M. (2012). The role of inattention on academics, fluid reasoning, and visualspatial functioning in two subtypes of ADHD. *Applied Neuropsychology: Child*, 1(1), 18-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21622965.2012.665766.</u>
- Shah, P., Kaciroti, N., Richards, B., & Lumeng, J. (2016). Gestational age and kindergarten school readiness in a national sample of preterm infants. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 178, 61-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.06.062</u>.

- Shanahan, M. A., Pennington, B. F., Yerys, B. E., Scott, A., Boada, R., Willcutt, E. G., Olson,
 R., & DeFries, J. C. (2006). Processing speed deficits in attention deficit/hyperactivity
 disorder and reading disability. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *34*(5), 585–602.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-006-9037-8.
- Shapiro, B., & Schor, N. (2020, February 13). Academic underachievement. In: Roos RP, Editorin-Chief. *MedLink Neurology*. San Diego: MedLink Corporation. Available at <u>https://www.medlink.com/article/academic_underachievement#S1</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Shapiro, E. S. (2011). *Academic skills problems: Direct assessment and intervention* (4th ed.). New York: Guilford Press.
- Shaw, M., Hodgkins, P., Herve, C., Young, S., Kahle, J., Woods, A. g., & Arnold, L. E. (2012). A systematic review and analysis of long-term outcomes in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Effects of treatment and non-treatment. *BMC Medicine*, *10*, 99. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-10-99.
- Shaw, P., Gilliam, M., Liverpool, M., Weddle, C., Malek, M., Sharp, W., Greenstein, D., Evans,
 A., Rapoport, J., & Giedd, J. (2011). Cortical development in typically developing children with symptoms of hyperactivity and impulsivity: Support for a dimensional view of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *168*(2), 143–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10030385.</u>
- Shaywitz, B. A., Holahan, J., Fletcher, J. M., & Shaywitz, S. E. (1992). Discrepancy compared to low achievement definitions of reading disability: Results from the Connecticut Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 25, 639–648.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/002221949202501003.

- Shriner, M., Mullis, R.L., & Shriner, B.M. (2010). Variations in family structure and school-age children's academic achievement: A social and resource capital perspective. *Marriage and Family Review*, 46(6), 445-467. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01494929.2010.528709</u>.
- Sigle-Rushton, W., & McLanahan, S. (2004). Father absence and child well-being: A critical review. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation. Available at: <u>https://www.policyarchive.org/handle/10207/21760</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Sirin, S. (2005). Socioeconomic status and academic achievement: A meta-analytic review of research. *Review of Educational Research*, 75(3), 417-453. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543075003417.
- Snow, C. (2002). Reading for understanding: Toward an R&D program in reading comprehension. Research and Development [RAND] Reading Study Group. RAND Corporation; Santa Monica, CA: 2002. Available at: <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/monograph_reports/MR1465.html</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Snowling, M. J. (2008). Specific disorders and broader phenotypes: The case of dyslexia. Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology, 61(1), 142–156. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470210701508830.
- Snyderman, M., & Rothman, S. (1987). Survey of expert opinion on intelligence and aptitude testing. *American Psychologist, 42,* 137–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.42.2.137</u>
- Son, S., & Meisels, S. (2006). The relationship of young children's motor skills to later reading and math achievement. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 52(4), 755-778. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/mpq.2006.0033</u>.

- Sonuga-Barke, & Halperin, J. M. (2010). Developmental phenotypes and causal pathways in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Potential targets for early intervention? *Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 51(4), 368–389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> 7610.2009.02195.x.
- Sorby, S., Casey, B., Veurink, N., & Dulaney, A. (2013). The role of spatial training in improving spatial and calculus performance in engineering students. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 26, 20–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2013.03.010</u>.
- Spear-Swerling, L., & Sternberg, R. J. (1994). The road not taken: an integrative theoretical model of reading disability. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 27(2), 91–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002221949402700204</u>.
- Spira, E., & Fischel, J. (2005). The impact of preschool inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity on social and academic development: A review. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 46(7), 755-773. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2005.01466.x.</u>
- Stanovich, K. E. (2000). *Progress in understanding reading: Scientific foundations and new frontiers*. New York: Guilford.
- Statistics Canada. (2014). Living arrangements of children in Canada: A century of change. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 75-006-X. Ottawa. Version updated April 2014. Ottawa. Available at: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/75-006-x/2014001/article/11919-eng.pdf?st=fzxY4uiE</u>. Accessed September 7, 2020.

Statistics Canada. (2015). Employment patterns of families with children. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 75-006-X. Ottawa. Version updated September 2015. Ottawa. Available at: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/75-006-x/2015001/article/14202-</u> eng.pdf?st=ZcqcS62K. Accessed September 7, 2020.

- Steele, A., Karmiloff-Smith, A., Cornish, K., & Scerif, G. (2012). The Multiple Subfunctions of Attention: Differential Developmental Gateways to Literacy and Numeracy. *Child Development*, 83(6), 2028-2041. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01809.x</u>.
- Sternberg, R. J., & Detterman D. K. (Eds.). (1986). What is intelligence? Contemporary viewpoints on its nature and definition. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Stothard, S., & Hulme, E. (1992). Reading comprehension difficulties in children. *Reading and Writing*, 4(3), 245-256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01027150</u>

Strenze, T. (2007). Intelligence and socioeconomic success: A meta-analytic review of longitudinal research. *Intelligence*, 35(5), 401-426.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2006.09.004.

- Suggate, S., Pufke, E., & Stoeger, H. (2016). Do fine motor skills contribute to early reading development? *Journal of Research in Reading*, 41, 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-</u> 9817.12081
- Sulik, M., Haft, S., & Obradović, J. (2018). Visual-motor integration, executive functions, and academic achievement: concurrent and longitudinal relations in late elementary school. *Early Education and Development: Special Issue: Motor and Behavioral Skills in Selfregulation and Schooling Outcomes*, 29(7), 956-970.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2018.1442097

Sutton, G., Barchard, K., Bello, D., Thaler, N., Ringdahl, E., Mayfield, J., & Allen, D. (2011).
 Beery-Buktenica Developmental Test of Visual-Motor Integration performance in children with traumatic brain injury and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Psychological Assessment, 23*(3), 805-809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023370</u>

- Swanson, H. L, Kong, J., & Petcu, S. (2019). Individual differences in math problem solving and executive processing among emerging bilingual children. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 187, 104653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2019.06.006.
- Swanson, H. L. (2016). Word problem solving, working memory and serious math difficulties: Do cognitive strategies really make a difference? *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, 5(4), 368–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmac.2016.04.012</u>.
- Szymanski, K., Sapanski, L., & Conway, F. (2011). Trauma and ADHD Association or Diagnostic Confusion? A Clinical Perspective. Journal of Infant, Child, and Adolescent Psychotherapy: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Integration of Cognitive, Neuropsychological, and Psychodynamic Theoretical Perspectives in Psychotherapy, 10(1), 51-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15289168.2011.575704.</u>
- Tannock, R., Hum, M., Masellis, Humphries, T. & Schachar, R. (2002). Teacher Telephone Interview for Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and related disorders: DSM-IV Version (TTI-IV). [Unpublished Manuscript]. The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, Ontario.
- Taub, G. E., Keith, T. Z., Floyd, R. G., & McGrew, K. S. (2008). Effects of general and broad cognitive abilities on mathematics achievement. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 23(2), 187–198. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/1045-3830.23.2.187</u>.
- Taylor, E. (1998). Clinical foundations of hyperactivity research. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 94(1), 11-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(97)00165-4</u>
- Taylor, G.H. (2010). Persisting cognitive deficits in survivors of very low birth weight and their implications for adult functioning. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 52(12), 1068-1082. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2010.03773.x</u>.

- Taylor, H. G., Orchinik, L., Fristad, M. A., Minich, N., Klein, N., Espy, K. A., Schluchter, M., & Hack, M. (2019). Associations of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) at school entry with early academic progress in children born prematurely and full-term controls. *Learning and individual differences*, 69, 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2018.10.008</u>.
- The Sentencing Project. (2004). *Facts about Prisons and Prisoners*. Available at: https://www.prisonpolicy.org/scans/sp/1035.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Thompson, J. M., Nuerk, H. C., Moeller, K., & Cohen Kadosh, R. (2013). The link between mental rotation ability and basic numerical representations. *Acta Psychologica*, 144(2), 324–331. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2013.05.009</u>.
- Tolar, T. D., Lederberg, A. R., & Fletcher, J. M. (2009). A structural model of algebra achievement: computational fluency and spatial visualisation as mediators of the effect of working memory on algebra achievement. *Educational Psychology*, 29(2), 239–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410802708903</u>.
- Toll, S. W. M., Van der Ven, S. H. G., Kroesbergen, E. H., & Van Luit, J. E. H. (2011). Executive functions as predictors of math learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 44, 521–532. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0022219410387302</u>.
- Tremblay, R. E., Masse, B., Perron, D., Leblanc, M., Schwartzman, A. E., & Ledingham, J. E. (1992). Early disruptive behavior, poor school achievement, delinquent behavior, and delinquent personality: Longitudinal analyses. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 60, 64–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.60.1.64</u>.
- Tymms, P., & Merrell, C. (2011). ADHD and academic attainment: Is there an advantage in impulsivity? *Learning and Individual Differences*, 21(6), 753–758. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2011.07.014.</u>

- Van Baar, A., Van Wassenaer, A., Brit, J., Dekker, F., & Kok, J. (2005). Very Preterm Birth is Associated with Disabilities in Multiple Developmental Domains. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 30(3), 247-255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsi035</u>.
- Van Hartingsveldt, M., Cup, E., Hendriks, J., De Vries, L., De Groot, I., Nijhuis-van der Sanden, M. (2015). Predictive validity of kindergarten assessments on handwriting readiness. *Research in Developmental Disabilities, 36*(January), 114-124.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2014.08.014.
- van Lier, P. A. C., Vitaro, F., Barker, E. D., Brendgen, M., Tremblay, R. E., & Boivin, M. (2012). Peer victimization, poor academic achievement, and the link between childhood externalizing and internalizing problems. *Child Development*, *83*, 1775-1788. <u>https://10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01802.xdoi.org/</u>.
- Van Veen, S., Aarnoudse-Moens, C., Oosterlaan, J., Van Sonderen, L., De Haan, T., Van Kaam,
 A., & Van Wassenaer-Leemhuis, A. (2018). Very preterm born children at early school
 age: Healthcare therapies and educational provisions. *Early Human Development*, *117*, 39-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2017.12.010.
- Vanderwood, M. L., McGrew, K. S., Flanagan, D. P., & Keith, T. Z. (2002). The contribution of general and specific cognitive abilities to reading achievement. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 13(2), 159–188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1041-6080(02)00077-8</u>.
- Vaughn, M.G., Salas-Wright, C.P., Maynard, B.R. (2014). Dropping out of school and chronic disease in the United States. *Journal of Public Health*, 22, 265-270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10389-014-0615-x</u>.
- Vernon, P. (1983). Recent Findings on the Nature of g. *The Journal of Special Education*, *17*(4), 389-400. https://doi.org/10.1177/002246698301700403.

Vock, M., Preckel, F., & Holling, H. (2011). Mental abilities and school achievement: A test of a mediation hypothesis. *Intelligence*, 39(5), 357-369.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2011.06.006.

- Wagner, M. (1995). Outcomes for youths with serious emotional disturbance in secondary school and early adulthood. *The Future of Children. 5*, 90–112.
- Warner-Rogers, J., Taylor, A., Taylor, E., & Sandberg, S. (2000). Inattentive behavior in childhood: Epidemiology and implications for development. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 33(6), 520-536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002221940003300602</u>.
- Washbrook, E., & Waldfogel, J. (2011). On your marks: Measuring the school readiness of children in low to middle income families. Resolution Foundation Briefing Note. Available at: https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/app/uploads/2014/08/On-your-marks.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2020.
- Watkins, M., Lei, P., & Canivez, G. (2007). Psychometric intelligence and achievement: A cross-lagged panel analysis. *Intelligence*, *35*(1), 59-68.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2006.04.005.

- Weaver-Hightower, M. (2003). The "boy turn" in research on gender and education. *Review of Educational Research*, *73*, 471–498. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/00346543073004471</u>.
- Wechsler, D. (1991). Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children Third Edition (WISC-III). San Antonio, TX: Pearson.
- Wechsler, D. (2001). Wechsler Individual Achievement Test Second Edition (WIAT II). San Antonio, TX: Pearson.
- Wechsler, D. (2003). Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children Fourth Edition (WISC-IV). San Antonio, TX: Pearson.

- Wechsler, D. (2009). Wechsler Individual Achievement Test Third Edition. (WIAT III). San Antonio, TX: Pearson.
- Wechsler, D., (2014). Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children Fifth Edition (WISC-V). San Antonio, TX: Pearson.
- Wei, W., Yuan, H., Chen, C., & Zhou, X. (2012). Cognitive correlates of performance in advanced mathematics. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82(1), 157–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.2011.02049.x</u>.
- Weiler, M. D., Harris, N. S., Marcus, D. J., Bellinger, D., Kosslyn, S. M., & Waber, D. P. (2000). Speed of information processing in children referred for learning problems:
 Performance on a visual filtering test. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *33*(6), 538–550. https://doi.org/10.1177/002221940003300603.
- White, K. R. (1982). The relation between socioeconomic status and academic achievement. *Psychological Bulletin*, *91*(3), 461–481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.91.3.461</u>.
- White, L. K., McDermott, J. M., Degnan, K. A., Henderson, H. A., & Fox, N. A. (2011).
 Behavioral inhibition and anxiety: The moderating roles of inhibitory control and attention shifting. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *39*(5), 735-747.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-011-9490-x.
- Willcutt, E. G., Betjemann, R. S., Wadsworth, S. J., Samuelsson, S., Corley, R., Defries, J. C., Byrne, B., Pennington, B. F., & Olson, R. K. (2007a). Preschool twin study of the relation between attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and prereading skills. *Reading and Writing*, 20, 103–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-006-9020-3</u>.

- Willcutt, E. G., Petrill, S. A., Wu, S., Boada, R., Defries, J. C., Olson, R. K., & Pennington, B. F. (2013). Comorbidity between reading disability and math disability: Concurrent psychopathology, functional impairment, and neuropsychological functioning. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 46(6), 500–516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219413477476</u>.
- Willcutt, E., Betjemann, R., Pennington, B., Olson, R., Defries, J., & Wadsworth, S. (2007b).
 Longitudinal study of reading disability and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder:
 Implications for education. *Mind Brain and Education*, 1(4), 181-192.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-228X.2007.00019.x.
- Willcutt, E., Nigg, J., Pennington, B., Rohde, L., Loo, S., McBurnett, K., Nigg, J., Solanto, M., Tannock, R., Carlson, C., Lahey, B. (2012). Validity of DSM–IV Attention
 Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder symptom dimensions and subtypes. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(4), 991-1010. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027347</u>.
- Willcutt, E., Pennington, B., Olson, R., Chhabildas, N., & Hulslander, J. (2005).
 Neuropsychological analyses of comorbidity between reading disability and Attention
 Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: In search of the common deficit. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 27(1), 35-78. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326942dn2701_3.
- Williams J., Clemens S., Oleinikova K., Tarvin K. (2003). The skills for life survey: A national needs and impact survey of literacy, numeracy and ICT skills. Department for Education and Skills (DfES). Great Britain. Research Report No. 490.

http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/86719.

Wimmer, H., & Schurz, M. (2010). Dyslexia in regular orthographies: Manifestation and causation. *Dyslexia*, 16(4), 283-299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dys.411</u>.

- Wulf, G., & Prinz, W. (2001). Directing attention to movement effects enhances learning: A review. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 8, 648–660. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03196201</u>.
- Xu, M., Yang, J., Siok, W. T., & Tan, L. H. (2015). Atypical lateralization of phonological working memory in developmental dyslexia. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 33, 67–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2014.07.004.</u>
- Yuill, N., & Oakhill, J. (1988). Understanding of anaphoric relations in skilled and less skilled comprehenders. *British Journal of Psychology*, 79(2):173–186.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8295.1988.tb02282.x.
- Zhang, X., Hu, B., Ren, L., & Fan, X. (2017). Pathways to reading, mathematics, and science: Examining domain-general correlates in young Chinese children. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *51*, 366-377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2017.09.004.